Control over Networks with Fading Communication Channels

Liang Xu

School of Electrical & Electronic Engineering

A thesis submitted to the Nanyang Technological University in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2017

Statement of Originality

I hereby certify that the work embodied in this thesis is the result of original research and has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

Date

Liang Xu

Acknowledgments

First of all, I wish to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Lihua Xie, for his guidance, encouragement and support during my PhD study. Prof. Xie's enthusiastic attitude, creative ideas and deep insight in control theory would always encourage me to work harder during my research life. This thesis would not have been possible without his help.

Secondly, I would like to express my thanks to Dr. Nan Xiao for his assistance in my PhD research. He is far beyond a collaborator but more like my thesis cosupervisor. We have pleasant and encouraging discussions about the research topics in this thesis. His kind support helped me overcome a lot of difficult times during my PhD study.

Thirdly, I want to show my respect to Prof. Yilin Mo for his insightful comments about my research work. I have always admired Prof. Yilin Mo's solid understanding in mathematics and computer science, who makes a perfect model for my future study.

I am indebted to the valuable discussions with Dr. Zai Yang, Dr. Shuai Liu, Dr. Chengpu Yu, Dr. Kuize Zhang, Dr. Haitao Li, Dr. Qiang Jiao, Dr. Xiangyu Meng, Dr. Jianying Zheng, Dr. Duo Han and Dr. Zhirong Qiu, who helped me work out a number of problems. I would also like to take this opportunity to thank all the research students/staffs and visiting scholars in the Internet of Things lab in Nanyang Technological University. I cannot live a happy and interesting life in Singapore without your company.

Last but not least, I would like to express my deepest thanks to my wife and my parents, for their enduring love and support.

Abstract

Classical control theory assumes that the communication links connecting plants, sensors and controllers are perfect. However, this is not true in practical applications. The imperfection of communication channels would introduce uncertainties into feedback control systems, which might impact the stability and performance of the corresponding control system. Different issues arise when different communication channels are used in control systems, such as the minimal data rate, tolerable time delay and minimal signal-to-noise ratio (SNR), etc. This thesis focuses on the fading phenomenon in wireless communications and studies how channel fading affects the stability of feedback control systems.

In the first part of this thesis, we consider the mean square stabilizability problem of discrete-time linear time-invariant (LTI) systems controlled over fading channels. Firstly, we consider the power constrained fading channel, which suffers from both SNR constraints and the time-varying independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.) channel fading. We try to characterize channel requirements for the existence of coding and controlling policies that can mean square stabilize the linear system. We show that there is a fundamental limitation on the mean square stabilizability. For scalar systems and two-dimensional systems, necessary and sufficient conditions for the mean square stabilizability are provided. Moreover, time division multiple access (TDMA) and adaptive TDMA communication schemes are designed for highdimensional systems, which are proved to be optimal under certain situations. Then we proceed to study the mean square stabilizability problem over Gaussian finitestate Markov channels, which suffer from both SNR constraints and the correlated channel fading modeled by a Markov chain. Similarly, the existence of a fundamental limitation for mean square stabilizability is proved. Sufficient stabilization conditions under TDMA communication schemes are derived in terms of the stability of a Markov jump linear system (MJLS). Besides, for networked control over power constrained Markov lossy channels, one special kind of Gaussian finite-state Markov channels, we present a necessary and sufficient condition for the mean square stabilizability of two-dimensional systems. Moreover, improved sufficient stabilizability conditions are derived based on an adaptive TDMA communication scheme for general high-dimensional systems.

In the second part of this thesis, we study the consensusability problem of linear discrete-time multi-agent systems (MASs) over fading networks with both undirected and directed communication topologies. The agents in the MAS communicate with their neighborhoods through fading channels. We aim to characterize requirements on the agent dynamics, channel capacities and the network topology for the existence of a distributed consensus controller. First of all, we study the consensus problem under an undirected graph setting. Sufficient conditions to guarantee mean square consensus are derived with both identical fading networks and non-identical fading networks. The results imply that the consensusability is closely related to the statistics of fading networks, the eigenratio of the graph, and the instability degree of the dynamical system. Then, we consider the mean square consensus problem over fading networks with directed graphs. Sufficient conditions are firstly provided for mean square consensus over identical fading networks. For consensus over non-identical fading networks with directed graphs, compressed in-incidence matrix (CIIM), compressed incidence matrix (CIM) and compressed edge Laplacian (CEL) are proposed to facilitate the modeling and consensus analysis. It is shown that the mean square consensusability is solely determined by the edge state dynamics on a directed spanning tree. As a result, sufficient conditions are provided for mean square consensus over non-identical fading networks with directed graphs in terms of fading parameters, the network topology and the agent dynamics. Moreover, the role of network topology on the mean square consensusability is discussed.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	i			
Abstract	iii			
Table of Contents v				
List of Figures	x			
List of Algorithms	xi			
List of Symbols	xiii			
List of Acronyms	xv			
1 Introduction	1			
1.1 Motivation and Objective	1			
1.2 Major Contributions of the Thesis	4			
1.3 Organization of the Thesis	5			

2	Lite	erature Review 7		
	2.1	Basics of Communication Theory		
	2.2	Contro	ol over Communication Channels	10
		2.2.1	Control over Noiseless Digital Channels	10
		2.2.2	Control over Stochastic Digital Channels	11
		2.2.3	Control over Real Erasure Channels	13
		2.2.4	Control over Analog Channels	14
	2.3	Contro	ol over Communication Networks	16
		2.3.1	Control over Multiple Access Channel/Broadcast Channels	17
		2.3.2	Decentralized Stabilization under Communication Constraint .	18
		2.3.3	Distributed Consensus over Communication Networks	19
Ι	Ne	etwor	ked Control over Fading Channels	23
	1 10			
3	Stal	bilizati	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels	24
3	Stal	b ilizati Introd	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels	24 24
3	Stal 3.1 3.2	bilizati Introd Proble	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels uction	24 24 25
3	Stal 3.1 3.2 3.3	b ilizati Introd Proble Funda	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels uction	 24 24 25 27
3	Stal 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	bilizati Introd Proble Funda Mean	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels uction	 24 24 25 27 31
3	Stal 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	bilizati Introd Proble Funda Mean 3.4.1	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels uction	 24 24 25 27 31 32
3	Stal 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	bilizati Introd Proble Funda Mean 3.4.1 3.4.2	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels uction	 24 24 25 27 31 32 34
3	Stal 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	bilizati Introd Proble Funda Mean 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels uction	 24 24 25 27 31 32 34 41
3	Stal 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	bilizati Introd Proble Funda Mean 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.4	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels uction	 24 24 25 27 31 32 34 41 43
3	Stal 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	bilizati Introd Proble Funda Mean 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.3 3.4.4 Nume	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels uction	 24 24 25 27 31 32 34 41 43 49
3	Stal 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	bilizati Introd Proble Funda Mean 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.4 Nume 3.5.1	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels uction	 24 24 25 27 31 32 34 41 43 49 49 49
3	Stal 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	bilizati Introd Proble Funda Mean 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.3 3.4.4 Nume 3.5.1 3.5.2	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels uction	 24 24 25 27 31 32 34 41 43 49 49 50
3	Stal 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.5	bilizati Introd Proble Funda Mean 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.3 3.4.4 Nume: 3.5.1 3.5.2 Summ	on over Power Constrained Fading Channels uction	 24 24 25 27 31 32 34 41 43 49 49 50 51

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

TABLE OF CONTENTS

4	Stal	abilization over Gaussian Finite-State Markov Channels 53					
	4.1	Introduction			53		
	4.2	Proble	em Formulation and Preliminaries				54
		4.2.1	Stability of Markov Jump Linear Systems				56
		4.2.2	Sojourn Times for Markov Lossy Process				57
	4.3	Funda	mental Limitation				58
	4.4	Stabil	ization over Finite-state Markov channels				62
		4.4.1	Communication Structure				63
		4.4.2	Observer/Estimator/Controller Design				63
		4.4.3	Encoder/Decoder/Scheduler Design				65
		4.4.4	Sufficient Stabilizability Conditions				67
	4.5	Stabil	ization over Markov Lossy Channels				71
		4.5.1	Two-dimensional Systems				71
		4.5.2	High-dimensional Systems				78
		4.5.3	Numerical Illustrations				82
	4.6	Summ	ary				83
	4.6	Summ	ary			•	83
II	4.6 D	Summ Pistrib	outed Consensus over Fading Networks				83 85
II 5	4.6 D	Summ Pistrik tribute	outed Consensus over Fading Networks				83 85 86
II 5	4.6 D Dist 5.1	Summ Pistrib tribute Introd	outed Consensus over Fading Networks ed Consensus over Undirected Fading Networks			· .	83 85 86 86
II 5	 4.6 D Dist 5.1 5.2 	Summ Pistrib tribute Introd Proble	outed Consensus over Fading Networks ed Consensus over Undirected Fading Networks uction			•	83 85 86 86 87
II 5	 4.6 D Dist 5.1 5.2 	Summ Fistrik tribute Introd Proble 5.2.1	ary	· · ·		· · · ·	83 85 86 86 87 87
II 5	 4.6 D Dist 5.1 5.2 	Summ Pistrik tribute Introd Proble 5.2.1 5.2.2	ary	· · ·	· · ·	· · · ·	 83 85 86 86 87 87 88
II 5	 4.6 D Dist 5.1 5.2 5.3 	Summ Pistrik tribute Introd Proble 5.2.1 5.2.2 Identie	ary	· · ·	· · ·	· · · · ·	 83 85 86 86 87 87 88 90
11 5	 4.6 D Dist 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 	Summ Pistrik tribute Introd Proble 5.2.1 5.2.2 Identie Non-io	ary	· · ·	· · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · ·	 83 85 86 86 87 87 88 90 97
II 5	 4.6 Dist 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 	Summ Pistrib tribute Introd Proble 5.2.1 5.2.2 Identic Non-ic 5.4.1	ary	· · · · · ·	· · ·		 83 85 86 86 87 87 88 90 97 97
11 5	 4.6 Dist 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 	Summ Pistrib tribute Introd Proble 5.2.1 5.2.2 Identic Non-ic 5.4.1 5.4.2	ary	· · · · · · · · ·	· · ·		 83 85 86 87 88 90 97 99
II 5	 4.6 Dist 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 	Summ Pistric tribute Introd Proble 5.2.1 5.2.2 Identia Non-ia 5.4.1 5.4.2 Simula	ary	· · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • •	 83 85 86 87 88 90 97 97 99 103
11 5	 4.6 D Dist 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 5.6 	Summ Pistrik Introd Proble 5.2.1 5.2.2 Identie Non-ic 5.4.1 5.4.2 Simula Summ	ary	· · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	 83 85 86 87 87 88 90 97 97 99 103 105

vii

6	\mathbf{Dis}	tributed Consensus over Directed Fading Networks	107
	6.1	Introduction	. 107
	6.2	Problem Formulation	. 108
	6.3	Identical Fading Networks	. 109
		6.3.1 Consensus Error Dynamics	. 109
		6.3.2 Consensusability Results	. 111
		6.3.3 Balanced Directed Graph Cases	. 114
	6.4	Definitions and Properties of CIIM, CIM and CEL	. 115
		6.4.1 Definitions of CIIM, CIM and CEL	. 115
		6.4.2 Properties of CIIM, CIM and CEL	. 118
	6.5	Non-identical Fading Networks	. 121
		$6.5.1 \Lambda = \mu I \dots \dots$. 125
		$6.5.2 \Lambda \neq \mu I \dots \dots$. 130
	6.6	Simulations	. 130
	6.7	Summary	. 133
7	Cor	nclusions and Future Work	135
	7.1	Conclusions	. 135
	7.2	Future Work	. 136
A	utho	r's Publications	139
B	ibliog	graphy	155

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

List of Figures

1.1	Networked control systems	•	• •	•	1
1.2	Fading phenomenon in wireless communications				2
1.3	Fading channel model			•	3
2.1	Point to point communication system				8
2.2	Intuitive explanations of the data rate theorem				11
3.1	Networked control over a power constrained fading channel				26
3.2	Transmission protocol configuration				35
3.3	Scheduled transmissions with Algorithm 3.1				37
3.4	Comparison of different channel capacities for scalar systems .				50
3.5	Comparison of stabilizability regions for two-dimensional system	ms		•	51
4.1	Networked control over Gaussian Markov channels				56
4.2	Communication structure				63
4.3	Channel encoder/decoder/scheduler structure				66
4.4	Scheduled transmissions with Algorithm 4.2				73
4.5	The first round transmission with Algorithm 4.2				74
4.6	Transmissions with the adaptive TDMA scheduler				79
NANYAN	ng Technological University	SI	NG.	AP	ORE

4.7	Stabilizability regions for $(\ln \lambda_1 , \ln \lambda_2)$
5.1	Information transmission from agent j to agent $i \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 89$
5.2	Communication topology for an undirected graph
5.3	Mean square consensus error for agent 1 under an undirected com- munication topology with identical fading networks
5.4	Mean square consensus error for agent 1 under an undirected tree topology with non-identical fading networks
6.1	 (i) A directed graph with a bidirectional edge; (ii) Treat the bidirectional edges as two edges with opposite directions; (iii) Apply an orientation and treat the bidirectional edge as one virtually oriented edge
6.2	(i) A star graph (ii) A directed graph with a cycle in its underlyinggraph (iii) A directed path graph
6.3	Communication graphs used in simulations: (i) a directed graph (ii) applying an orientation to the bidirectional edge in (i)
6.4	Mean square consensus error for agent 1 under a directed topology with identical fading networks
6.5	Mean square consensus error for agent 1 under a directed topology with non-identical fading networks and non-equal mean value 132

List of Algorithms

3.1	Chasing and Optimal Stopping Scheduler for Power Constrained Fad-	
	ing Channels	37
3.2	TDMA Scheduler for Power Constrained Fading Channels	42
3.3	Adaptive TDMA Scheduler for Power Constrained Fading Channels	44
4.1	TDMA Scheduler for Gaussian Finite-state Markov Channels $\ . \ . \ .$	67
4.2	Chasing and Optimal Stopping Scheduler for Power Constrained Markov	
	Lossy Channels	73
4.3	Adaptive TDMA scheduler for Power Constrained Markov Lossy Chan-	
	nels	79

List of Symbols

\mathbb{N}	the set of natural numbers
\mathbb{N}^+	the set of positive natural numbers
$\mathbb{R}(\mathbb{C})$	the set of real (complex) numbers
$\mathbb{R}^n(\mathbb{C}^n)$	the set of n -dimensional real (complex) column vectors
$\mathbb{R}^{m \times n}(\mathbb{C}^{m \times n})$	the set of $m \times n$ -dimensional real (complex) matrices
$\operatorname{Re}(c)$	the real part of $c \in \mathbb{C}$
c	the magnitude of $c \in \mathbb{C}$
$ \mathcal{S} $	the cardinality of set \mathcal{S}
1	a column vector of ones
$0_{m imes n}$	an $m \times n$ matrix with all entries being zero
I_N	the N -by- N identity matrix
A'	the transpose of matrix A
A^*	the conjugate transpose of matrix A
$[A]_{ij}$	the ij -th element of matrix A
$[A]_{\mathrm{row}i}$	the i -th row of matrix A
$[A]_{\mathrm{column}j}$	the j -th column of matrix A

xiv	LIST OF S
A^{-1}	the inverse of matrix A
$\rho(A)$	the spectral radius of matrix A
$\det(A)$	the determinant of matrix A
$\operatorname{null}(A)$	the null space of matrix A
$\lambda_{\min}(S)$	the minimal eigenvalue of a real symmetric matrix ${\cal S}$
$S > 0 \ (S \ge 0)$	positive definite (semi-definite) matrix
χ^t	the sequence $\{\chi_i\}_{i=0}^t$
\otimes	the Kronecker product
\odot	the Hadamard product
$\mathbb{E}\{\cdot\}$	the expectation operator
$\mathbb{E}_x\{\cdot\}$	the expectation conditioned on the event $X = x$
e	the Euler's number
$\ln(\cdot)$	the natural logarithm
$\log(\cdot)$	the logarithm to base 2
$\log_x(\cdot)$	the logarithm to base x

List of Acronyms

AWGN	additive white Gaussian noise
BC	broadcast channel
CEL	compressed edge Laplacian
CIIM	compressed in-incidence matrix
CIM	compressed incidence matrix
DEL	directed edge Laplacian
i.i.d.	independent and identically distributed
IIM	in-incidence matrix
IM	incidence matrix
LQG	linear quadratic Gaussian
LTI	linear time-invariant
MAC	multiple access channel
MAS	multi-agent system
MJLS	Markov jump linear system

SNR signal-to-noise ratio

TDMA time division multiple access

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Motivation and Objective



Figure 1.1: Networked control systems

Due to the flexible architecture and ease of installation and maintenance, communication networks are widely used in control systems, which result in networked control systems. Networked control systems are ubiquitous in industry and daily life, such as teleoperation [1], power systems [2] and transportation systems [3]. In networked control systems, wired or wireless communication channels are used to link components among plants, sensors and controllers to achieve control objectives. While there are many advantages, networked control systems also introduce

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

new interesting and challenging problems arising from the limited resources and unreliability of the communication networks used for information transmission (see Figure 1.1). For example, due to congestion, data losses and transmission delays may occur in digital communication channels. Besides, in wireless communication networks, which are widely used in sensor networks and multi-agent systems, communication channels naturally suffer from inference, fading and transmission noises. Since control is often used in safety- or mission-critical applications, we must take the uncertainties in communication networks into consideration and investigate how they affect the stability of control systems.

Traditionally, point-to-point communication is studied under a non-interactive assumption [4]. The emerging of communication networks and the existence of feedback in communication channels require to study the interactive communication [5]. Networked control systems provide excellent examples in understanding interactive communications [6,7]. A better understanding of the role that communication plays in networked control systems may not only enable us to achieve better control performances, but also allow to boost the development of communication theory, see results [8–10].



Figure 1.2: Fading phenomenon in wireless communications

Fading is the time variation of channel strengths, which appears in wireless communications in urban, indoor, and underwater environments [11–13]. Usually the channel fading is caused by two factors: one is the shadowing from obstacles; the

other one is the multi-path propagation [12,13]. Take Figure 1.2 as an example. The wireless signal may transmit through the car. As a result, the signal strength at the receiver side might be reduced due to the shadowing effect. Besides, the wireless signal might also undergo through several paths before arriving at the receiver. If the phases of the received signals from different paths are the same, the signal strength is enhanced. Otherwise, the signal strength is reduced as a result of cancellation of radio waves.



Figure 1.3: Fading channel model

The fading channel is usually modeled as follows [11] (see Figure 1.3)

$$r_t = \gamma_t s_t + \omega_t, \tag{1.1}$$

where s_t denotes the channel input satisfying an average power constraint, i.e., $\mathbb{E}\{s_t^2\} \leq \mathcal{P}; r_t$ represents the channel output; γ_t is the channel fading which represents the time-variation of received signal power (also known as the channel state) and ω_t is an additive white Gaussian noise (AWGN) with zero-mean and bounded variance σ_{ω}^2 . Depending on the particular propagation environment and communication scenario, different statistical models can be used for the channel fading γ_t (e.g., Rayleigh, Nakagami, Rician) [13].

The stability issues of control over point-to-point communication channels have been extensively studied over the past few years (e.g., see Chapter 2). However, existing results only deal with simple communication models, such as finite data rate channels, AWGN channels, etc. For more complex communication models, such as fading channels, there are only a few results. It is still unclear how the channel fading and the communication networks affect networked control systems. In this thesis, we shall study two issues relating to networked control over fading

channels. One is stabilization over fading channels, which would show the role that the uncertain channel plays in networked control systems. The other one is the distributed consensus problem over fading networks, which is a simple example to investigate how the fading networks affect the stability of multi-agent systems.

1.2 Major Contributions of the Thesis

The main contributions of the thesis are as follows:

- Control over power constrained fading channels. Firstly, information theoretic analysis is conducted for networked control systems, which reveals fundamental limitations imposed by the power constrained fading channel on stabilizing unstable linear time-invariant (LTI) systems. Secondly, a communication protocol with proper encoder/decoder/scheduler for two-dimensional systems with unstable eigenvalues having different magnitudes is proposed, which provides an optimal allocation of channel resources to each sub-system. Finally, time division multiple access (TDMA) and adaptive TDMA communication schemes are proposed for general high-dimensional systems, and their achievable stabilizability region is analyzed.
- Control over Gaussian finite-state Markov channels. Firstly, necessary conditions for the mean square stabilization over Gaussian finite-state Markov channels are derived. Secondly, sufficient stabilization conditions under TDMA communication schemes are proposed. Thirdly, for power constrained Markov lossy channels, a necessary and sufficient stabilization condition is presented for two-dimensional systems, and improved sufficient stabilization conditions for general high-dimensional systems with adaptive TDMA protocols are derived, which achieve a larger stabilizability region than the TDMA communication scheme.

1.3. ORGANIZATION OF THE THESIS

- Distributed consensus over undirected fading networks. Sufficient conditions to ensure mean square consensus of discrete-time linear multi-agent systems (MASs) over analog fading networks are derived for the scenarios of undirected communication topologies with identical fading networks and undirected communication topologies with non-identical fading networks, respectively. For scalar systems, the sufficient condition is shown to be necessary. It is shown that the effect of fading networks on consensusability is determined by the statistics of channel fadings and the eigenratio of the communication topologies.
- Distributed consensus over directed fading networks. Firstly, for the consensus problem over identical fading networks, we provide a sufficient consensusability condition in terms of complex eigenvalues of the graph Laplacian and show that the sufficient condition is necessary when agents are with scalar dynamics. Secondly, by defining edge states and modeling the consensus error dynamics using compressed in-incidence matrix (CIIM), compressed incidence matrix (CIM) and compressed edge Laplacian (CEL), we show that the mean square consensusability is determined by edge state dynamics on a directed spanning tree. Thirdly, sufficient conditions are provided for consensus over non-identical fading networks with directed graphs and the role of the network topology on the mean square consensusability is discussed.

1.3 Organization of the Thesis

This thesis is organized as follows. Chapter 1 briefly summarizes the motivation, the objective of research and the contributions of this thesis. Chapter 2 is the literature review of related research topics. Chapter 3 discusses the mean square stabilization problem over power constrained fading channels. Chapter 4 studies the mean square stabilization problem over Gaussian finite state Markov channels. Chapter 5 and Chapter 6 investigate the distributed consensus problem over undirected fad-

ing networks and directed fading networks, respectively. In Chapter 7, we provide conclusions and remarks about future work.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

Control over communication channels/networks has been a hot research topic in the past decades [14–16], motivated by the rapid developments of wireless communication technologies that enable the wide connection of geographically distributed devices and systems. However, the inclusion of wireless communication channels/networks also introduces challenges in the analysis and design of control systems due to constraints and uncertainties in wireless communications. We must take the communication channels/networks into consideration and study their impact on the stability and performance of control systems. This section briefly reviews existing results on control over communication research.

2.1 Basics of Communication Theory

The focus of this thesis is to characterize the critical channel requirement such that the feedback control system can be mean square stabilized. Since the communication channel is used to transmit information about the system state as illustrated in Figure 1.1, it is expected that if the channel capacity is large enough, the feedback connected system can be mean square stabilized. From this perspective, the communication channel capacity might be critical for the mean square stabilization of control systems.



Figure 2.1: Point to point communication system

The channel capacity problem is fundamental in communication theory, since it dictates the maximum data rates that can be transmitted over channels with asymptotically small error probability [12, 13]. In this subsection, we briefly review the communication channel capacity definitions, and discuss why the communication theoretic channel capacity is not the critical characterization of the capacity required for controls. We only discuss discrete memoryless channels and most of the definitions are borrowed from [4].

A discrete memoryless channel consists of three parts: an input alphabet \mathcal{X} , an output alphabet \mathcal{Y} and a probability transition matrix p(y|x) that describes the probability of observing the output symbol y given the input symbol x. The channel is memoryless if the probability distribution of the current channel output conditioned on the current channel input is independent of previous channel inputs or outputs. The configuration of the point to point communication system is depicted in Figure 2.1. We want to transmit a message W reliably through the communication channel with appropriately designed channel encoders and decoders. The (M, n)code in a communication system is defined as follows.

Definition 2.1.1 ((M, n) code). An (M, n) code for the channel ($\mathcal{X}, p(y|x), \mathcal{Y}$) consists of three parts:

- 1. A message index set $\{1, 2, ..., M\}$.
- 2. An encoding function $X^n : \{1, 2, ..., M\} \to \mathcal{X}^n$, generating codewords $x^n(1)$, $x^n(2), ..., x^n(M)$.
- A decoding function g : Yⁿ → {1,2,...,M}, generating an estimate for the transmitted message index.

The performance of the code is measured by the decoding error.

Definition 2.1.2 (Decoding error). The maximal probability of error for an (M, n)code is defined as $\lambda^{(n)} = \max_{i \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}} \Pr(g(Y^n) \neq i | X^n = x^n(i)).$

The communication channel capacity which measures the maximal capacity for reliably transmitting the information is defined below.

Definition 2.1.3 (Channel capacity). The rate R of the (M, n) code is defined as

$$R = \frac{\log M}{n}$$
 bits per transmission.

A rate R is achievable if there exists a sequence of $(\lceil 2^{nR} \rceil, n)$ codes such that $\lambda^{(n)}$ tends to 0 as $n \to \infty$. The channel capacity C is then defined as the supremum of all achievable rates.

The channel capacity in Definition 2.1.3 is called the Shannon channel capacity, since C. E. Shannon proved in the channel coding theorem that this channel capacity equals the mutual information of the channel maximized over all possible input distributions [4, 17]:

$$C = \max_{p(x)} \mathscr{I}(X;Y),$$

where the mutual information $\mathscr{I}(X;Y)$ is defined as

$$\mathscr{I}(X;Y) = \sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}, y \in \mathcal{Y}} p(x,y) \log \frac{p(x,y)}{p(x)p(y)}.$$

The Shannon capacity of fading channels has been studied under various scenarios in [11,18–21]. For example, it is proved in [11] that if the channel state information is available at the receiver side, the Shannon channel capacity of a fading channel is

$$C = \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{2} \log(1 + \frac{\gamma^2 \mathcal{P}}{\sigma_\omega^2}) p(\gamma) \mathrm{d}\gamma,$$

where $p(\gamma)$ is the probability distribution function of the channel fading γ .

The Shannon channel capacity in Definition 2.1.3 assumes that the capacity achieving code can be sufficiently long, which would inevitably result in a large delay. Since delay is critical in control systems, we may expect that the communication theoretic Shannon channel capacity is not the right choice for controls. This has been confirmed in [7], where the authors define another kind of channel capacity, named the anytime capacity, and show that the anytime capacity should be the critical characterization of channel capacities for controls when moment stability is concerned. However, there is no systemic method to calculate the anytime capacity. In the following, we will briefly review existing results to show requirements on communication channels for the stabilization of networked control systems.

2.2 Control over Communication Channels

2.2.1 Control over Noiseless Digital Channels

For control systems with components connected through noiseless digital communication channels, the celebrated data rate theorem [22] is an important result in the past decades. The data rate theorem states that to keep the state of a scalar unstable discrete-time linear system

$$x_{t+1} = \lambda x_t + u_t + w_t \tag{2.1}$$

mean square bounded, the data rate R for the digital communication channel that connects the sensor to the controller should satisfy that

$$R > \log |\lambda|. \tag{2.2}$$

Intuitively, this result has the following explanation, see Figure 2.2. The controller wants to compensate for the expansion of uncertainties in the state estimation during the communication process. To ensure the boundness of the system state, $\lambda^2/2^{2R}$ should be smaller than one, which gives the data rate theorem.



Figure 2.2: Intuitive explanations of the data rate theorem

The result in (2.2) resembles the Shannon's source channel coding theorem [4], with the left hand side being the Shannon channel capacity and the right hand side the source's uncertainty measure. Indeed, the right hand side of (2.2) denotes the information generating speed of the LTI system [8, 23], which is generating information about the unknown initial system state. This resemblance also motivated researchers to study control systems from the perspective of information theory, e.g., see [24–34].

2.2.2 Control over Stochastic Digital Channels

For noisy channels, the stability problem is more complex. For moment stability, [7] shows that the Shannon capacity is too optimistic while the zero-error capacity is too pessimistic, and the anytime capacity is introduced to characterize the stabilizability conditions. Essentially, to keep the η -moment of the state of an unstable scalar plant bounded, it is necessary and sufficient for the feedback channel's anytime capacity corresponding to anytime-reliability $\alpha = \eta \log |\lambda|$ to be greater than $\log |\lambda|$, where λ is the unstable eigenvalue of the plant. The anytime capacity has a more stringent reliability requirement than the Shannon capacity. However, it is worthy noting that there exists no systematic method to calculate the anytime capacities of channels. In control community, the anytime capacity is usually studied under the mean square stability requirement, and is named as the mean square capacity. In the following, we survey related results that aim to determine requirements on noisy channels to ensure that the feedback connected linear systems can be mean square stabilized,

which, one the other hand, reveals the mean square capacities for the channels studied.

One important kind of communication channels is the time-varying digital channel. Reference [35] assumes that the data rate R_t of the time-varying digital channel under consideration is stochastic and independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.), and gives the mean square stabilizability condition for a connected discrete-time LTI system. The authors show that for scalar systems, to ensure the mean square stabilizability, the following condition should be satisfied

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\frac{\lambda^2}{2^{2R_t}}\right\} < 1. \tag{2.3}$$

Similar to the explanation of data rate theorem for noiseless channels, (2.3) intuitively implies that to ensure mean square stabilizability, it is necessary and sufficient for the average expanding factor of the system state during one iteration to be smaller than one. For vector systems, necessary and sufficient conditions are provided in the form of stability regions or characterized by rate vectors [35].

For a stochastic rate limited channel, [36] further shows that the minimum data rate for the stabilization of a single-input vector system is explicitly given in terms of unstable eigenvalues of the open-loop matrix and the packet dropout rate, which clearly reveals the amount of the additional bit rate required to counter the effect of packet dropouts on stabilization. Sufficient data rate conditions for mean square stabilization of multiple-input vector systems are also derived there. When the packet drop is correlated over time, the problem becomes much more complicated. Reference [37] studies mean square stabilization of linear systems over networks with Markovian packet drops. Since the sojourn time of the time-homogeneous Markovian process that models the two-state packet drop process is i.i.d. [38], a randomly sampled system approach is developed in [37] to derive the mean square stabilizability condition. The same method is also adopted when deriving the data rate theorem with the additional consideration of system uncertainties in [39]. Borrowing results from Markov jump linear systems, the mean square stabilizability results

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

for a more general *n*-state Markovian packet drop process are given in [40], which contains the two-state Markovian packet drop process as a special case. The existing results in [35–37,40] are both necessary and sufficient for scalar systems. However, for vector systems, generally there exists a gap between the derived sufficient conditions and necessary conditions. The main difficulty for deriving conditions that are both necessary and sufficient is how to optimally allocate the bits to each unstable sub-system.

2.2.3 Control over Real Erasure Channels

Another kind of time-varying digital channels is the real erasure channel. For such a channel, during every successful transmission, the channel capacity is infinity. Reference [41] considers the stability problem of Kalman filtering over a real erasure channel. The authors show that there exists a critical packet drop probability, above which the estimation error covariance matrix diverges and below which the estimation error covariance matrix converges to a constant matrix. The critical packet drop probability is related to the unstable eigenvalues of the system matrix. Later, extensions to the study of the tail distribution and the weak convergence to a stationary distribution on the estimation error covariance matrix are provided in [42–44].

This problem can be easily extended to stabilization and control of LTI systems closed over an intermittent channel between the controller and the actuator. Reference [45] studies the linear quadratic Gaussian (LQG) control problem with the actuator and controller connected through a real erasure channel. It is shown that for transmission control protocol (TCP) like channels, i.e., there exists an acknowledgment about the packet drop event, the optimal LQG controller is a linear function of the estimated state. While for the user datagram protocol (UDP) like channels, the optimal LQG controller is in general nonlinear. The critical packet drop probability to ensure mean square stabilization of LTI systems closed over intermittent channels is given in [46] under an i.i.d. packet drop assumption and in [47] under a

Markovian packet drop assumption. Here, it should be noted that the critical packet drop probability for intermittent channels can also be obtained from stochastic rate channels by letting the instantaneous channel capacity be infinity within one successful transmission. The results thus obtained in [35] can recover the results in [46] and the results obtained in [40] imply the results in [47].

2.2.4 Control over Analog Channels

The above results focus on digital channels. As to analog channels, [48] considers the mean square stabilization problem over a pure multiplicative noise channel, and derives the mean square capacity of such channels. Since the i.i.d. packet drop channel is one special kind of pure multiplicative noise channels, the results obtained in [48] can be easily used to derive the results for i.i.d. packet drop channels. Reference [49] further derives sufficient conditions and necessary conditions for mean square stabilization of multiple-input multiple-output systems controlled over parallel multiplicative noise channels. Reference [50] proposes a channel-controller co-design approach with channel resource allocations to stabilize LTI systems controlled with imperfect input channels when the total input channel capacity is fixed. When the sub-channel capacities are fixed a priori, [51] derives the stabilizability condition with a majorization approach. The joint effect of the quantization and multiplicative noise, the time-delay and multiplicative noise on the mean square stabilizability are studied in [52] and [53–55], respectively. Reference [56] considers LQG-like control of scalar systems over communication channels suffering from data losses, delays and SNR limitations. The authors show that the stability of the closed-loop system depends on a tradeoff among the SNR constraint, packet loss probability and time-delay.

The LQG control of LTI systems with random input gains is studied in [57, 58] under the framework of channel/controller co-design. It is shown that the optimal control problem is feasible if and only if the system is mean-square stabilizable and detectable. Reference [59] further studies the finite-horizon and infinite horizon

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

stochastic optimal control problems for systems with both multiplicative noise and input delay. A necessary and sufficient condition for the optimal control is obtained. Reference [60] considers the problem of linear encoding and decoding designs for optimal feedback control of a stochastic scalar system when the sensed signal is to be transmitted over a finite capacity communication channel, which is subject to SNR constraints and packet losses. The optimal strategy when perfect channel feedback is available is characterized.

Reference [61] studies the mean square stabilization problem over an AWGN channel and characterizes the critical capacity to ensure mean square stabilizability. The authors show that to ensure the mean square stabilization of a networked scalar system, the channel parameters should satisfy the following relation

$$\log|\lambda| < \frac{1}{2}\log(1 + \frac{\mathcal{P}}{\sigma_{\omega}^2}) \tag{2.4}$$

with $\mathcal{P}/\sigma_{\omega}^2$ denoting the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) of the AWGN channel. They also show that for the output feedback case, the capacity required for the AWGN channel is generally larger than that of the state feedback case, unless the plant is minimum phase. They further show that the extension from linear encoders/decoders to more general causal encoders/decoders cannot provide additional benefits of increasing the channel capacity [62].

Specifically, the results stated above deal with multiplicative noise channels or AWGN channels separately. While in wireless communications, it is practical to consider them as a whole. Reference [63] has derived the necessary and sufficient condition for such kind of channels to ensure the mean square stabilizability under a linear encoder/decoder. It is still unknown whether we can achieve a larger stabilizability region with a more general causal encoder/decoder. We provide a positive answer to this question in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4. For scalar systems, the problem lies in how to design encoders/decoders to render the closed-loop system mean square stable. For AWGN channels, [64] proposes encoder/decoder designs based on the Schalkwijk coding scheme [65], which utilizes the noiseless channel feedback to

2.3. CONTROL OVER COMMUNICATION NETWORKS

consecutively refine the estimation error. It is shown that such encoding/decoding schemes can stabilize scalar unstable systems with the minimal channel capacity requirement indicated in [62]. In Chapter 3, we show that a modification of this coding scheme can stabilize scalar systems controlled over power constrained fading channels, which suffer from channel fading and SNR constraints. For vector systems, the difficulty is how to optimally allocate channel resources among sub-systems. When the channel is only with Gaussian noise, [64] employs a time-invariant allocation with the TDMA strategy to solve this problem. The transmission through the channel is scheduled periodically. During every period, each sub-system is allocated a fixed portion of transmission slots proportional to the logarithm of the magnitude of the corresponding unstable eigenvalue. It is shown that such allocation together with proper encoder/decoder pairs can stabilize the vector system. Moreover, from the results in [62], we know that such TDMA strategy is optimal, which means that the fixed allocation with the TDMA strategy provides the exact channel resource required for stabilization of each sub-system. However, when fading exists, since the channel may have different capacity at different time due to the stochastic nature of the fading, the time-invariant allocation fails to provide the critical channel resource for stabilization of each sub-system. Similar issue is also encountered in networked control over rate limited communication channels. When the digital channel is with constant data rate, [22] shows that the time-invariant allocation achieved by time-sharing is optimal. When the digital channel is with stochastic data rate, the time-invariant allocation in [35] is only sufficient. The stabilizability region achieved in [35] is a convex hull, which can be conservative even for two-dimensional systems. Therefore, we propose to use time-varying allocations to achieve larger stabilizability regions in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4.

2.3 Control over Communication Networks

The existing results for networked control over communication channels are rather comprehensive and satisfactory. As to control over communication networks, there
2.3. CONTROL OVER COMMUNICATION NETWORKS

are scant results. The results obtained in [45] show that depending on whether there exists a channel feedback or not, the optimal control structure is quite different. The results reveal the importance of information structure in networked control systems, which actually is well-known [66,67]. Different from the information structure caused by channels' properties, such as whether there exists a channel feedback, the structure of communication networks also imposes constraints on the available information to each pair of encoder and decoder. Moreover, as noted in [68], different from control over point-to-point communication channels, the information flow in decentralized control over communication networks is implicit! The plant not only serves as source as in control over point-to-point communication channels, but also serves as channels in decentralized control. Thus the study of control over communication networks is more difficult than the study of control over point-to-point communication channels. In the following, we review some control over communication networks problems, in which there exist certain communication structures. The effects those communication structures placed on the networked control system are reviewed and related control problems are discussed.

2.3.1 Control over Multiple Access Channel/Broadcast Channels

The multiple access channel (MAC) and broadcast channel (BC) are two important kinds of communication channels in wireless communication, for which there exist several senders and one receiver or one sender and several receivers. The capacity regions for MAC and BC are well known when there exists no feedback from the channel output to the channel input, see [4, 5]. Different from the discrete memoryless channel in point-to-point communication, for which Shannon asserts that feedback does no help in increasing the channel capacity, feedback can essentially enlarge the capacity regions of MAC and BC [69]. In [70, 71], the authors characterize the critical channel capacity regions for two-user MAC with channel feedback and provide a bound for two-user BC with channel feedback. The methods adopted in [70,71] are extensions of the well-known Schalkwijk scheme for communication over AWGN channels with feedback [65]. Later, [72] extends the methods proposed in [70,71] to more general *n*-user MAC and BC with channel feedback, which also apply to inference networks. The proposed methods in [70,71] are also used in [73,74] to derive mean square stabilizability conditions for control over MAC and BC. However, the derived necessary conditions and sufficient conditions are too coarse to provide insight into how communication network structures in MAC and BC affect the stabilizability of control systems.

2.3.2 Decentralized Stabilization under Communication Constraint

Decentralized control under communication constraint is another problem that is studied in control communities. Decentralized control system is a control system equipped with multiple sensors and controllers. Each sensor and controller can only observe and control partial states of the plant, respectively. Thus each sensor only has limited information about the systems states. For decentralized control under communication constraints, the first intriguing result is given in [75]. The paper studies a control system with multiple sensors and a single controller. There exist data rate limitations among the communication channels between the sensors and the controller. The derived results show that to ensure the stabilizability, it is necessary that the total communication rate associated with every unstable mode summed over the sensors that can observe this mode is greater than the logarithm of the magnitude of this unstable eigenvalue. And also, the obtained result has a max-flow min-cut interpretation. The result is further extended in [76] to multiplecontroller case, where they relate the data rate for each channel that connects the sensor and the controller to the unstable eigenvalues via the observable space of the sensor and the controllable space of the controller. The sum-rate minimization problem is studied in [77, 78]. In [77], they show that for a multiple-sensor singlecontroller decentralized control system, the sum-rate is the same as the centralized

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

control. Thus there is no rate loss on performance due to decentralization. However, for the case when there exist multiple controllers, i.e., there does not exist a centralized decoder at the plant, there is in general a rate loss in decentralized systems as compared to centralized ones [78]. The derived results in [77,78] provide insight into how communication structures affect the stability and performance of the networked control system. Reference [47] studies the decentralized control problem with two sensors and one controller communicated over packet erasure channels, where the authors derive necessary and sufficient conditions on the channel parameters to ensure mean square stabilizability. However, for other communication channels, such as the more realistic fading channels, there still exist no results.

2.3.3 Distributed Consensus over Communication Networks

In many applications, single-agent systems are incapable of dealing with complex tasks, and cooperation among MASs becomes necessary. Among various cooperative tasks, consensus, which requires all agents to reach an agreement on certain quantity of common interest, builds the foundation of others [79–81]. One question arises before control synthesis: whether there exist distributed controllers such that the MAS can achieve consensus. This problem is usually referred to as the consensusability of MASs. Several important results have been derived to answer this question, under an undirected/directed communication topology [82–85]. In [82], it is shown that to ensure the consensus of a continuous-time linear MAS, the LTI dynamics should be stabilizable and detectable, and the undirected communication topology should be connected. Furthermore, references [83, 86] show that for a discrete-time linear MAS, the product of the unstable eigenvalues of the system matrix should additionally be upper bounded by a function of the eigenratio of the undirected graph. Extensions to directed graphs and robust consensus can be found in [84, 85]. Most of the consensusability results discussed above are derived assuming perfect communications. However, this is not the case in practical applications, where communication channels naturally suffer from limited data rate constraints, signal-to-noise ratio constraints, time-delay and so on. Therefore, it is necessary to study the consensusability problem of MASs under communication channel constraints.

Reference [87] considers the average consensus problem for discrete-time first-order MASs over rate-limited channels with undirected graphs. A distributed consensus protocol based on dynamic encoding and decoding is proposed. The authors in [87] show that the average consensus can be achieved with only one bit information exchange between each pair of adjacent agents at every time step. The extensions to the case with bounded time-delay and time-varying graphs for first-order MASs can be found in [88] and [89], respectively. Reference [90] considers the distributed coordination problem of second-order multi-agent systems with partially measurable states under rate-limited communication channels. A quantized-observer based encoding-decoding scheme and a distributed coordinated control law is proposed. The authors prove that two bits quantizations are sufficient for the asymptotic synchronization of agent states. Determining the critical data rate for distributed consensus of general n-th order MASs can be challenging. Only limited results exist for special kinds of n-th order systems; see [91, 92]. The consensusability problems of discrete-time linear MASs with a bound input delay for undirected graphs and directed graphs are studied in [93,94] and [95], respectively. Utilizing techniques from robust control, the authors in [93–95] characterized the maximal tolerable time-delay for the existence of a linear distributed consensus controller. The results show that the consensusability is related to the time-delay, unstable poles and non-minimum phase zeros of the system dynamics. Reference [96] studies the distributed consensus problem for linear MASs over uncertain communication channels. The communication channels suffer from deterministic uncertainties, which can be additive perturbations described by either transfer functions or norm bounded matrices. Necessary conditions are derived in terms of the Mahler measure of the agents for the existence of a distributed consensus protocol. The authors also present sufficient consensus conditions in terms of linear matrix inequalities. The consensusability problem of linear MASs over fading channels are studied in [97,98] for discrete-time systems and

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

2.3. CONTROL OVER COMMUNICATION NETWORKS

continuous-time systems respectively. Reference [97] considers the distributed estimation problem over analog fading networks using constant-gain estimators. Necessary and sufficient conditions on communication networks for bounded mean square estimation error covariance are characterized, which reveal the fundamental limitation on distributed estimation induced by local communications, channel fading, and system dynamics. Reference [98] obtains similar conclusions. It is show in [98] that the multi-agent consensusability depends on parameters of system dynamics, the communication graph, channel uncertainties, and the time delay.

In this thesis we are interested in the consensusability problems of discrete-time linear MASs over fading networks. The framework considered in [97] deals with identical fading networks with undirected communication topologies only. It is still unknown how the directed communication topology and non-identical fading networks affect the consensusability of MASs, and this problem will be analyzed in Chapter 5 and Chapter 6.

Part I

Networked Control over Fading Channels

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Chapter 3

Stabilization over Power Constrained Fading Channels

3.1 Introduction

Traditionally, control over multiplicative noise communication channels and additive noise communication channels are studied separately, see [48, 61, 62]. While in wireless communications, since the SNR constraint and the channel fading are both unavoidable [12, 13], it is practical to consider them as a whole. In this chapter, we are interested in a power constrained fading channel which is subject to both fading and SNR constraints. We aim to characterize the conditions on the communication channel to ensure the mean square stabilization of discrete-time LTI systems. Note that [63] has derived the necessary and sufficient condition for such kind of channels to ensure mean square stabilizability under a linear encoder/decoder. It is still unknown whether we can achieve a larger stabilizability region with a more general causal encoder/decoder. This chapter provides a positive answer to this question. While this chapter only studies the state feedback case, the techniques proposed in Chapter 4 can be used to address the output feedback case.

This chapter is organized as follows. The problem formulation is provided in Section 3.2. The fundamental limitation of stabilizability over a power constrained

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

fading channel is studied in Section 3.3. In Section 3.4, conditions for the mean square stabilizability are provided. Section 3.5 provides numerical illustrations. This chapter ends with concluding remarks in Section 3.6.

3.2 Problem Formulation

This chapter studies the following discrete-time linear system

$$x_{t+1} = Ax_t + Bu_t, \tag{3.1}$$

where $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is the system state, $u \in \mathbb{R}$ is the control input and (A, B) is controllable. The initial state $x_0 = [x_{1,0}, \ldots, x_{n,0}]'$ is randomly generated from a Gaussian distribution with zero mean and bounded covariance matrix. Without loss of generality, the following assumption is made as in [35, 64].

Assumption 3.2.1. All the eigenvalues of A are either on or outside the unit circle.

The configuration of the networked control system is depicted in Figure 3.1. The system state x_t is observed and encoded by the sensor/encoder $\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)$ and transmitted to the controller/decoder $\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)$ through a slow fading channel. The sensor/encoder $\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)$ and the controller/decoder $\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)$ are allowed to be of any causal form and can use all the available information till time t to generate their output. The fading channel is modeled as

$$r_t = \gamma_t s_t + \omega_t, \tag{3.2}$$

where s_t denotes the channel input, which has an average power constraint, i.e., $\mathbb{E}\{s_t^2\} \leq \mathcal{P}; r_t$ represents the channel output; $\{\gamma_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is the i.i.d. channel fading with bounded mean and variance; $\{\omega_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is an AWGN with zero-mean and variance σ_{ω}^2 . We also assume that $x_0, \{\gamma_t\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\omega_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ are independent; after each transmission, the instantaneous fading γ_t is known at the decoder side at every step and there exists a channel feedback that transmits one-step delayed information of r_t, γ_t from the decoder to the encoder.



Figure 3.1: Networked control over a power constrained fading channel

In this chapter, for the given plant (3.1), we try to characterize requirements on the power constrained fading channel (3.2), such that there exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}$ that can mean square stabilize the system, i.e., to render $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E}\{x_tx_t'\} = 0$.

Remark 3.2.1. The knowledge of the fading level at the decoder side can be obtained for slow fading channels via receiver estimation in each sampling interval [12]. In a pilot-based channel estimation scheme, a known sequence is firstly transmitted and used for the receiver to estimate the channel state. Since the fading is slow varying and approximately constant in each sampling interval, the channel fading can be estimated with reasonable accuracy [12, 13]. Thus to simplify the study, we assume the perfect knowledge of the channel fading as in [99].

Remark 3.2.2. Noiseless channel feedback may not be available in some settings. However, there are situations where this assumption is natural [65, 100]. A good example is the communication with a satellite. The power in the ground-to-satellite direction can be much larger than in the reverse direction that the first link can be considered as a (essentially) noiseless link [65]. Besides, fading can be used to model quantization effects in digital channels [101], where knowing the channel input equally means knowing the channel output. Fading channels can also be used to model channels suffering from the packet loss [48], where the use of acknowledgment is equivalent to having a noiseless channel feedback. In some scenarios, the channel feedback can be realized through the plant with suitable designed control policies [102].

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Thus the assumption of noiseless channel feedback is widely used in network control research, see [7, 25, 100, 103–106].

Remark 3.2.3. The remote control setting in Figure 3.1 has been widely adopted in networked control research (e.g., [35, 37, 40]). The aerial robotics research platform in [107] is one example of our feedback control configuration. The attitude and position of the aerial robot are observed via a sensing system such as a motion capture system. The observed value is processed on one or more standard computers and then transmitted to the aerial robot over wireless channels to implement the control algorithm.

3.3 Fundamental Limitations

Since the entropy power provides a lower bound for the mean square value of the system state [62], we can treat the entropy power as a measure of the uncertainty of the system state and analyze its update, which poses a fundamental limitation of networked control over fading channels. The result is formalized in the following lemma. The proof essentially follows the same steps as in [35,62,105], however, with some differences due to the channel structure.

Lemma 3.3.1. There exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}$, such that the system (3.1) can be mean square stabilized over the channel (3.2), only if

$$(\det A)^{\frac{2}{n}} \mathbb{E}\left\{\mathfrak{e}^{-\frac{2}{n}c_t}\right\} < 1, \tag{3.3}$$

where $c_t = \frac{1}{2} \ln(1 + \frac{\gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}{\sigma_{\omega}^2})$ is the instantaneous Shannon channel capacity of (3.2).

The following definitions are needed in the proof of Lemma 3.3.1 and are stated first, which are borrowed from [62]. Let f_X and $f_{X|y}$ denote the probability density of a random variable X, and the probability density of X conditioned on the event Y = y, respectively. The differential entropy of X is defined as $\mathscr{H}(X) = -\mathbb{E} \{ \ln f_X \}$. The entropy of X conditioned on the event Y = y is defined by $\mathscr{H}_y(X) = \mathscr{H}(X|Y = y) =$

 $-\mathbb{E}_{y}\{\ln f_{X|y}\}$. The random variable associated with $\mathscr{H}_{y}(X)$ is denoted by $\mathscr{H}_{Y}(X)$. The conditional entropy of X given the event Y = y and averaged over Y is defined by $\mathscr{H}(X|Y) = \mathbb{E}\{\mathscr{H}_{Y}(X)\}$, and the conditional entropy of X given the events Y = yand Z = z and averaged only over Y by $\mathscr{H}_{z}(X|Y) = \mathbb{E}_{z}\{\mathscr{H}_{Y,Z}(X)\}$. The mutual information between two random variables X and Y conditioned on the event Z = zis defined by $\mathscr{I}_{z}(X;Y) = \mathscr{H}_{z}(X) - \mathscr{H}_{z}(X|Y)$. Given a random variable $X \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$, the entropy power of X is defined by $\mathscr{N}(X) = \frac{1}{2\pi\epsilon} \epsilon^{\frac{2}{n} \mathscr{H}(X)}$. Denote the entropy power of X given the event Y = y by $\mathscr{N}_{y}(X) = \frac{1}{2\pi\epsilon} \epsilon^{\frac{2}{n} \mathscr{H}_{y}(X)}$, and the random variable associated with $\mathscr{N}_{y}(X)$ by $\mathscr{N}_{Y}(X)$. The conditional entropy power of X given the event Y = y and averaged over Y is defined by $\mathscr{N}(X|Y) = \mathbb{E}\{\mathscr{N}_{Y}(X)\}$. For any encoding strategy, the following lemma shows that the amount of information that the channel output contains about the source equals that the channel output contains about the channel input.

Lemma 3.3.2. Let X be a random variable, f(X) be a function of X, and Y = f(X)+N with N being a random variable that is independent of X. Then $\mathscr{I}(X;Y) = \mathscr{I}(f(X);Y)$.

Proof. Since $\mathscr{H}(Y|X) = \mathscr{H}(Y|X, f(X)) \leq \mathscr{H}(Y|f(X))$, we have $\mathscr{H}(Y) = \mathscr{I}(X;Y) + \mathscr{H}(Y|X) \leq \mathscr{I}(X;Y) + \mathscr{H}(Y|f(X))$. Thus

$$\mathscr{H}(Y) - \mathscr{H}(Y|f(X)) = \mathscr{I}(Y; f(X)) \le \mathscr{I}(X; Y).$$

Besides, since $X \to f(X) \to Y$ forms a Markov chain, $Y \to f(X) \to X$ also forms a Markov chain. The data processing inequality [4] then implies that $\mathscr{I}(X;Y) \leq \mathscr{I}(f(X);Y)$. Combining the two facts, we have $\mathscr{I}(X;Y) = \mathscr{I}(f(X);Y)$. \Box

Proof of Lemma 3.3.1: Here we use the uppercase letters $\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{S}, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma$ to denote random variables of the system state, the channel input, the channel output and the channel fading. We use the lowercase letters x, s, r, γ to denote their realizations. The average entropy power of \mathcal{X}_t conditioned on $(\mathcal{R}^t, \Gamma^t)$ is $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{X}_t | \mathcal{R}^t, \Gamma^t) =$ $\mathbb{E}\{\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{R}^t,\Gamma^t}(\mathcal{X}_t)\} \stackrel{(a)}{=} \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\mathcal{R}^{t-1},\Gamma^t}\{\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{R}^t,\Gamma^t}(\mathcal{X}_t)\}\} \stackrel{(b)}{=} \frac{1}{2\pi \epsilon} \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\mathcal{R}^{t-1},\Gamma^t}\{\mathfrak{e}^{\frac{2}{n}\mathscr{H}_{\mathcal{R}^t,\Gamma^t}(\mathcal{X}_t)}\}\}$, where

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

(a) follows from the law of total expectation and (b) from the definition of entropy power. Since

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}_{r^{t-1},\gamma^{t}} \left\{ \mathfrak{e}^{\frac{2}{n}\mathscr{H}_{\mathcal{R}^{t},\Gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{X}_{t})} \right\} &\stackrel{(c)}{\geq} \mathfrak{e}^{\frac{2}{n}\mathbb{E}_{r^{t-1},\gamma^{t}}\{\mathscr{H}_{\mathcal{R}^{t},\Gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{X}_{t})\}} \\ &\stackrel{(d)}{\equiv} \mathfrak{e}^{\frac{2}{n}\mathscr{H}_{r^{t-1},\gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{X}_{t}|\mathcal{R}_{t})} \\ &= \mathfrak{e}^{\frac{2}{n}}(\mathscr{H}_{r^{t-1},\gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{X}_{t}) - \mathscr{I}_{r^{t-1},\gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{X}_{t};\mathcal{R}_{t})) \\ &\stackrel{(e)}{\geq} \mathfrak{e}^{\frac{2}{n}}(\mathscr{H}_{r^{t-1},\gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{X}_{t}) - \mathscr{I}_{r^{t-1},\gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{X}_{t};\mathcal{R}_{t})) \\ &\stackrel{(f)}{\cong} \mathfrak{e}^{\frac{2}{n}}(\mathscr{H}_{r^{t-1},\gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{X}_{t}) - \mathscr{I}_{r^{t-1},\gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{S}_{t};\mathcal{R}_{t})) \\ &\stackrel{(f)}{\cong} \mathfrak{e}^{\frac{2}{n}}(\mathscr{H}_{r^{t-1},\gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{X}_{t}) - \mathfrak{c}_{t}) \\ &\stackrel{(g)}{\boxtimes} \mathfrak{e}^{-\frac{2}{n}c_{t}} \mathfrak{e}^{\frac{2}{n}\mathscr{H}_{r^{t-1},\gamma^{t-1}}(\mathcal{X}_{t}), \end{split}$$

where (c) follows from Jensen's inequality; (d) from the definition of conditional entropy; (e) from Lemma 3.3.2; (f) from the definition of channel capacity, i.e., $\mathscr{I}_{r^{t-1},\gamma^t}(\mathcal{S}_t; \mathcal{R}_t) \leq c_t$ and (g) from the fact that \mathcal{X}_t is independent of Γ_t , we have

$$\mathscr{N}(\mathcal{X}_t|\mathcal{R}^t,\Gamma^t) \geq \frac{1}{2\pi\mathfrak{e}} \mathbb{E}\{\mathfrak{e}^{-\frac{2}{n}c_t}\mathfrak{e}^{\frac{2}{n}\mathscr{H}_{\mathcal{R}^{t-1},\Gamma^{t-1}}(\mathcal{X}_t)}\} = \mathbb{E}\{\mathfrak{e}^{-\frac{2}{n}c_t}\}\mathscr{N}(\mathcal{X}_t|\mathcal{R}^{t-1},\Gamma^{t-1}).$$

Since

$$\mathbf{\mathfrak{e}}^{\frac{2}{n}\mathscr{H}_{r^{t},\gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{X}_{t+1})} = \mathbf{\mathfrak{e}}^{\frac{2}{n}\mathscr{H}_{r^{t},\gamma^{t}}(A\mathcal{X}_{t}+BU_{t})} \stackrel{(h)}{=} \mathbf{\mathfrak{e}}^{\frac{2}{n}\mathscr{H}_{r^{t},\gamma^{t}}(A\mathcal{X}_{t})}$$
$$\stackrel{(i)}{=} \mathbf{\mathfrak{e}}^{\frac{2}{n}\mathscr{H}_{r^{t},\gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{X}_{t})+\frac{2}{n}\ln|\det A|}$$
$$= (\det A)^{\frac{2}{n}} \mathbf{\mathfrak{e}}^{\frac{2}{n}\mathscr{H}_{r^{t},\gamma^{t}}(\mathcal{X}_{t})},$$

where (h) follows from the fact that $u_t = \mathscr{D}_t(r^t, \gamma^t)$ and (i) from Theorem 8.6.4 in [4], we have

$$\mathscr{N}(\mathcal{X}_{t+1}|\mathcal{R}^t,\Gamma^t) = \mathbb{E}\{\frac{1}{2\pi\mathfrak{e}}(\det A)^{\frac{2}{n}}\mathfrak{e}^{\frac{2}{n}\mathscr{H}_{\mathcal{R}^t,\Gamma^t}(\mathcal{X}_t)}\} = (\det A)^{\frac{2}{n}}\mathscr{N}(\mathcal{X}_t|\mathcal{R}^t,\Gamma^t).$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

In view of the above results, we have

$$\mathscr{N}(\mathcal{X}_{t+1}|\mathcal{R}^t,\Gamma^t) \ge (\det A)^{\frac{2}{n}} \mathbb{E}\{\mathfrak{e}^{-\frac{2}{n}c_t}\} \mathscr{N}(\mathcal{X}_t|\mathcal{R}^{t-1},\Gamma^{t-1}).$$

In light of Proposition II.1 in [62], to ensure mean square stability, $\mathscr{N}(\mathscr{X}_{t+1}|\mathscr{R}^t,\Gamma^t)$ should converge to zero asymptotically, which requires $(\det A)^{\frac{2}{n}}\mathbb{E}\{\mathfrak{e}^{-\frac{2}{n}c_t}\} < 1$. The proof is completed.

Let $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_d$ denote the distinct unstable eigenvalues (if λ_i is complex, we exclude from this list its complex conjugate) of A in (3.1) with $|\lambda_1| \ge |\lambda_2| \ge \ldots \ge |\lambda_d|$. Let m_i represent the algebraic multiplicity of each λ_i . The real Jordan canonical form J of A then has form that $J = \text{diag}(J_1, \ldots, J_d) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ [22], where $J_i \in \mathbb{R}^{\nu_i \times \nu_i}$ and $|\det J_i| = |\lambda_i|^{\nu_i}$, with $\nu_i = m_i$ if $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}$, and $\nu_i = 2m_i$ otherwise. We can equivalently study the following dynamical system instead of (3.1)

$$x_{t+1} = Jx_t + OBu_t, \tag{3.4}$$

for some transformation matrix O. Each block J_i has an invariant real subspace \mathcal{A}_{o_i} of dimension $\varrho_i o_i$, for any $o_i \in \{0, \ldots, m_i\}$, where $\varrho_i = 1$ if $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}$, and $\varrho_i = 2$ otherwise. Consider the subspace \mathcal{A} formed by taking the product of \mathcal{A}_{o_i} , $i = 1, \ldots, d$. The total dimension of \mathcal{A} is $\sum_{i=1}^d \varrho_i o_i$ and the real Jordan form for the dynamics in the subspace \mathcal{A} is $J^{\mathcal{V}}$ with $|\det J^{\mathcal{V}}| = \prod_{i=1}^d |\lambda_i|^{\varrho_i o_i}$. Since (3.1) is mean square stabilizable, the dynamics in the subspace \mathcal{A} is also mean square stabilizable. In view of Lemma 3.3.1, the following fundamental limitations can be obtained.

Theorem 3.3.1. There exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0},$ such that the system (3.1) can be mean square stabilized over the channel (3.2) only if $[\ln |\lambda_1|, \ldots, \ln |\lambda_d|]' \in \mathbb{R}^d$ satisfy that for all $o_i \in \{0, \ldots, m_i\}, i = 1, \ldots, d$ with $o = \sum_{i=1}^d \varrho_i o_i,$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d} \varrho_i o_i \ln |\lambda_i| < -\frac{o}{2} \ln \mathbb{E} \left\{ \left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}} \right)^{\frac{1}{o}} \right\}.$$
(3.5)

Theorem 3.3.1 implies that even in the presence of a noiseless channel feedback, there still exists a fundamental limitation for the stabilizability of networked control over

power constrained fading channels. Besides, for scalar systems where $A = \lambda_1$, $\ln |\lambda_1|$ should satisfy the following constraint to ensure mean square stabilizability

$$\ln|\lambda_1| < -\frac{1}{2}\ln\mathbb{E}\left\{\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}\right\}.$$
(3.6)

Moreover, for two-dimensional systems with distinct eigenvalues λ_1 , λ_2 , the following requirement in addition to (3.6) should be satisfied

$$\ln|\lambda_1| + \ln|\lambda_2| < -\ln \mathbb{E}\left\{ \left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\}.$$
(3.7)

3.4 Mean Square Stabilizability

The existence of a noiseless channel feedback implies that there is no dual effect of control [108], i.e., separation between estimation and control holds, which will simplify the coding design. Indeed, we have the following lemma.

Lemma 3.4.1 ([105]). If (A, B) is controllable, and there exists an estimate \hat{x}_t for the initial system state x_0 , such that the estimation error $e_t = \hat{x}_t - x_0$ satisfies the following property,

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{e_t\right\} = 0,\tag{3.8}$$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} A^t \mathbb{E} \left\{ e_t e_t' \right\} \left(A' \right)^t = 0, \tag{3.9}$$

the system (3.1) can be mean square stabilized by the controller

$$u_{t} = K(A^{t}\hat{x}_{t} + \sum_{i=1}^{t} A^{t-i}Bu_{i-1})$$

with K being selected such that A + BK is stable.

Remark 3.4.1. Assumption 3.2.1 can be justified from Lemma 3.4.1. Suppose that the system matrix A contains eigenvalues that are within the unit circle. Then,

the real Jordan canonical form J of A has the diagonal structure $J = \text{diag}(J_u, J_s)$, where J_u contains eigenvalues that are either on or outside the unit circle and J_s contains eigenvalues that are within the unit circle. The initial system state x_0 can be partitioned correspondingly as $x_0 = [x'_{u,0}, x'_{s,0}]'$, with $x_{u,0}$ being the initial system state that corresponds to eigenvalues either on or outside the unit circle and $x_{s,0}$ corresponding to eigenvalues within the unit circle. In view of Lemma 3.4.1, if there exists an estimate $\hat{x}_t = [\hat{x}'_{u,t}, \hat{x}'_{s,t}]'$ for the initial system state x_0 , such that the estimation error $e_t = \hat{x}_t - x_0 = [e'_{u,t}, e'_{s,t}]'$ satisfies (3.8) and (3.9), the system can be mean square stabilized. The conditions (3.8) and (3.9) are equivalent to the following requirements

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{u,t}\right\} = 0,\tag{3.10}$$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} J_u^t \mathbb{E}\left\{ e_{u,t} e_{u,t}' \right\} (J_u')^t = 0, \tag{3.11}$$

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{s,t}\right\} = 0,\tag{3.12}$$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} J_s^t \mathbb{E}\left\{ e_{s,t} e_{s,t}' \right\} (J_s')^t = 0.$$
(3.13)

Simply let $\hat{x}_{s,t} = 0$. Since $\lim_{t\to\infty} J_s^t = 0$ and $\mathbb{E} \{x_{s,0}\} = 0$, we know that (3.12) and (3.13) hold. Thus we only need to use the channel to transmit the information about $x_{u,0}$ and design communication schemes to satisfy (3.10) and (3.11). Therefore, we can ignore the stable part of the system dynamics without loss of generality.

In the sequel, we shall focus on the construction of communication/estimation algorithms which can achieve (3.8) and (3.9). To better convey our ideas, we start with scalar systems.

3.4.1 Scalar Systems

Theorem 3.4.1. Suppose $A = \lambda_1 \in \mathbb{R}$. There exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}$, such that the system (3.1) can be mean square stabilized over the channel (3.2) if and only if (3.6) holds.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

The necessity follows directly from Theorem 3.3.1. For the sufficiency, we can show that a variation of the Schalkwijk coding scheme [65] can stabilize the scalar system if (3.6) holds. The proof is similar to that of the AWGN case in [105] with some differences due to the existence of channel fading.

Proof. Suppose the estimate of x_0 given by the decoder is \hat{x}_t at time t and the estimation error is $e_t = \hat{x}_t - x_0$. The encoder is designed as

$$s_0 = \sqrt{\frac{\mathcal{P}}{\sigma_{x_0}^2}} x_0, \quad s_t = \sqrt{\frac{\mathcal{P}}{\sigma_{e_{t-1}}^2}} \left(\hat{x}_{t-1} - x_0 \right), \ t \ge 1, \tag{3.14}$$

with $\sigma_{x_0}^2$, $\sigma_{e_{t-1}}^2$ representing the variances of x_0 and e_{t-1} respectively. The decoder is designed as

$$\hat{x}_{0} = \sqrt{\frac{\sigma_{x_{0}}^{2}}{\mathcal{P}}} r_{0}, \quad \hat{x}_{t} = \hat{x}_{t-1} - \frac{\mathbb{E}_{\gamma_{t}} \{ r_{t} e_{t-1} \}}{\mathbb{E}_{\gamma_{t}} \{ r_{t}^{2} \}} r_{t}, \ t \ge 1.$$
(3.15)

Since at time t, the encoder knows the one-step delayed channel output r_{t-1} , the fading γ_{t-1} and the decoding law, it can thus simulate the decoder to obtain the estimate \hat{x}_{t-1} . With the designed encoder (3.14) and decoder (3.15), it is easy to show that $\mathbb{E} \{e_0\} = 0$ and $\mathbb{E} \{e_0^2\}$ is bounded. When $t \ge 1$, we have from (3.15) that

$$e_t = e_{t-1} - \frac{\mathbb{E}_{\gamma_t}\{r_t e_{t-1}\}}{\mathbb{E}_{\gamma_t}\{r_t^2\}} r_t.$$
(3.16)

By induction arguments, we have $\mathbb{E} \{e_t\} = 0$ for all $t \ge 1$. Thus (3.8) is satisfied. Denote $\hat{e}_{t-1} = \mathbb{E}_{\gamma_t} \{r_t e_{t-1}\} / \mathbb{E}_{\gamma_t} \{r_t^2\} r_t$. Since \hat{e}_{t-1} is the minimal mean square error estimate (MMSE) of e_{t-1} based on r_t , from (3.16), we have

$$\mathbb{E}\{e_t^2\} = \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\gamma_t}\{(e_{t-1} - \hat{e}_{t-1})^2\}\}$$
$$\stackrel{(a)}{=} \mathbb{E}\{\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}\mathbb{E}\{e_{t-1}^2\}\}$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\{\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}\}^t\mathbb{E}\{e_0^2\},$$

where (a) is a direct consequence of the MMSE. Thus if $\lambda_1^2 \mathbb{E} \left\{ \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}} \right\} < 1$, the NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY SINGAPORE designed encoder/decoder pair (3.14) and (3.15) can guarantee (3.9). In view of Lemma 3.4.1, the sufficiency is proved.

Remark 3.4.2. Since γ_t is known at the decoder side, we can show that a slight modification of the coding scheme in [64], where the expectation is replaced with the conditional expectation with respect to γ_t , can stabilize the closed-loop system without channel feedback if (3.6) holds.

Remark 3.4.3. Theorem 3.4.1 indicates that the anytime capacity of the power constrained fading channel (3.2) corresponding to the anytime-reliability $2 \ln |\lambda_1|$ is $C_a = -\frac{1}{2} \ln \mathbb{E} \left\{ \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}} \right\}$. From Jensen's inequality, we know that $\mathbb{E} \left\{ \mathfrak{e}^{-2c_t} \right\} \geq \mathfrak{e}^{-2\mathbb{E}\left\{c_t\right\}}$ and the equality holds if and only if c_t is a constant. Thus it follows that $C_a = \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{1}{\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathfrak{e}^{-2c_t}\right\}} \leq \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{1}{\mathfrak{e}^{-2\mathbb{E}\left\{c_t\right\}}} = \mathbb{E}\left\{c_t\right\} = C_{\text{Shannon}}$, which means that the anytime capacity of the power constrained fading channel is no greater than its Shannon capacity. Besides, for AWGN channels, where c_t is a constant, we have that the anytime capacity is equal to its Shannon capacity, which coincides with the results in [7].

3.4.2 Two-Dimensional Systems

The stabilizability condition for two-dimensional systems is stated in Theorem 3.4.2.

Theorem 3.4.2. Suppose n = 2. There exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}$, such that the system (3.1) can be mean square stabilized over the channel (3.2) if and only if (3.5) holds.

In this subsection, we only provide the optimal communication scheme for twodimensional systems with unstable eigenvalues having different magnitudes, i.e., $A = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_1 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda_2 \end{bmatrix}$ with $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $|\lambda_1| > |\lambda_2| \ge 1$, and in view of Theorem 3.3.1, it suffices to show that a sufficient stabilizability condition is (3.6) and (3.7). For the case of two-dimensional systems with eigenvalues of equal magnitude, the communication scheme designed in the Section 3.4.4 is shown to be optimal; see Corollary 3.4.1.

3.4.2.1 Communication Structure

Since there are two sources $x_{1,0}$, $x_{2,0}$, we design two encoder/decoder pairs in the communication scheme and also a scheduler to multiplex the channel use. The *i*-th encoder/decoder pair is used to transmit the information of $x_{i,0}$. The scheduler determines which encoder/decoder pair should use the channel. Suppose at time t, the *i*-th encoder/decoder pair has access to the channel. The encoder *i* first generates a symbol $s_{i,t}$ and transmits it to the decoder through the communication channel. The decoder *i* then forms an estimate $\hat{x}_{i,t}$ based on the channel output $r_{i,t}$. The controller maintains an array $\hat{x}_t = [\hat{x}_{1,t}, \hat{x}_{2,t}]'$ that represents the most recent estimate of x_0 , which is set to 0 at t = 0. When the information about $x_{i,0}$ is transmitted, only $\hat{x}_{i,t}$ is updated at the controller side. The controller applies the control law in Lemma 3.4.1 to the plant at every step.

The structure of the communication protocol is illustrated in Figure 3.2, where t_k^i is the time when the *i*-th encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel for its *k*-th transmission.



Figure 3.2: Transmission protocol configuration

3.4.2.2 Encoder/Decoder Design

The following encoding/decoding strategy is used, which is modified from (3.14) and (3.15). The encoder *i* is designed as

$$s_{i,t_{0}^{i}} = \sqrt{\frac{\mathcal{P}}{\sigma_{x_{i,0}}^{2}}} x_{i,0},$$

$$s_{i,t_{k}^{i}} = \sqrt{\frac{\mathcal{P}}{\sigma_{e_{i,t_{k-1}^{i}}}^{2}}} (\hat{x}_{i,t_{k-1}^{i}} - x_{i,0}), \quad k \ge 1,$$
(3.17)

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

where $\sigma_{x_{i,0}}^2$ and $\sigma_{e_{i,t}}^2$ represent the variance of $x_{i,0}$ and $e_{i,t}$, respectively, with $e_{i,t}$ being the *i*-th component of the estimation error e_t . The decoder *i* satisfies

$$\hat{x}_{i,t_{0}^{i}} = \sqrt{\frac{\sigma_{x_{i,0}}^{2}}{\mathcal{P}}} r_{i,t_{0}^{i}},$$

$$\hat{x}_{i,t_{k}^{i}} = \hat{x}_{i,t_{k-1}^{i}} - \frac{\mathbb{E}_{\gamma_{t_{k}^{i}}}\{r_{i,t_{k}^{i}}e_{i,t_{k-1}^{i}}\}}{\mathbb{E}_{\gamma_{t_{k}^{i}}}\{r_{i,t_{k}^{i}}^{2}\}} r_{i,t_{k}^{i}}, \quad k \ge 1.$$
(3.18)

3.4.2.3 Scheduler Design

Let $\delta = \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \mathcal{P}}$. Define the scheduling indication vector as $\Phi(t) = [\phi_1(t), \phi_2(t)]'$ with $\phi_1(t), \phi_2(t) \in \{0, 1\}$ and $\phi_1(t) + \phi_2(t) = 1$. When the *i*-th encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel at time *t*, the variable $\phi_i(t)$ is set to 1, otherwise it is set to 0. Let $\Psi_l(i, j) = \prod_{k=i}^j \left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_k^2 \mathcal{P}}\right)^{\phi_l(k)}$ with $l = 1, 2, i, j \in \mathbb{N}^+$ and $i \leq j$. Similar to the analysis for scalar systems, we can show that with the encoder (3.17) and the decoder (3.18), (3.8) always holds and $\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,t}^2\right\} = \mathbb{E}\left\{\Psi_i(t_0^i + 1, t)\right\} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,t_0^0}^2\right\}$ for i = 1, 2. Since $\phi_i(t) = 0$ when $t < t_0^i$, to guarantee (3.9), we should design schedulers to ensure that, under the stochastic channel fading, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_1^{2t}\Psi_1(1, t)\right\} = 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_2^{2t}\Psi_2(1, t)\right\} = 0$, or equivalently $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_1^{2t}\Psi_1(1, t) + \lambda_2^{2t}\Psi_2(1, t)\right\} = 0$. Thus the scheduler should be designed to optimally allocate ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 to minimize $\lambda_1^{2t}\Psi_1(1, t) + \lambda_2^{2t}\Psi_2(1, t)$. The optimal allocation should satisfy $\sum_{j=1}^t \phi_2(j) \ln \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_j^2 \mathcal{P}} = 2t \ln \frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_2|} + \sum_{j=1}^t \phi_1(j) \ln \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_j^2 \mathcal{P}}$, which is obtained by requiring $\lambda_1^{2t}\Psi_1(1, t) = \lambda_2^{2t}\Psi_2(1, t)$.

In Algorithm 3.1, τ_1 is the scheduler parameter to be defined latter; $\check{T}_k = \sum_{j=1}^k \bar{T}_j$, $k \in \mathbb{N}^+$ is the time when k rounds of transmissions are completed and $\check{T}_0 = 0$; \bar{T}_k denotes the total time period to complete the k-th round of transmissions, i.e., $\bar{T}_k = T_k^1 + T_k^2$. Here we assume that both the encoder and the decoder know the scheduling algorithm. Since the switching among transmissions in Algorithm 3.1 relies on the fading process, which is known to the encoder and the decoder, they are both aware of when to switch transmissions and which encoder/decoder pair

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

is currently using the channel. Thus we do not need to consider the coordination among encoders and decoders. The scheduled transmission periods are depicted in Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3: Scheduled transmissions with Algorithm 3.1

Algorithm 3.1: Chasing and Optimal Stopping Scheduler for Power Constrained Fading Channels

In the k-th round of transmissions

• The first encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel until

$$\sum_{t=\check{T}_{k-1}+1}^{\check{T}_{k-1}+1} \ln \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}} < \tau_1 \ln \delta$$
(3.19)

with T_k^1 being the minimal time period satisfying (3.19).

- If

$$\tau_1 \ln \delta + 2T_k^1 \ln \frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_2|} < 0 \tag{3.20}$$

the second encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel, until

$$\sum_{t=\check{T}_{k-1}+T_k^{1+1}+1}^{T_{k-1}+T_k^{1+1}} \ln \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}} < 2(T_k^1 + T_k^2) \ln \frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_2|} + \tau_1 \ln \delta$$
(3.21)

with T_k^2 being the minimal time period satisfying (3.21).

- Otherwise, set $T_k^2 = 0$ and no transmission is carried out.
- Repeat this process.

It is clear from Algorithm 3.1 that \overline{T}_i is independent of \overline{T}_j and T_i^2 is independent of T_j^2 for any $i \neq j, i, j \in \mathbb{N}^+$. The switching condition (3.20) of Algorithm 3.1 implies that if $T_k^1 < T^c := \frac{\tau_1 \ln \delta}{2(\ln |\lambda_2| - \ln |\lambda_1|)}$ and after the first encoder/decoder pair completes its transmission, the second encoder/decoder pair can use the channel. Otherwise,

the first encoder/decoder pair continues to use the channel.

3.4.2.4 Scheduler Parameter Selection

If (3.6) holds, there exists θ_b with $0 < \theta_b < 1$ such that $\mathbb{E}\left\{\left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}\right)^{\theta_b}\right\} = \lambda_1^{-2}$. Let $f(\theta_a) = 2\theta_a \ln \frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_2|} - \ln \mathbb{E}\left\{\left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}\right)^{\theta_a}\right\} - 2\ln |\lambda_1|$. If (3.7) holds, since $f(0) = -2\ln |\lambda_1| < 0$, $f(\frac{1}{2}) = -\ln \mathbb{E}\left\{\left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right\} - \ln |\lambda_1| - \ln |\lambda_2| > 0$ and $f(\theta_a)$ is increasing in θ_a , there exists θ_a with $0 < \theta_a < \frac{1}{2}$ such that $f(\theta_a) = 0$, i.e., $\mathbb{E}\left\{\left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}\right)^{\theta_a}\right\} = \lambda_1^{2(\theta_a - 1)} \lambda_2^{-2\theta_a}$. The positive constant τ_1 is then selected to satisfy

$$\tau_1 > \max\left\{\frac{-\ln(\lambda_1^{2(2-\theta_a)}\lambda_2^{2\theta_a}) - \ln 4}{(1-2\theta_a)\ln\delta}, \frac{-\ln\lambda_1^2 - \ln 2}{(1-\theta_b)\ln\delta}\right\}.$$
(3.22)

3.4.2.5 **Proof of Theorem 3.4.2**

The necessity follows from Theorem 3.3.1. The gist of the sufficiency proof is to show that under Algorithm 3.1, $\mathbb{E}\{\lambda_l^{2\bar{T}_1}\Psi_l(1,\bar{T}_1)\} < 1$ for l = 1, 2. Since the transmission is scheduled periodically and $\{\bar{T}_k\}$ is i.i.d., we may expect that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E}\{\lambda_l^{2t}\Psi_l(1,t)\} =$ 0 holds, which together with Lemma 3.4.1 can guarantee the mean square stabilizability. The following lemma is needed in the proof of Theorem 3.4.2.

Lemma 3.4.2. Suppose $\{W_i\}$ with $W_i \leq 0$ is i.i.d. with bounded non-zero mean, define $\mathcal{B}_t = \sum_{i=1}^t W_i$ and let T be the first time such that $\mathcal{B}_T < \varphi T + \Theta$ with given $\varphi \geq 0$, $\Theta < 0$. If there exists $\theta \geq 0$ such that $\mathbb{E}\{\mathbf{e}^{\theta(W_i - \varphi)}\} = \lambda^{-2}$, then $\mathbb{E}\{\lambda^{2T}\} \leq \lambda^2 \mathbf{e}^{-\theta\Theta}$.

Proof. When $\varphi > 0$, since \mathcal{B}_t is non-increasing and $\varphi t + \Theta$ is increasing, the stopping time T is bounded. When $\varphi = 0$, T is unbounded if and only $\Theta \leq \lim_{t\to\infty} \sum_{i=1}^t W_i \leq 0$. Since $\{W_i\}$ is i.i.d., in view of the law of large numbers, we have $\Pr(\lim_{t\to\infty} \sum_{i=1}^t W_i/t) = \mathbb{E}\{W_i\} = 1$. Thus $\Pr(\lim_{t\to\infty} \sum_{i=1}^t W_i = \infty) = 1$, which implies $\Pr(\Theta \leq \lim_{t\to\infty} \sum_{i=1}^t W_i \leq 0) = 0$. Thus T is almost surely bounded.

Define $Y_t = \mathfrak{e}^{\theta \mathcal{B}_t + bt}$ with $b = 2 \ln |\lambda| - \theta \varphi$, then $\mathbb{E} \{Y_{t+1} | Y_t, \dots, Y_1\} = Y_t \mathbb{E} \{\mathfrak{e}^{\theta W_{t+1} + b}\} = Y_t$. Thus Y_t is a martingale. Since T is either a bounded or an almost surely bounded stopping time, in view of the optional stopping theorem [109], we have $\mathbb{E} \{Y_T\} = \mathbb{E} \{Y_1\} = 1.$

Define $\eta = \varphi T + \Theta - \mathcal{B}_T$. Since $\mathcal{B}_T < \varphi T + \Theta$ and $\mathcal{B}_{T-1} \ge \varphi(T-1) + \Theta$, we have $\eta > 0$. When $\varphi = 0$, since $\mathcal{B}_{T-1} \ge \Theta$, we have $\eta = \Theta - \mathcal{B}_T = \Theta - \mathcal{B}_{T-1} - W_T \le -W_T$. When $\varphi > 0$ and $\varphi(T-1) + \Theta \le \mathcal{B}_{T-1} \le \varphi T + \Theta$, we have $\eta = \varphi T + \Theta - \mathcal{B}_T = \varphi(T-1) + \Theta - \mathcal{B}_{T-1} + \varphi - W_T \le \varphi - W_T$. When $\varphi > 0$ and $\varphi T + \Theta < \mathcal{B}_{T-1} \le 0$, we have $\eta = \varphi T + \Theta - \mathcal{B}_T = \varphi T + \Theta - \mathcal{B}_T = \varphi T + \Theta - \mathcal{B}_T = -W_T$. Thus in general, $\eta \le \varphi - W_T$.

Since $\mathbb{E}\{Y_T\} = \mathbb{E}\{\mathbf{e}^{\theta(\varphi T + \Theta - \eta) + bT}\} = \mathbf{e}^{\theta\Theta}\mathbb{E}\{\mathbf{e}^{(\theta\varphi + b)T}\mathbf{e}^{-\theta\eta}\} = \mathbf{e}^{\theta\Theta}\mathbb{E}\{\lambda^{2T}\mathbf{e}^{-\theta\eta}\} = 1$, and $\mathbb{E}\{\lambda^{2T}\mathbf{e}^{-\theta\eta}\} \geq \mathbb{E}\{\lambda^{2T}\mathbf{e}^{\theta(W_T - \varphi)}\} = \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_T\{\lambda^{2T}\mathbf{e}^{\theta(W_T - \varphi)}\}\} = \mathbb{E}\{\lambda^{2T}\mathbb{E}_T\{\mathbf{e}^{\theta(W_T - \varphi)}\}\} \stackrel{(a)}{=} \lambda^{-2}\mathbb{E}\{\lambda^{2T}\}$ where (a) follows from the definition of θ , we have $\mathbb{E}\{\lambda^{2T}\} \leq \lambda^2 \mathbf{e}^{-\theta\Theta}$. \Box

Proof of Theorem 3.4.2: Let $W_k = \ln \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_k^2 \mathcal{P}}$. Then it is immediate from (3.19) that T_1^1 is the first time such that $\mathcal{B}_{T_1^1} < \varphi_1 T_1^1 + \Theta_1$ with $\varphi_1 = 0$ and $\Theta_1 = \tau_1 \ln \delta$. Since there exist $0 < \theta_a < \frac{1}{2}, 0 < \theta_b < 1$ such that $\mathbb{E}\{e^{\theta_a(W_k - \varphi_1)}\} = \lambda_1^{2(\theta_a - 1)}\lambda_2^{-2\theta_a}, \mathbb{E}\{\mathbf{e}^{\theta_b(W_k - \varphi_1)}\} = \lambda_1^{-2}$, from Lemma 3.4.2, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\{\lambda_1^{2(1-\theta_a)T_1^1}\lambda_2^{2\theta_a T_1^1}\} \le \lambda_1^{2(1-\theta_a)}\lambda_2^{2\theta_a}\delta^{-\tau_1\theta_a},\tag{3.23}$$

$$\mathbb{E}\{\lambda_1^{2T_1^1}\} \le \lambda_1^2 \delta^{-\tau_1 \theta_b}.$$
(3.24)

Suppose $T_1^1 < T^c$. Let $\mathcal{B}_t = \sum_{k=1}^t W_{T_1^1+k}$. In view of the stopping condition (3.21), we know that T_1^2 is the first time instant after T_1^1 satisfying that $\mathcal{B}_{T_1^2} < \varphi_2 T_1^2 + \Theta_2$ with $\varphi_2 = 2 \ln \frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_2|}$ and $\Theta_2 = 2T_1^1 \ln \frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_2|} + \tau_1 \ln \delta$. Since $\mathbb{E} \{ \mathfrak{e}^{\theta_a(W_k - \varphi_2)} \} = \lambda_1^{-2}$, in view of Lemma 3.4.2, we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{\zeta}\{\lambda_1^{2T_1^2}\} < \lambda_1^2 \mathfrak{e}^{-\theta_a \Theta_2}.$$
(3.25)

where ζ denote the event $T_1^1 < T^c$. Since $\theta_a < 1$, when $T_1^1 \ge T^c$, we have $2T_1^1(\theta_a - 1) \ln \frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_2|} \le 2T^c(\theta_a - 1) \ln \frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_2|} < \tau_1(1 - \theta_a) \ln \delta + \ln 2 + 2 \ln |\lambda_1|$. Rearranging both sides and applying the natural exponential function, we have $\Omega :=$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

 $\frac{40}{\lambda_2^{2T_1^1} - 2\lambda_1^{2(1+T_1^1)}} \mathbf{e}^{-\theta_a \Theta_2} \delta^{\tau_1} < 0. \text{ In view of the conditional expectation, we have}$

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\{\sum_{i=1}^{2} \lambda_{i}^{2\bar{T}_{1}} \Psi_{i}(1,\bar{T}_{1})\} \leq \mathbb{E}\{\lambda_{1}^{2\bar{T}_{1}} \delta^{\tau_{1}} + \lambda_{2}^{2\bar{T}_{1}} \Psi_{2}(1,\bar{T}_{1})\} \\ &= \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\zeta}\{\lambda_{1}^{2\bar{T}_{1}} \delta^{\tau_{1}} + \lambda_{2}^{2\bar{T}_{1}} \Psi_{2}(1,\bar{T}_{1})\}\} + \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\{\lambda_{1}^{2\bar{T}_{1}} \delta^{\tau_{1}} + \lambda_{2}^{2\bar{T}_{1}} \Psi_{2}(1,\bar{T}_{1})\}\} \\ & \stackrel{(a)}{\leq} \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\zeta}\{2\lambda_{1}^{2(T_{1}^{1}+T_{1}^{2})} \delta^{\tau_{1}}\}\} + \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\{\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}} \delta^{\tau_{1}} + \lambda_{2}^{2T_{1}^{1}}\}\} \\ & \stackrel{(b)}{\leq} \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\zeta}\{2\lambda_{1}^{2(1+T_{1}^{1})} \mathbf{e}^{-\theta_{a}\Theta_{2}} \delta^{\tau_{1}}\}\} + \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\{\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}} \delta^{\tau_{1}} + \lambda_{2}^{2T_{1}^{1}}\}\} \\ & \stackrel{(b)}{\leq} \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\zeta}\{2\lambda_{1}^{2(1+T_{1}^{1})} \mathbf{e}^{-\theta_{a}\Theta_{2}} \delta^{\tau_{1}}\}\} + \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\{\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}} \delta^{\tau_{1}} + \lambda_{2}^{2T_{1}^{1}}\}\} \\ & = \mathbb{E}\{2\lambda_{1}^{2(1+T_{1}^{1})} \mathbf{e}^{-\theta_{a}\Theta_{2}} \delta^{\tau_{1}}\} + \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\{\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}} \delta^{\tau_{1}} + \Omega\}\} \\ & \stackrel{(c)}{\leq} 2\lambda_{1}^{2} \delta^{\tau_{1}(1-\theta_{a})} \mathbb{E}\{\lambda_{1}^{2(1-\theta_{a})T_{1}^{1}} \lambda_{2}^{2\theta_{a}T_{1}^{1}}\} + \mathbb{E}\{\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\{\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}} \delta^{\tau_{1}}\}\} \\ & \stackrel{(d)}{\leq} 2\lambda_{1}^{2(2-\theta_{a})} \lambda_{2}^{2\theta_{a}} \delta^{(1-2\theta_{a})\tau_{1}} + \lambda_{1}^{2} \delta^{(1-\theta_{b})\tau_{1}}, \end{split}$$

where ξ denotes the event $T_1^1 \ge T^c$; (a) follows from (3.21); (b) follows from (3.25); (c) follows from the fact that when $T_1^1 \ge T^c$, $\Omega < 0$; (d) follows from (3.23) and (3.24). Since $\delta^{1-2\theta_a} < 1$ and $\delta^{1-\theta_b} < 1$, if τ_1 is selected to satisfy (3.22), we have that $\lambda_1^2 \delta^{(1-\theta_b)\tau_1} < \frac{1}{2}, \ 2\lambda_1^{2(2-\theta_a)} \lambda_2^{2\theta_a} \delta^{(1-2\theta_a)\tau_1} < \frac{1}{2}$, which guarantees

$$\mathbb{E}\{\lambda_1^{2\bar{T}_1}\Psi_1(1,\bar{T}_1)+\lambda_2^{2\bar{T}_1}\Psi_2(1,\bar{T}_1)\}<1.$$

Thus we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{1}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\Psi_{1}(1,\bar{T}_{1})\right\} < 1, \quad \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{2}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\Psi_{2}(1,\bar{T}_{1})\right\} < 1.$$
(3.26)

Since $\Psi_l(1, \check{T}_k) = \prod_{j=1}^k \Psi_l(\check{T}_{j-1} + 1, \check{T}_{j-1} + \bar{T}_j)$ and $\{\Psi_l(\check{T}_{j-1} + 1, \check{T}_{j-1} + \bar{T}_j)\}_{j=1}^k$ are i.i.d., we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{\bar{T}_{k+1}} \lambda_l^{\bar{T}_k + j} \Psi_l(1, \check{T}_k) \right\} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{\bar{T}_{k+1}} \lambda_l^{\bar{T}_0 + \dots + \bar{T}_k + j} \prod_{j=1}^k \Psi_l(\check{T}_{j-1} + 1, \check{T}_{j-1} + \bar{T}_j) \right\}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E} \left\{ \frac{\lambda_l^{\bar{T}_{k+1} + 2} - \lambda_l^2}{\lambda_l^2 - 1} \right\} \mathbb{E} \left\{ \lambda_l^{\bar{T}_1} \Psi_l(1, \bar{T}_1) \right\}^k, \quad (3.27)$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

for l = 1, 2. In view of (3.26), we further have that

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\{\sum_{t=1}^{\infty} (\lambda_1^{2t} \Psi_1(1,t) + \lambda_2^{2t} \Psi_2(1,t))\} \\ & = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\{\sum_{j=1}^{\bar{T}_{k+1}} (\lambda_1^{\bar{T}_k+j} \Psi_1(1,\bar{T}_k+j) + \lambda_2^{\bar{T}_k+j} \Psi_2(1,\bar{T}_k+j))\} \\ & \leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\{\sum_{j=1}^{\bar{T}_{k+1}} (\lambda_1^{\bar{T}_k+j} \Psi_1(1,\bar{T}_k) + \lambda_2^{\bar{T}_k+j} \Psi_2(1,\bar{T}_k))\} < \infty, \end{split}$$

which implies that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E} \{\lambda_1^{2t}\Psi_1(1,t) + \lambda_2^{2t}\Psi_2(1,t)\} = 0$. The proof of sufficiency is completed.

3.4.3 High-Dimensional Systems: TDMA Scheduler

For general *n*-dimensional systems, the communication structure is designed similarly to that of the two-dimensional systems. There are n encoder/decoder pairs of the form (3.17) and (3.18) to transmit the information of $x_{i,0}$, $i = 1, \ldots, n$. A scheduler is designed to multiplex the channel use. Define ϕ_i , $\Psi_i(\cdot, \cdot)$, $i = 1, \ldots, n$ analogously to the two-dimensional case. Similarly, we can prove that with such communication structure, (3.8) always holds and to guarantee (3.9), we only need to ensure that, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E} \{\lambda_i^{2t} \Psi_i(1,t)\} = 0$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$, or equivalently, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E}\left\{\sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i^{2t} \Psi_i(1,t)\right\} = 0.$ Thus the schedulers should be designed to optimally allocate ϕ_i to minimize $\sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i^{2t} \Psi_i(1,t)$. The optimal choice of ϕ_i^* should satisfy $\sum_{j=1}^{t} \phi_i^*(j) \ln \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_j^2 \mathcal{P}} = (\sum_{j=1}^{t} \ln \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_j^2 \mathcal{P}} + 2t \sum_{i=1}^{n} \ln |\lambda_i|)/n - 2t \ln |\lambda_i|.$ However ϕ_i^* is determined by $\sum_{j=1}^t \ln \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_i^2 \mathcal{P}}$, which is not causally available when transmitting $x_{i,0}$ at any time k < t. When n = 2, we can achieve the desired optimal allocation by first fixing ϕ_1 to be such that $\sum_{j=1}^{T_1^1} \phi_1(j) \ln\left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_i^2 \mathcal{P}}\right) < \tau_1 \ln \delta$ and then requiring ϕ_2 to achieve (3.21). However, this method is not applicable to the case of $n \geq 3$. In the following, we propose Algorithm 3.2 based on the TDMA principle and analyze the corresponding stability regions for general high-dimensional systems, where τ_i , i = 1, ..., n are scheduler parameters and their existence are shown in the proof of Theorem 3.4.3.

Algorithm 3.2: TDMA Scheduler for Power Constrained Fading Channels

In the k-th round of transmissions

- The first encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel for a duration of τ_1 .
- . . .
- The *j*-th encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel for a duration of τ_j .
- . . .
- The *n*-th encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel for a duration of τ_n .
- Repeat this process.

In conjunction with the scheduling Algorithm 3.2, the following sufficient condition can be obtained.

Theorem 3.4.3. There exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0},$ such that the system (3.1) can be mean square stabilized over the channel (3.2) if

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d} \nu_i \ln|\lambda_i| < -\frac{1}{2} \ln \mathbb{E}\left\{\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}\right\}.$$
(3.28)

Proof. Without loss of generality, here we assume that $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_d$ are real and $m_i = 1$. For other cases, readers can refer to the analysis discussed in Chapter 2 of [15]. Specifically, under this assumption, J is a diagonal matrix and d = n. In Algorithm 3.2, the sensor transmits periodically with a period of $\bar{\tau} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \tau_i$. The relative transmission frequency for $x_{j,0}$ is $\alpha_j = \frac{\tau_j}{\bar{\tau}}$ among the period of $\bar{\tau}$ with $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j = 1$. Similar to the analysis in Section 3.4.2, we can show that (3.8) always holds and $\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,k\bar{\tau}}^2\right\} = \mathbb{E}\left\{\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_i^2 \mathcal{P}}\right\}^{\alpha_i k \bar{\tau}} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,0}^2\right\}$ under the designed communication scheme. If $\lambda_i^2 \mathbb{E}\left\{\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_i^2 \mathcal{P}}\right\}^{\alpha_i} < 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$, the sufficient condition in Lemma 3.4.1 can be satisfied. To complete the proof, we only need to show the equivalence between the requirement $\lambda_i^2 \mathbb{E}\left\{\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_i^2 \mathcal{P}}\right\}^{\alpha_i} < 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$ and (3.28). On one hand, since $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i = 1$, if $\lambda_i^2 \mathbb{E}\left\{\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_i^2 \mathcal{P}}\right\}^{\alpha_i} < 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$, we know that

(3.28) holds. On the other hand, if (3.28) holds, we can simply choose $\alpha_i = \frac{\ln|\lambda_i|}{\sum_i \ln|\lambda_i|}$, which satisfies the requirement that $\sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i = 1$ and $\lambda_i^2 \mathbb{E} \left\{ \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_i^2 \mathcal{P}} \right\}^{\alpha_i} < 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. The sufficiency is proved.

3.4.4 High-Dimensional Systems: Adaptive TDMA Scheduler

The TDMA scheduler only allocates transmissions based on time. Since we also have the channel state information at the receiver side, we may utilize this information to achieve better control performance. Moreover, we have the following stabilization result.

Theorem 3.4.4. There exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0},$ such that the system (3.1) can be mean square stabilized over the channel (3.2) if there exist α_i , $i = 1, \ldots, d$, with $0 < \alpha_i \leq 1$ and $\sum_{i=1}^d \alpha_i = 1$, such that for all $i = 1, \ldots, d$,

$$\ln|\lambda_i| < -\frac{1}{2}\ln\mathbb{E}\left\{\left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}\right)^{\frac{\alpha_i}{\nu_i}}\right\}.$$
(3.29)

The above stabilizability result is achieved via an adaptive TDMA scheduler. Different from the TDMA scheduler, the adaptive TDMA scheduler used here is adapted to the fading process. It switches the transmission only if certain stopping conditions are satisfied. By incorporating the information of the fading process, a larger stabilizability region is achieved. The detailed scheduler design and stability analysis is given as follows.

3.4.4.1 Scheduling Algorithm

The scheduler is described in Algorithm 3.3, where the parameters τ_i , i = 1, ..., nare defined in the sequel; $\check{T}_k = \sum_{j=1}^k \bar{T}_j$, $k \in \mathbb{N}^+$ is the time when k rounds of transmissions are completed and $\check{T}_0 = 0$, and \bar{T}_k denotes the total time period to complete the k-th round of transmissions, i.e. $\bar{T}_k = \sum_{i=1}^n T_k^i$. Since the fading $\{\gamma_t\}$ is i.i.d., it is clear from Algorithm 3.3 that T_k^i is independent of T_k^j , for any $i \neq j$, $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}, k \in \mathbb{N}^+$ and the random variables $\{\bar{T}_1, \bar{T}_2, ...\}$ are i.i.d..

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Algorithm 3.3: Adaptive TDMA Scheduler for Power Constrained Fading Channels

In the *k*-th round of transmissions

• The first encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel, until

$$\sum_{t=\tilde{T}_{k-1}+1}^{\tilde{T}_{k-1}+T_k^1} \ln \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}} < \tau_1 \ln \delta, \qquad (3.30)$$

with T_k^1 being the minimal time period satisfying (3.30).

• . . .

• The j-th encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel, until

$$\sum_{t=\tilde{T}_{k-1}+T_k^1+\dots+T_k^{j-1}+1}^{\tilde{T}_k+\dots+T_k^{j-1}}\ln\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2+\gamma_t^2\mathcal{P}} < \tau_j\ln\delta, \qquad (3.31)$$

with T_k^j being the minimal time period satisfying (3.31).

• The *n*-th encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel, until

$$\sum_{t=\check{T}_{k-1}+T_k^1+\dots+T_k^{n-1}+1}^{\check{T}_k+\dots+T_k^{n-1}+T_k^n} \ln \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2+\gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}} < \tau_n \ln \delta, \qquad (3.32)$$

with T_k^n being the minimal time period satisfying (3.32).

• Repeat this process.

3.4.4.2 Scheduler Parameter Selection

If (3.29) holds, there exist θ_i , i = 1, ..., d with $0 \le \theta_i < \frac{\alpha_i}{\nu_i}$, such that $\mathbb{E}\left\{\left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}\right)^{\theta_i}\right\} = |\lambda_i|^{-2}$. The positive constants τ_j , j = 1, ..., n are selected as follows: if $x_{j,0}$ is the *j*-th component of x_0 in (3.4) that corresponds to the eigenvalue λ_i , i = 1, ..., d, then τ_j is selected to be

$$\tau_j = -\frac{2n\alpha_i}{\nu_i \ln \delta} (\max_{k \in \{1,\dots,d\}} \frac{\ln |\lambda_k|}{\alpha_k/\nu_k - \theta_k} + \iota), \quad j = 1,\dots,n,$$
(3.33)

with ι being an arbitrary positive constant.

3.4.4.3 Proof of Theorem 3.4.4

Here we only consider the case that $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_d$ are real and $m_i = \nu_i = 1$. We can easily extend the analysis to other cases by combining the following analysis with the argument used in Chapter 2 of [15]. The sufficiency proof is focused on showing that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E} \{\lambda_i^{2t}\Psi_i(1,t)\} = 0$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$ under Algorithm 3.3. Similar to the derivation of (3.24), with Algorithm 3.3, we can show that $\mathbb{E}\{\lambda_i^{2T_1^j}\} \leq \delta^{-\tau_j\theta_i}\lambda_i^2$. Since $T_1^1, T_1^2, \ldots, T_1^n$ are independent of each other, we further have $\mathbb{E}\{\lambda_i^{2\sum_{j=1}^n T_j^j}\delta^{\tau_i}\} \leq \delta^{\tau_i - \theta_i \sum_{j=1}^n \tau_j}\lambda_i^{2n}$. If τ_i is selected as (3.33), then $\sum_{i=1}^n \tau_i = -\frac{2n}{\ln\delta}(\max_j \frac{\ln|\lambda_j|}{\alpha_j - \theta_j} + \iota)$ and $\tau_i/(\sum_{j=1}^n \tau_j) = \alpha_i$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Thus we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{i}^{2\sum_{j=1}^{n}T_{1}^{j}}\delta^{\tau_{i}}\right\} \leq \left(\delta^{\alpha_{i}-\theta_{i}}\right)^{\sum_{j=1}^{n}\tau_{j}}\lambda_{i}^{2n}$$
$$= \left(\delta^{\alpha_{i}-\theta_{i}}\right)^{-\frac{2n}{\ln\delta}\left(\max_{j}\frac{\ln|\lambda_{j}|}{\alpha_{j}-\theta_{j}}+\iota\right)}\left(\delta^{\alpha_{i}-\theta_{i}}\right)^{\frac{2n}{\ln\delta}\frac{\ln|\lambda_{i}|}{\alpha_{i}-\theta_{i}}}$$
$$= \left(\delta^{\alpha_{i}-\theta_{i}}\right)^{\frac{2n}{\ln\delta}\left(\frac{\ln|\lambda_{i}|}{\alpha_{i}-\theta_{i}}-\max_{j}\frac{\ln|\lambda_{j}|}{\alpha_{j}-\theta_{j}}-\iota\right)}.$$

Since $\theta_i < \alpha_i$ and $0 < \delta < 1$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{i}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\delta^{\tau_{i}}\right\} = \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{i}^{2\sum_{j=1}^{n}T_{1}^{j}}\delta^{\tau_{i}}\right\} < 1, \qquad (3.34)$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

for all i = 1, ..., n. Since $\Psi_i(1, \check{T}_k) = \prod_{j=1}^k \Psi_i(\check{T}_{j-1} + 1, \check{T}_{j-1} + \bar{T}_j)$ and $\Psi_i(\check{T}_{j-1} + 1, \check{T}_{j-1} + \bar{T}_j) < \delta^{\tau_i}$ for any $j \in \mathbb{N}^+$, in view of (3.34), we have

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\{\sum_{t=1}^{\infty} \lambda_{i}^{2t} \Psi_{i}(1,t)\} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\{\sum_{j=1}^{\bar{T}_{k+1}} \lambda_{i}^{2(\check{T}_{k}+j)} \Psi_{i}(1,\check{T}_{k}+j)\} \\ & < \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\{\sum_{j=1}^{\bar{T}_{k+1}} \lambda_{i}^{2(\check{T}_{k}+j)} \prod_{j=1}^{k} \Psi_{i}(\check{T}_{j-1}+1,\check{T}_{j-1}+\bar{T}_{j})\} \\ & < \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\{\sum_{j=1}^{\bar{T}_{k+1}} \lambda_{i}^{2(\check{T}_{k}+j)} \delta^{k\tau_{i}}\} \\ & = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\{\lambda_{i}^{2\bar{T}_{1}} \delta^{\tau_{i}}\}^{k} \mathbb{E}\{(\lambda_{i}^{2\bar{T}_{k+1}+2} - \lambda_{i}^{2})/(\lambda_{i}^{2}-1)\} < \infty. \end{split}$$

Thus $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E} \{\lambda_i^{2t} \Psi_i(1,t)\} = 0$ for all i = 1, ..., n. The proof of sufficiency is completed.

Remark 3.4.4. The stabilizability conditions in the derived theorems above involve the calculation of the expectation $\mathbb{E}\{(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2+\gamma_t^2\mathcal{P}})^{\alpha}\}$ for some α . For some fading distributions, we can give the closed form of this term. For example, when $\gamma_t \sim \text{Bernoulli}(\epsilon)^1$, this term is given by $(1-\epsilon)(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2+\mathcal{P}})^{\alpha} + \epsilon$. For other fading distributions that are not possible to calculate the closed forms, this term can be evaluated numerically via MATLAB or Mathematica.

Remark 3.4.5. In Theorem 3.4.4, the stabilizability condition is expressed in terms of parameters $\alpha_i s$. α_i has the physical interpretation that it represents the fraction of channel resources that is allocated to the sub-dynamics corresponding to the eigenvalue λ_i . For the given communication channel and system matrix, the existence of $\alpha_i s$ can be checked via the following feasibility problem

$$\exists \alpha_i > 0, i = 1, \dots, d$$

s.t. $\sum_{i=1}^d \alpha_i = 1$ (3.35)

 $^{{}^{1}\}Pr(\gamma_{t}=0) = \epsilon$, $\Pr(\gamma_{t}=1) = 1 - \epsilon$, where $\gamma_{t}=0$ represents the appearance of fading and $\gamma_{t}=1$ means that the channel is free of fading.

$$|\lambda_i|^2 < f_i(\alpha_i), \quad i = 1, \dots, d \tag{3.36}$$

with $f_i(\alpha_i) := \mathbb{E}\left\{\left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_i^2 \mathcal{P}}\right)^{\frac{\alpha_i}{\nu_i}}\right\}^{-1}$. Since $f_i(\alpha_i)$ is increasing in α_i and $f_i(0) = 1 \leq |\lambda_i|^2$, there exists $\alpha_i^* \geq 0$ such that $f_i(\alpha_i^*) = |\lambda_i|^2$ (binary search can be used to find equation roots to obtain α_i^*). In view of (3.36), any feasible α_i must satisfy that $\alpha_i > \alpha_i^*$. If $\sum_i \alpha_i^* \geq 1$, there exists no feasible solution since (3.35) is violated. Otherwise, one feasible solution is given by $\alpha_i = \frac{\alpha_i^*}{\sum_i \alpha_i^*}$.

Remark 3.4.6. Theorem 3.4.4 indicates that the stabilzable region of $[\ln |\lambda_1|, \ldots, \ln |\lambda_d|]' \in \mathbb{R}^d$ for a given power constrained fading channel achieved with Algorithm 3.3 is

$$\mathcal{O} = \bigcup_{\alpha_i > 0, \sum_i \alpha_i = 1} X_{i \in \{1, \dots, d\}} \left[0, -\frac{1}{2} \ln \mathbb{E} \left\{ \left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}} \right)^{\frac{\alpha_i}{\nu_i}} \right\} \right),$$

where \times denotes the Cartesian product. We can prove that \mathcal{O} is convex. Suppose $\mathbf{x} = [\mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_d]' \in \mathcal{O}$ and $\mathbf{y} = [\mathbf{y}_1, \dots, \mathbf{y}_d]' \in \mathcal{O}$. Then there exist $[\vartheta_1, \dots, \vartheta_d]'$ with $\vartheta_i > 0$, $\sum_i \vartheta_i = 1$ and $[\eta_1, \dots, \eta_d]'$ with $\eta_i > 0$, $\sum_i \eta_i = 1$ such that $\mathbf{x}_i < -\frac{1}{2} \ln \mathbb{E} \left\{ \left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}} \right)^{\frac{\vartheta_i}{\nu_i}} \right\}$, $\mathbf{y}_i < -\frac{1}{2} \ln \mathbb{E} \left\{ \left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}} \right)^{\frac{\eta_i}{\nu_i}} \right\}$ for $i = 1, \dots, d$. Let $\mathbf{z} = [\mathbf{z}_1, \dots, \mathbf{z}_d]' = c\mathbf{x} + (1-c)\mathbf{y}$ with 0 < c < 1, then $\mathbf{z}_i = c\mathbf{x}_i + (1-c)\mathbf{y}_i$ and

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{z}_{i} &< -\frac{c}{2} \mathrm{ln} \mathbb{E} \left\{ (\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^{2}}{\sigma_{\omega}^{2} + \gamma_{t}^{2} \mathcal{P}})^{\frac{\vartheta_{i}}{\nu_{i}}} \right\} - \frac{1-c}{2} \mathrm{ln} \mathbb{E} \left\{ (\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^{2}}{\sigma_{\omega}^{2} + \gamma_{t}^{2} \mathcal{P}})^{\frac{\eta_{i}}{\nu_{i}}} \right\} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \mathrm{ln} \mathbb{E} \left\{ (\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^{2}}{\sigma_{\omega}^{2} + \gamma_{t}^{2} \mathcal{P}})^{\frac{\vartheta_{i}}{\nu_{i}}} \right\}^{c} \mathbb{E} \left\{ (\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^{2}}{\sigma_{\omega}^{2} + \gamma_{t}^{2} \mathcal{P}})^{\frac{\eta_{i}}{\nu_{i}}} \right\}^{1-c} \\ &\stackrel{(a)}{\leq} -\frac{1}{2} \mathrm{ln} \mathbb{E} \left\{ (\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^{2}}{\sigma_{\omega}^{2} + \gamma_{t}^{2} \mathcal{P}})^{\frac{c\vartheta_{i}+(1-c)\eta_{i}}{\nu_{i}}} \right\}, \end{split}$$

where (a) follows from the Hölder's inequality. Thus there exist $\alpha_i s$ with $\alpha_i = c\vartheta_i + (1-c)\eta_i > 0$ and $\sum_i \alpha_i = 1$ such that $\mathbf{z}_i < -\frac{1}{2} \ln \mathbb{E} \left\{ \left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}} \right)^{\frac{\alpha_i}{\nu_i}} \right\}$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, d$, which means $\mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{O}$. Thus \mathcal{O} is convex.

Remark 3.4.7. The sufficiency achieved via the TDMA scheduler in Algorithm 3.2 can be alternatively formulated as follows: if there exist $\alpha_i s$ with $0 < \alpha_i \leq 1$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{d} \alpha_i = 1$, such that

$$\ln|\lambda_i| < -\frac{\alpha_i}{2\nu_i} \ln \mathbb{E}\left\{\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}\right\},\tag{3.37}$$

for all i = 1, 2, ..., d, the system (3.1) can be mean square stabilized. Since $f(z) = z^{\frac{\alpha_i}{\nu_i}}$ with $0 < \frac{\alpha_i}{\nu_i} \leq 1$ is concave, from the Jensen's inequality, we have

$$-\frac{\alpha_i}{2\nu_i}\ln\mathbb{E}\left\{\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2+\gamma_t^2\mathcal{P}}\right\} \le -\frac{1}{2}\ln\mathbb{E}\left\{\left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2+\gamma_t^2\mathcal{P}}\right)^{\frac{\alpha_i}{\nu_i}}\right\}$$

Thus any λ_i that satisfies (3.37) must also satisfy (3.29) with the same α_i , which implies that the adaptive TDMA scheduler in this chapter achieves a stabilizability region no smaller than the TDMA scheduler.

Remark 3.4.8. If $\gamma_t = 1$, channel (3.2) degenerates to an AWGN channel and the necessary and sufficient condition to ensure mean square stabilizability, following from (3.5) and (3.29), is $\sum_{i=1}^{d} \nu_i \ln |\lambda_i| < \frac{1}{2} \ln(1 + \frac{\mathcal{P}}{\sigma_{\omega}^2})$, which recovers the results in [61, 62]. If $\gamma_t \sim \text{Bernoulli}(\epsilon)$, by taking the limit $\sigma_{\omega}^2 \to 0$ and $\mathcal{P} \to \infty$, we can obtain that the stabilizability condition over an erasure channel is $\lambda_1^2 < \frac{1}{\epsilon}$, which degenerates to the results in [46, 48].

When all the strictly unstable eigenvalues have the same magnitude, we can show that the sufficient condition (3.29) coincides with the necessary condition (3.5), as shown in the following corollary.

Corollary 3.4.1. Suppose $|\lambda_1| = \cdots = |\lambda_{d_u}| = \tilde{\lambda} > 1$ and $|\lambda_{d_u+1}| = \cdots = |\lambda_d| = 1$ with $1 \leq d_u \leq d$. There exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0},$ such that the system (3.1) can be mean square stabilized over the channel (3.2) if and only if

$$\ln \tilde{\lambda} < -\frac{1}{2} \ln \mathbb{E} \left\{ \left(\frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\sigma_{\omega}^2 + \gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}} \right)^{\frac{1}{\nu_1 + \dots + \nu_{d_u}}} \right\}.$$

Remark 3.4.9. The results derived in this chapter for the power constrained fading

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

channel (3.2) can be easily extended to the following channel model

$$r_t = \gamma_t (s_t + \omega_t), \tag{3.38}$$

which is suitable for modeling the digital erasure channel with $\{\omega_t\}$ denoting the quantization error and $\{\gamma_t\}$ representing the erasure process. If $\gamma_t = 0$, the communication channel cannot transmit any information. Otherwise, we can always multiply the received signal r_t by $1/\gamma_t$ at the decoder side, and thus the resulted channel is equivalent to an AWGN channel. From this perspective, channel (3.38) is essentially the power constrained lossy channel studied in [110]. Thus the results derived in [110] apply directly to the channel (3.38).

3.5 Numerical Illustrations

3.5.1 Scalar Systems

The authors in [63] derive the necessary and sufficient condition for mean square stabilization of scalar LTI systems over a power constrained fading channel with linear encoders/decoders as $\frac{1}{2}\ln(1 + \frac{\mu_{\gamma}^2 \mathcal{P}}{\sigma_{\gamma}^2 \mathcal{P} + \sigma_{\omega}^2}) > \ln |\lambda|$ with μ_{γ} and σ_{γ}^2 being the mean and variance of γ_t . We can similarly define the mean square capacity of the power constrained fading channel achieved with linear encoders/decoders as $C_m = \frac{1}{2}\ln(1 + \frac{\mu_{\gamma}^2 \mathcal{P}}{\sigma_{\gamma}^2 \mathcal{P} + \sigma_{\omega}^2})$. Assume that the fading follows the Bernoulli distribution, i.e., $\gamma_t \sim \text{Bernoulli}(\epsilon)$, and let $\mathcal{P} = 1$ and $\sigma_{\omega}^2 = 1$, the channel capacities in relation to the erasure probability are plotted in Figure 3.4. It is clear that $C_{\text{Shannon}} \geq C_a \geq C_m$ at any erasure probability ϵ . This result is obvious since we have proved that the Shannon capacity is no smaller than the anytime capacity. Besides, we have more freedom in designing the causal encoder/decoder pair compared with the linear encoder/decoder pair, thus allowing to achieve a higher capacity. The three kinds of capacity degenerate to the same value when $\epsilon = 0$ and $\epsilon = 1$, which represent the AWGN channel case and the disconnected case respectively. This fact is trivial for

the disconnected case and is consistent for the AWGN channel case in [7,61,62], in which the authors show that the anytime capacity is equal to the Shannon capacity for AWGN channels and causal encoder/decoder pair cannot provide any benefits in increasing the channel capacity.



Figure 3.4: Comparison of different channel capacities for scalar systems

3.5.2 Vector Systems

Consider a two-dimensional system (3.4) with $J = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_1 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda_2 \end{bmatrix}$, and the fading in (3.2) follows the Rayleigh distribution with probability density function $f(z; \sigma) = \frac{z}{\sigma^2} e^{-\frac{z^2}{2\sigma^2}}$, $z \ge 0$. Let $\mathcal{P} = 1$, $\sigma_{\omega}^2 = 1$, $\sigma = 2$, then the necessary stabilizability region, the sufficient stabilizability regions achieved with the optimal scheduler in Algorithm 3.1, the TDMA scheduler in Algorithm 3.2, the adaptive TDMA scheduler in Algorithm 3.3 and with linear encoders/decoders in [63], in terms of $(\ln |\lambda_1|, \ln |\lambda_2|)$ are plotted in Figure 3.5. We can observe that the region of $(\ln |\lambda_1|, \ln |\lambda_2|)$ that can be stabilized with the designed causal encoders/decoders is much larger than that by linear encoders/decoders in [63]. Thus by extending encoder/decoders from linear settings to causal requirements, we can tolerate more unstable systems. It is clear from the figure that the optimal scheduler proposed in Algorithm 3.1 covers the whole necessary stabilizability region. Besides, as noted in Remark 3.4.7, the adaptive TDMA scheduler achieves a larger stabilizability region than that of the

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

conventional TDMA scheduler. Moreover, the adaptive TDMA scheduler is optimal at three points, i.e., $|\lambda_1| = |\lambda_2|$, $|\lambda_1| = 1$ and $|\lambda_2| = 1$. This is consistent with Corollary 3.4.1.



Figure 3.5: Comparison of stabilizability regions for two-dimensional systems

3.6 Summary

This chapter has characterized the requirement for a power constrained fading channel to allow the existence of coding and controlling strategies that can mean square stabilize a discrete-time LTI system. Fundamental limitations have been provided in terms of the system dynamics and channel parameters. Optimal communication designs have been provided for scalar systems and two-dimensional systems. For high-dimensional systems, TDMA and adaptive TDMA communication schemes have also been provided, which are shown to be optimal under certain situations. Numerical examples are provided to illustrate the derived results.
Chapter 4

Stabilization over Gaussian Finite-State Markov Channels

4.1 Introduction

The case with i.i.d. channel fading has been studied in Chapter 3. However, the i.i.d. assumption fails to capture channel correlations. Since Markov models are simple and effective to capture temporal correlations of channel conditions [13,111,112], we are interested in the stabilization problem of discrete-time LTI systems controlled over Gaussian finite-state Markov channels [113], where the channel fading is modeled by a time-homogeneous Markov process. Due to the existence of correlations of channel conditions over time, the methods used to deal with the i.i.d. channel fading in Chapter 3 cannot be applied directly to the Markov channel fading case. Besides, Chapter 3 only considers the state feedback case and the plant under investigation is free of process and measurement noises. The output feedback case and how plant noises affect the stabilizability of the networked control system have yet been studied. In this chapter, we propose observer/estimator designs and extend the channel resource allocation schemes in Chapter 3 to the Gaussian Markov channel case and derive necessary and sufficient stabilization conditions by utilizing the stability of a

Markov jump linear system (MJLS) and the i.i.d. property of the sojourn time of the Markov chain [38].

This chapter is organized as follows. The problem formulation and preliminaries are given in Section 4.2. The existence of fundamental limitations for stabilization is demonstrated in Section 4.3. Sufficient stabilization conditions for Gaussian finitestate Markov channels and power constrained Markov lossy channels are provided in Section 4.4 and Section 4.5, respectively. This chapter ends with some concluding remarks in Section 4.6.

4.2 **Problem Formulation and Preliminaries**

This chapter studies the following discrete-time linear system

$$x_{t+1} = Ax_t + Bu_t + v_t,$$

$$u_t = Cx_t + w_t,$$

(4.1)

where $x_t \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is the system state; $y_t \in \mathbb{R}^p$ is the system output; $u_t \in \mathbb{R}$ is the control input; v_t , w_t are the process noise and measurement noise, respectively; (A, B) is stabilizable; (C, A) is observable; $\{v_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ and $\{w_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ are i.i.d. and with zero mean and bounded covariance matrices and are independent of the initial state x_0 , which follows a zero mean Gaussian distribution with a bounded covariance matrix. Without loss of generality, we make the following assumption as in [35, 64].

Assumption 4.2.1. All the eigenvalues of A are either on or outside the unit circle.

This chapter considers a networked control setting, where y_t is observed and encoded with the law $\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)$ and transmitted to the controller through a Gaussian Markov channel to generate the control signal u_t with the law $\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)$. The Markov channel corrupted with Gaussian noises is modeled as

$$r_t = \gamma_t s_t + \omega_t, \tag{4.2}$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

where s_t denotes the channel input satisfying an average power constraint, i.e., $\mathbb{E}\{s_t^2\} \leq \mathcal{P}; r_t$ is the channel output; γ_t is the channel fading which represents the variation of received signal power over time and ω_t is an AWGN with zero-mean and bounded variance σ_{ω}^2 . Different Markov models can be assumed for γ_t . In this chapter, we are interested in two kinds of Gaussian Markov channels: the Gaussian finite-state Markov channel and the power constrained Markov lossy channel.

Gaussian Finite-State Markov Channels: The channel state $\{\gamma_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is modeled as a time-homogeneous ergodic Markov process. γ_t takes values in a finite set of distinct non-negative values $\{\mathfrak{r}_1, \mathfrak{r}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{r}_l\}$, which represents different fading levels [113]. The Markov transition probability matrix Q is defined by $Q = [\mathfrak{q}_{ij}]$ with

$$\mathbf{q}_{ij} = \Pr\{\gamma_{t+1} = \mathbf{r}_j | \gamma_t = \mathbf{r}_i\}.$$
(4.3)

Power Constrained Markov Lossy Channels: The channel state $\{\gamma_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is modeled as a Markov lossy process. γ_t only switches between two states: the state $\mathfrak{r}_1 = 0$ and the state $\mathfrak{r}_2 = 1$, where $\mathfrak{r}_1 = 0$ indicates the appearance of channel fading and the transmission fails and $\mathfrak{r}_2 = 1$ means that the channel is free of fading and the transmission is successful. Therefore, the Markov process has the following transition probability matrix

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \mathfrak{q} & \mathfrak{q} \\ \mathfrak{p} & 1 - \mathfrak{p} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (4.4)$$

where \mathfrak{p} represents the failure rate and \mathfrak{q} denotes the recovery rate. To avoid any trivial case, \mathfrak{p} and \mathfrak{q} are assumed to be strictly positive and less than 1, i.e., $0 < \mathfrak{p}, \mathfrak{q} < 1$, so that the Markov process is ergodic. The power constrained Markov lossy channel is one special kind of Gaussian finite-state Markov channels and has several unique properties that allow to derive refined results compared to Gaussian finite-state Markov channels.

For both kinds of channels, we assume that $\{\omega_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is i.i.d.; x_0 , $\{v_t\}_{t\geq 0}$, $\{w_t\}_{t\geq 0}$, $\{\gamma_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ and $\{\omega_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ are independent; the channel state information is known at

the receiver side and the channel output and the channel state are fed back to the transmitter through a noiseless feedback channel with one-step delay as in Chapter 3. The feedback configuration and the information structure of the sensor and controller are depicted in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Networked control over Gaussian Markov channels

Throughout the chapter, a stochastic system with state x_t is mean square stable if $\sup_t \mathbb{E} \{x'_t x_t\} < \infty$. We try to characterize requirements on Gaussian finite-state Markov channels and power constrained Markov lossy channels such that there exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}$ which can stabilize the LTI dynamics (4.1). In the following, we present several preliminary results that would be used in the subsequent analysis.

4.2.1 Stability of Markov Jump Linear Systems

Denote the instantaneous channel capacity as $c_t = \frac{1}{2} \ln(1 + \frac{\gamma_t^2 \mathcal{P}}{\sigma_{\omega}^2})$. Since $\{\gamma_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is Markovian, so is $\{c_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ and c_t takes values in a finite set $\{\mathbf{c}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{c}_l\}$ with $\mathbf{c}_i = \frac{1}{2} \ln(1 + \frac{\mathbf{r}_i^2 \mathcal{P}}{\sigma_{\omega}^2})$ and is with the same Markov transition probability (4.3). Consider the MJLS defined by

$$z_{t+1} = \lambda^2 \mathfrak{e}^{-\frac{2}{o}c_t} z_t + a, \tag{4.5}$$

where $z_t \in \mathbb{R}$ with $z_0 < \infty$; $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$; $o \in \mathbb{N}^+$; $a \ge 0$ and $\{c_t\}_{t\ge 0}$ is the Markov process described above. Let $H_o = Q'D_o$ with $D_o = \operatorname{diag}(\mathfrak{e}^{-\frac{2}{o}\mathfrak{c}_1}, \ldots, \mathfrak{e}^{-\frac{2}{o}\mathfrak{c}_l})$. Similar to Lemma 1 in [40, 114], we have the following necessary and sufficient condition characterizing the first moment stability of (4.5).

Lemma 4.2.1. The first moment of the system (4.5) is stable, i.e., $\sup_t \mathbb{E}\{|z_t|\} < \infty$, if and only if

$$\lambda^2 < \frac{1}{\rho(H_o)}.$$

Remark 4.2.1. In this chapter, we are interested in the mean square stability of linear systems. Since the mean square value of the linear system state conditioned on the fading process evolves as a MJLS [38], to study the mean square stability of the original system, we only need to study the first moment stability of the corresponding MJLS.

4.2.2 Sojourn Times for Markov Lossy Process

Associated with the Markov lossy process $\{\gamma_t\}_{t\geq 0}$, a stochastic time sequence $\{T_k\}_{k\geq 0}$ is introduced to denote the time at which the transmission is successful. Without loss of generality, let $\gamma_0 = \mathfrak{r}_2$ [37]. Then $T_0 = 0$ and T_k , $k \geq 1$ is precisely defined by

$$T_{1} = \inf\{k : k \ge 1, \gamma_{k} = 1\},$$

$$T_{2} = \inf\{k : k \ge T_{1}, \gamma_{k} = 1\},$$

$$\vdots \quad \vdots$$

$$T_{k} = \inf\{k : k \ge T_{k-1}, \gamma_{k} = 1\}.$$
(4.6)

By the ergodic property of the Markov process $\{\gamma_k\}_{k\geq 0}$, T_k , $\forall k \in \mathbb{N}$ is finite almost everywhere (abbreviated as a.e.). Thus, the integer valued sojourn time $\{T_k^*\}_{k>0}$ which denotes the time duration between two successive successful transmissions is well-defined a.e., where

$$T_k^* = T_k - T_{k-1} > 0. (4.7)$$

Moreover, we have the following characterization of the probability distribution of sojourn times $\{T_k^*\}_{k>0}$.

Lemma 4.2.2 ([38]). The sojourn times $\{T_k^*\}_{k>0}$ are *i.i.d.*. Furthermore, the distribution of T_k^* is explicitly expressed as

$$\Pr(T_k^* = i) = \begin{cases} 1 - \mathfrak{p} & i = 1, \\ \mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}(1 - \mathfrak{q})^{i-2} & i > 1. \end{cases}$$

4.3 Fundamental Limitation

Let $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_d$ denote the distinct unstable eigenvalues (if λ_i is complex, its conjugate is excluded from this list) of A with $|\lambda_1| \ge |\lambda_2| \ge \ldots \ge |\lambda_d|$. Let m_i represent the algebraic multiplicity of λ_i . The real Jordan canonical form J of A then has form that $J = \text{diag}(J_1, \ldots, J_d) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ [22], where $J_i \in \mathbb{R}^{\nu_i \times \nu_i}$ and $|\det J_i| = |\lambda_i|^{\nu_i}$, with $\nu_i = m_i$ if $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}$, and $\nu_i = 2m_i$ otherwise. It is clear that the mean square stability of (4.1) is equivalent to the mean square stability of

$$x_{t+1} = Jx_t + OBu_t + Ov_t, \tag{4.8}$$

$$y_t = CO^{-1}x_t + w_t, (4.9)$$

for some invertible matrix O.

The following theorem characterizes a fundamental limitation for mean square stabilization over Gaussian finite-state Markov channels. The necessity is obtained via an information theoretic argument as in Section 3.3, but with differences due to the application of output feedback and the existence of process and measurement noises and the correlated channel fading.

Theorem 4.3.1. There exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}$, such that the system (4.1) can be mean square stabilized over the Gaussian finitestate Markov channel only if $[|\lambda_1|, \ldots, |\lambda_d|]' \in \mathbb{R}^d$ satisfy

$$\left(\prod_{i=1}^{d} |\lambda_i|^{\varrho_i o_i}\right)^{\frac{2}{o}} < \frac{1}{\rho(H_o)},\tag{4.10}$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

for all $o_i \in \{0, \ldots, m_i\}$, $i = 1, \ldots, d$ with $o = \sum_{i=1}^d \varrho_i o_i$, where $\varrho_i = 1$ if $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\varrho_i = 2$ otherwise.

Proof. We use uppercase letters $\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{R}, \Gamma$ to denote random variables of the system state, the channel output and the channel fading. We use the lowercase letters x, r, γ to denote their realizations. Following a similar line of arguments as in the proof of Lemma 3.3.1, we can show that

$$\mathscr{N}_{\gamma^{t}}(\mathscr{X}_{t+1}|\mathscr{R}^{t}) \ge (\det A)^{\frac{2}{n}} \mathfrak{e}^{-\frac{2}{n}c_{t}} \mathscr{N}_{\gamma^{t-1}}(\mathscr{X}_{t}|\mathscr{R}^{t-1}).$$

$$(4.11)$$

In view of Proposition II.1 in [62], a necessary condition to ensure the mean square stability of \mathcal{X}_t is that the first moment of $\mathcal{N}_{\gamma^t}(\mathcal{X}_{t+1}|\mathcal{R}^t)$ should converge to zero asymptotically. Thus, the MJLS $z_{k+1} = (\det A)^{\frac{2}{n}} \mathbf{e}^{-\frac{2}{n}c_t} z_k$ should be stable in the first moment. Following Lemma 4.2.1, a necessary condition to ensure the mean square stability can be obtained as

$$(\det A)^{\frac{2}{n}} < \frac{1}{\rho(H_n)}.$$
 (4.12)

Each block J_i has an invariant real subspace \mathcal{A}_{o_i} of dimension $\varrho_i o_i$, for any $o_i \in \{0, \ldots, m_i\}$. Consider the subspace \mathcal{A} formed by taking the product of \mathcal{A}_{o_i} , $i = 1, \ldots, d$. The total dimension of \mathcal{A} is $\sum_{i=1}^d \varrho_i o_i$ and the real Jordan form for the dynamics in the subspace \mathcal{A} is $J^{\mathcal{V}}$ with $|\det J^{\mathcal{V}}| = \prod_{i=1}^d |\lambda_i|^{\varrho_i o_i}$. Since (4.1) is mean square stabilizable, the dynamics in the subspace \mathcal{A} is also mean square stabilizable. Following a similar line of arguments as in the derivation of (4.12), the fundamental limitation (4.10) can be obtained.

Let $\delta = \frac{\sigma_{\omega}^2}{\mathcal{P} + \sigma_{\omega}^2}$. We can derive the necessity for control over power constrained Markov lossy channels from Theorem 4.3.1 directly. Firstly, the following lemma is need.

Lemma 4.3.1. Let Q be defined in (4.4); $D = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \delta \end{bmatrix}$ with $0 < \mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{p}, \delta < 1$; $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, $|\lambda| \ge 1$ and T_k^* be defined in (4.7). The following statements are equivalent,

1.

2.

$$\begin{split} \lambda^2 \rho(Q'D) < 1, \\ \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda^{2T_k^*}\right\}\delta < 1, \end{split}$$

3.

$$1 - \lambda^2 (1 - \mathfrak{q}) > 0,$$
 (4.13)

$$\lambda^2 \delta \left[1 + \frac{\mathfrak{p}(\lambda^2 - 1)}{1 - \lambda^2 (1 - \mathfrak{q})} \right] < 1.$$
(4.14)

Proof. 2)↔3): In view of the probability distribution of T_k^* in Lemma 4.2.2, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda^{2T_k^*}\right\} &= \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \Pr(T_k^* = i)\lambda^{2i} \\ &= \Pr(T_k^* = 1)\lambda^2 + \sum_{i=2}^{\infty} \Pr(T_k^* = i)\lambda^{2i} \\ &= (1 - \mathfrak{p})\lambda^2 + \sum_{i=2}^{\infty} \mathfrak{pq}(1 - \mathfrak{q})^{i-2}\lambda^{2i}. \end{split}$$

To guarantee the boundedness of $\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda^{2T_k^*}\right\}$, we should have $\lambda^2(1-\mathfrak{q}) < 1$. Then $\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda^{2T_k^*}\right\}$ is

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda^{2T_k^*}\right\} &= (1-\mathfrak{p})\lambda^2 + \frac{\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}}{(1-\mathfrak{q})^2} \frac{(1-\mathfrak{q})^2 \lambda^4}{1-\lambda^2(1-\mathfrak{q})} \\ &= \lambda^2 [1 + \frac{\mathfrak{p}(\lambda^2 - 1)}{1-\lambda^2(1-\mathfrak{q})}]. \end{split}$$

Summarizing the above results, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda^{2T_k^*}\right\} = \begin{cases} \infty, & \text{if } \lambda^2(1-\mathfrak{q}) > 1\\ \lambda^2 \left[1 + \frac{\mathfrak{p}(\lambda^2 - 1)}{1 - \lambda^2(1-\mathfrak{q})}\right], & \text{if } \lambda^2(1-\mathfrak{q}) < 1. \end{cases}$$

Then the equivalence of 2) and 3) is straightforward from the expression of $\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda^{2T_{k}^{*}}\right\}$.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

 $1) \rightarrow 3$: Let

$$H = Q'D = egin{bmatrix} 1 - \mathfrak{q} & \mathfrak{p}\delta \ \mathfrak{q} & (1 - \mathfrak{p})\delta \end{bmatrix}.$$

Since *H* is a nonnegative matrix, in view of Corollary 8.1.20 in [115], $1 - \mathfrak{q} \leq \rho(H) < \frac{1}{\lambda^2}$, which is (4.13). Suppose the two eigenvalues of *H* are ζ_1 and ζ_2 , then $\zeta_1 + \zeta_2 = \operatorname{tr}(H), \zeta_1 \zeta_2 = \operatorname{det}(H)$ with $\operatorname{tr}(H) = (1 - \mathfrak{q}) + (1 - \mathfrak{p})\delta$ and $\operatorname{det}(H) = (1 - \mathfrak{p} - \mathfrak{q})\delta$. Since

$$\operatorname{tr}(H)^2 - 4 \operatorname{det}(H) = ((1 - \mathfrak{q}) + (1 - \mathfrak{p})\delta)^2 - 4(1 - \mathfrak{p} - \mathfrak{q})\delta$$
$$= ((1 - \mathfrak{q}) - (1 - \mathfrak{p})\delta)^2 + 4\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\delta > 0,$$

we know that the spectral radius of H is

$$\rho(H) = \frac{\operatorname{tr}(H) + \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}(H)^2 - 4 \operatorname{det}(H)}}{2}.$$

Since $\lambda^2 \rho(H) < 1$, we have that $\lambda^2 \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}(H)^2 - 4 \operatorname{det}(H)} < 2 - \lambda^2 \operatorname{tr}(H)$. Taking square of both sides, we obtain $\lambda^4 \operatorname{det}(H) - \lambda^2 \operatorname{tr}(H) + 1 > 0$. Substituting the expression of $\operatorname{tr}(H)$ and $\operatorname{det}(H)$ into the above inequality, we have $\lambda^4(1 - \mathfrak{q} - \mathfrak{p})\delta - \lambda^2[(1-\mathfrak{q}) + (1-\mathfrak{p})\delta] + 1 > 0$, which implies $\lambda^2 \delta[(1-\mathfrak{p}) - \lambda^2(1-\mathfrak{p}-\mathfrak{q})] < 1 - \lambda^2(1-\mathfrak{q})$. Dividing both sides by $1 - \lambda^2(1 - \mathfrak{q})$, we can obtain (4.14).

3) \rightarrow 1): We first note that $\lambda^2 \delta < 1$ from (4.14). In view of (4.13), we further have $2 - \lambda^2 \operatorname{tr}(H) = 1 - \lambda^2(1 - \mathfrak{q}) + 1 - \lambda^2 \delta(1 - \mathfrak{p}) > 0$. Then 3) \rightarrow 1) can be proved by reversing the proof of 1) \rightarrow 3). The proof is completed.

The fundamental limitation for control over power constrained Markov lossy channels is stated below.

Theorem 4.3.2. There exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0},$ such that the system (4.1) can be mean square stabilized over the power constrained Markov lossy channel only if $[|\lambda_1|, \ldots, |\lambda_d|]' \in \mathbb{R}^d$ satisfy

$$1 - \left(\prod_{i=1}^{d} |\lambda_i|^{\varrho_i o_i}\right)^{\frac{2}{o}} (1 - \mathfrak{q}) > 0, \qquad (4.15)$$

$$\delta^{\frac{1}{o}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{d} |\lambda_i|^{\varrho_i o_i} \right)^{\frac{2}{o}} \left[1 + \frac{\mathfrak{p}(\left(\prod_{i=1}^{d} |\lambda_i|^{\varrho_i o_i} \right)^{\frac{2}{o}} - 1)}{1 - (1 - \mathfrak{q}) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{d} |\lambda_i|^{\varrho_i o_i} \right)^{\frac{2}{o}}} \right] < 1, \tag{4.16}$$

for all $o_i \in \{0, ..., m_i\}$, i = 1, ..., d with $o = \sum_{i=1}^d \varrho_i o_i$.

Proof. Since

$$H_o = Q'D_o = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \mathfrak{q} & \mathfrak{p} \\ \mathfrak{q} & 1 - \mathfrak{p} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \delta^{\frac{1}{o}} \end{bmatrix},$$

for power constrained Markov lossy channels, in view of Theorem 4.3.1 and Lemma 4.3.1, the necessity can be obtained. $\hfill \Box$

In the subsequent analysis, we will show that the necessary conditions in Theorem 4.3.1 and Theorem 4.3.2 are also sufficient for scalar systems and certain highdimensional systems.

4.4 Stabilization over Finite-state Markov channels

In this section, we provide a sufficient stabilization condition for control over Gaussian finite-state Markov channels via the construction of observer, estimator, controller, channel encoder, decoder and scheduler. The observer/estimator/controller is reproduced from [22,40], which mimics the optimal estimation and control scheme in LQG control [67]. The channel encoder/decoder/scheduler design is borrowed from Chapter 3, which adopts a TDMA scheme to transmit multiple sources over a scalar channel.

4.4.1 Communication Structure

The entire communication scheme is shown in Figure 4.2. The observer and estimator can be regarded as the source encoder and decoder, which take the measurement signal y_t to estimate the system state \hat{x}_t . The channel encoder and decoder are designed to reliably transmit source signals over the uncertain channel. Since the observer/encoder is aware of the one-step delayed channel fading and channel output via the feedback link, it can thus simulate the decoder/estimator/controller to obtain the estimated state \hat{x}_t and the control input u_t .



Figure 4.2: Communication structure

4.4.2 Observer/Estimator/Controller Design

The Luenberger observer is designed as

$$\bar{x}_{t+1} = A\bar{x}_t + Bu_t - L(y_t - C\bar{x}_t), \tag{4.17}$$

where $\bar{x}_0 = 0$ and L is selected such that A + LC is Hurwitz. The estimator generates the estimate \hat{x}_t with

$$\hat{x}_{t+1} = A\hat{x}_t + A\hat{e}_t + Bu_t, \tag{4.18}$$

where $\hat{x}_0 = 0$ and \hat{e}_t is the output of the channel decoder. The controller is given by

$$u_t = K\hat{x}_t,\tag{4.19}$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

where K is selected such that A+BK is Hurwitz. With the above observer, estimator and controller design, we have the following result.

Lemma 4.4.1. If there exists a pair of channel encoder and decoder, such that $\sup_t \mathbb{E} \{ ||e_t||^2 \} < \infty$ with $e_t = \bar{x}_t - \hat{x}_t$, the system (4.1) is mean square stabilizable over the Gaussian finite-state Markov channel with the designed communication structure.

Proof. In view of (4.1) and (4.17), we have

$$x_{t+1} - \bar{x}_{t+1} = (A + LC)(x_t - \bar{x}_t) + v_t + Lw_t.$$
(4.20)

Since L is selected such that A + LC is stable, we have $\sup_t \mathbb{E} \{ \|x_t - \bar{x}_t\|^2 \} < \infty$. From the observer dynamics (4.17) and the controller (4.19), we have

$$\bar{x}_{t+1} = (A + BK)\bar{x}_t - BK(\bar{x}_t - \hat{x}_t) - L(y_t - C\bar{x}_t)$$
$$= (A + BK)\bar{x}_t - BK(\bar{x}_t - \hat{x}_t) - LC(x_t - \bar{x}_t) - Lw_t$$

Since A + BK is Hurwitz and $\sup_t \mathbb{E} \{ \|x_t - \bar{x}_t\|^2 \} < \infty$, if $\sup_t \mathbb{E} \{ \|e_t\|^2 \} < \infty$, we have $\sup_t \mathbb{E} \{ \|\bar{x}_t\|^2 \} < \infty$. Therefore, we have

$$\sup_{t} \mathbb{E}\left\{ \|x_t\|^2 \right\} = \sup_{t} \mathbb{E}\left\{ \|x_t - \bar{x}_t + \bar{x}_t\|^2 \right\}$$
$$\leq \sup_{t} \mathbb{E}\left\{ \|x_t - \bar{x}_t\|^2 \right\} + \sup_{t} \mathbb{E}\left\{ \|\bar{x}_t\|^2 \right\} < \infty,$$

which implies that the original system (4.1) is mean square stable. The proof is completed.

In view of the above lemma, we are now to design channel encoder/decoder to ensure that $\sup_t \mathbb{E} \{ \|e_t\|^2 \} < \infty$. The dynamics for e_t is

$$e_{t+1} = A(e_t - \hat{e}_t) + \Phi_t, \tag{4.21}$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

where $\Phi_t = -LC(x_t - \bar{x}_t) - Lw_t$.

From (4.20), we have that

$$x_t - \bar{x}_t = (A + LC)^t x_0 + \sum_{i=0}^{t-1} (A + LC)^{t-1-i} (v_i + Lw_i).$$

Since $x_0, \{v_t\}_{t\geq 0}, \{w_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ are independent and with zero mean and bounded variance, $x_t - \bar{x}_t$ and thus Φ_t are with zero mean and bounded variance.

Remark 4.4.1. Assumption 4.2.1 can be justified from Lemma 4.4.1. Assume $A = \text{diag}(J_u, J_s)$, where J_u contains eigenvalues that are either on or outside the unit circle and J_s contains eigenvalues that are within the unit circle. Decompose the dynamics (4.21) into stable part and unstable part according to A as

$$e_{u,t+1} = J_u e_{u,t} + \Phi_{u,t} - J^u \hat{e}_{u,t}, \qquad (4.22)$$

$$e_{s,t+1} = J_s e_{s,t} + \Phi_{s,t} - J^s \hat{e}_{s,t}, \qquad (4.23)$$

where $e_{u,t}, e_{s,t}, \Phi_{u,t}, \Phi_{s,t}, \hat{e}_{u,t}, \hat{e}_{s,t}$ are the corresponding partitions of e_t , Φ_t and \hat{e}_t . Since Φ_t is mean square bounded, if we let $\hat{e}_{s,t} = 0$ at the decoder side, (4.23) is mean square stable. Thus, we do not need to consider the transmission of the information corresponding to stable eigenvalues. Therefore, we can ignore the eigenvalues that are in the unit circle without loss of generality.

4.4.3 Encoder/Decoder/Scheduler Design

To transmit the *n*-dimensional vector e_t through the scalar channel, the TDMA strategy is used. There are *n* encoder/decoder pairs to transmit the *n* sources $\{e_{1,t}, \ldots, e_{n,t}\}$ with $e_{i,t}$ being the *i*-th value of e_t and a scheduler to multiplex the channel use. Suppose at time *t*, the *i*-th encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel. The encoder *i* first generates a symbol $s_{i,t}$, which is a scaled version of $e_{i,t}$ to satisfy the channel input power constraint, and transmits it to the decoder through the communication channel. The decoder *i* then forms the minimal mean

square error estimate $\hat{e}_{i,t}$ based on the channel output $r_{i,t}$. The estimator maintains an array $\hat{e}_t = [\hat{e}_{1,t}, \ldots, \hat{e}_{n,t}]'$ that represents the estimate of e_t , which is set to 0 at t = 0. When the information about $e_{i,t}$ is transmitted, only $\hat{e}_{i,t}$ is updated at the estimator side. The channel encoder/decoder/scheduler structure is illustrated in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.3: Channel encoder/decoder/scheduler structure

If at time t, the encoder i is scheduled to use the channel, then the encoder generates

$$s_{i,0} = 0, \quad s_{i,t} = \sqrt{\frac{P}{\sigma_{e_{i,t}}^2}} e_{i,t}, \ t \ge 1,$$

$$(4.24)$$

where $\sigma_{e_{i,t}}^2$ represents the variance of $e_{i,t}$. The decoder *i* satisfies

$$\hat{e}_{i,t} = \frac{\mathbb{E}_{\gamma_t} \{r_{i,t} e_{i,t}\}}{\mathbb{E}_{\gamma_t} \{r_{i,t}^2\}} r_{i,t}.$$
(4.25)

It is clear from (4.21) and the designed communication scheme that $\mathbb{E} \{e_t\} = 0$ and $\mathbb{E} \{\hat{e}_t\} = 0$.

The scheduling Algorithm 4.1 is designed, which adopts a TDMA strategy and allocates a fixed transmission period to each encoder/decoder pair, where $\tau_i, i = 1, \ldots, n$ are scheduler parameters to be specified later. We assume that both the encoder and the decoder know the scheduling algorithm. Since the switching among transmissions is only determined by time, we do not need to consider the coordination among encoders and decoders.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Algorithm 4.1: TDMA Scheduler for Gaussian Finite-state Markov Channels In the *k*-th round of transmissions

- The first encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel for τ_1 times.
- ...
- The *j*-th encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel for τ_j times.
- . . .
- The *n*-th encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel for τ_n times.
- Repeat this process.

4.4.4 Sufficient Stabilizability Conditions

Theorem 4.4.1. *If*

$$\prod_{i=1}^{d} |\lambda_i|^{2\nu_i} < \frac{1}{\rho(H_1)},\tag{4.26}$$

there exist τ_i , i = 1, ..., n, such that the system (4.1) can be mean square stabilized over the Gaussian finite-state Markov channel with the proposed TDMA communication scheme.

In view of Lemma 4.4.1, if (4.21) is mean square stable, the system (4.1) can be mean square stabilized over the Gaussian finite-state Markov channel. Thus, the key in proving Theorem 4.4.1 is to show that there exist τ_i s such that (4.21) is mean square stable. Moreover, with the designed TDMA communication scheme, we can show that each subsystem in (4.21) is described by a MJLS. If (4.26) holds, we have that $|\lambda_i|^{\frac{2\sum_j \ln |\lambda_j|}{\ln |\lambda_i|}} \rho(H_1) < 1$, for $i = 1, \ldots, n$ (for the case that $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_d$ are real and $m_i = \nu_i = 1$). If τ_i is selected such that $\frac{\tau_i}{\sum_j \tau_j} = \frac{\ln |\lambda_i|}{\sum_j \ln |\lambda_j|}$, the MJLS is stable, which further implies the mean square stability of (4.21). Then the original system is mean square stable. The detailed proof is provided as below.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we assume that $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_d$ are real and $m_i = \nu_i = 1$. For other cases, the theorem can be proved by combining the following analysis with a similar line of arguments used in [116].

In the first step, we shall derive the dynamics for the mean square value of $e_{i,t}$. From (4.21), we obtain

$$e_{i,t+1} = \lambda_i (e_{i,t} - \hat{e}_{i,t}) + \Phi_{i,t}.$$
(4.27)

Analogous to the analysis in [110], we can show that with the encoder (4.24) and the decoder (4.25),

$$\mathbb{E}_{\gamma^{t+1}}\{e_{i,t+1}^2\} = \lambda_i^2 \mathfrak{e}^{-2c_t} \mathbb{E}_{\gamma^t}\{e_{i,t}^2\} + \mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{i,t}^2\right\}, \qquad (4.28)$$

if the *i*-th encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel at time *t*. Let $\tau = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \tau_i$ and $\eta_{i,k\tau} = \mathbb{E}\{e_{1,k\tau}^2 | \gamma_{k\tau} = \mathfrak{r}_i\} \Pr(\gamma_{k\tau} = \mathfrak{r}_i)$. Since from time $k\tau + 1$ to $k\tau + \tau_1$, the first encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel from Algorithm 4.1, we have that

$$\begin{split} \eta_{j,k\tau+1} &= \mathbb{E} \left\{ e_{1,k\tau+1}^{2} | \gamma_{k\tau+1} = \mathfrak{r}_{j} \right\} \Pr(\gamma_{k\tau+1} = \mathfrak{r}_{j}) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{l} \Pr(\gamma_{k\tau} = \mathfrak{r}_{i} | \gamma_{k\tau+1} = \mathfrak{r}_{j}) \Pr(\gamma_{k\tau+1} = \mathfrak{r}_{j}) \times \mathbb{E} \left\{ e_{1,k\tau+1}^{2} | \gamma_{k\tau+1} = \mathfrak{r}_{j}, \gamma_{k\tau} = \mathfrak{r}_{i} \right\} \\ &\stackrel{(a)}{=} \sum_{i=1}^{l} \Pr(\gamma_{k\tau+1} = \mathfrak{r}_{j} | \gamma_{k\tau} = \mathfrak{r}_{i}) \Pr(\gamma_{k\tau} = \mathfrak{r}_{i}) \times \mathbb{E} \left\{ e_{1,k\tau+1}^{2} | \gamma_{k\tau+1} = \mathfrak{r}_{j}, \gamma_{k\tau} = \mathfrak{r}_{i} \right\} \\ &\stackrel{(b)}{=} \sum_{i=1}^{l} \mathfrak{q}_{ij} \Pr(\gamma_{k\tau} = \mathfrak{r}_{i}) \mathbb{E} \left\{ e_{1,k\tau+1}^{2} | \gamma_{k\tau} = \mathfrak{r}_{i} \right\} \\ &\stackrel{(c)}{\leq} \sum_{i=1}^{l} \mathfrak{q}_{ij} \Pr(\gamma_{k\tau} = \mathfrak{r}_{i}) \frac{\lambda_{1}^{2}}{\mathfrak{e}^{2\mathfrak{c}_{i}}} \mathbb{E} \left\{ e_{1,k\tau}^{2} | \gamma_{k\tau} = \mathfrak{r}_{i} \right\} + \mathbb{E} \left\{ \Phi_{1,k\tau}^{2} \right\} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{l} \frac{\lambda_{1}^{2}}{\mathfrak{e}^{2\mathfrak{c}_{i}}} \mathfrak{q}_{ij} \eta_{i,k\tau} + \mathbb{E} \left\{ \Phi_{1,k\tau}^{2} \right\}, \end{split}$$

where (a) follows from the Bayes law; (b) is due to the fact that $e_{1,k\tau+1}$ is independent of $\gamma_{k\tau+1}$ and (c) arises from (4.28). Let $\eta_{k\tau} = [\eta_{1,k\tau}, \eta_{2,k\tau}, \dots, \eta_{l,k\tau}]'$, then we have $\eta_{k\tau+1} \leq \lambda_1^2 Q' D_1 \eta_{k\tau} + \mathbf{1} \mathbb{E} \{\Phi_{1,k\tau}^2\}$, where **1** is a vector with all elements being one.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

With similar derivations we have that

$$\eta_{k\tau+\tau_1} \le \lambda_1^{2\tau_1} H_1^{\tau_1} \eta_{k\tau} + \sum_{i=0}^{\tau_1-1} (\lambda_1^2 H_1)^{\tau_1-1-i} \mathbf{1} \mathbb{E} \left\{ \Phi_{1,k\tau+i}^2 \right\}.$$
(4.29)

Since from the time $k\tau + \tau_1 + 1$ to $(k+1)\tau$, there are no scheduled transmissions for the first encoder/decoder pair, similar to the derivation of (4.29), we have

$$\eta_{(k+1)\tau} \leq \lambda_1^{2(\tau-\tau_1)} (Q')^{\tau-\tau_1} \eta_{k\tau+\tau_1} + \sum_{i=0}^{\tau-\tau_1-1} (\lambda^2 Q')^{\tau-\tau_1-1-i} \mathbf{1} \mathbb{E} \left\{ \Phi_{1,k\tau+\tau_1+i}^2 \right\}.$$
(4.30)

Combining (4.29) and (4.30), we have that

$$\eta_{(k+1)\tau} \le \lambda_1^{2\tau} (Q')^{\tau-\tau_1} H_1^{\tau_1} \eta_{k\tau} + \Psi_{k\tau}, \qquad (4.31)$$

where

$$\Psi_{k\tau} = \lambda_1^{2(\tau-\tau_1)} (Q')^{\tau-\tau_1} \sum_{i=0}^{\tau_1-1} (\lambda_1^2 H_1)^{\tau_1-1-i} \mathbb{1}\mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{1,k\tau+i}^2\right\} \\ + \sum_{i=0}^{\tau-\tau_1-1} (\lambda^2 Q')^{\tau-\tau_1-1-i} \mathbb{1}\mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{1,k\tau+\tau_1+i}^2\right\}$$

and $\Psi_{k\tau}$ is bounded.

In the second step, we will show that if the sufficient condition (4.26) is satisfied, there exist τ_i s such that (4.31) is mean square stable.

If (4.26) holds, we have $\ln \rho(H_1) + 2\sum_j \ln |\lambda_j| < 0$. Therefore, there exists $\varsigma > 0$, such that $\ln \rho(H_1) + 2\sum_j \ln |\lambda_j| + \varsigma = 0$, which also implies $2\ln |\lambda_i| + \alpha_i \ln \rho(H_1) = -\frac{\varsigma}{n} < 0$, with $\alpha_i = \frac{2\ln |\lambda_i| + \frac{\varsigma}{n}}{2\sum_j \ln |\lambda_j| + \varsigma} > 0$ and $\sum_i \alpha_i = 1$. Thus, we have $\lambda_i^2 \rho(H_1)^{\alpha_i} < 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Let $\iota = \min_i (2\log_{\rho(H_1)} |\lambda_i| + \alpha_i) > 0$. Since for every $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{R}$, there exists a rational sequence $\{\beta_{i,k}\}_{k\geq 0}$, such that $\lim_{k\to\infty} \beta_{i,k} = \alpha_i$, we have $\lim_{k\to\infty} \frac{\beta_{i,k}}{\sum_j \beta_{j,k}} = \frac{\alpha_i}{\sum_j \alpha_j} = \alpha_i$. Therefore, for the given ι , there exists $M \in \mathbb{N}^+$, such that $|\frac{\beta_{i,M}}{\sum_j \beta_{j,M}} - \alpha_i| < \iota$. Let $\vartheta_i = \frac{\sum_j \beta_{j,M}}{\beta_{i,M}}$. Then $\vartheta_i^{-1} > \alpha_i - \iota \geq -2\log_{\rho(H_1)} |\lambda_i|$. Thus, we have $\lambda_i^{2\vartheta_i} \rho(H_1) < 1$.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

In view of Lemma 5.6.10 in [115], there exists a norm $\|\cdot\|$ such that $\kappa_i := \|\lambda_i^{2\vartheta_i} H_1\| < 1$. 1. From the equivalence of norms, we have that $\|\cdot\| \leq \epsilon \|\cdot\|_1$ for some $\epsilon > 1$. Then $\tau_i \in \mathbb{N}^+$ is selected to satisfy that $\tau_i > -\log_{\kappa_i} \epsilon$ and $\beta_{i,M} = \frac{\tau_i}{\bar{\tau}}$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$ and for some $\bar{\tau}$. The existence of such τ_i s can always be guaranteed by firstly writing rational numbers $\beta_{i,M}$ s into fractions and then reducing fractions to a common denominator and finally scaling the numerators and denominators simultaneously to obtain a sufficiently large numerator τ_i which satisfies $\tau_i > -\log_{\kappa_i} \epsilon$.

Then we have from (4.31) that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\eta_{(k+1)\tau}\| &\leq \|(Q')^{\tau-\tau_1}\| \|\lambda_1^{2\tau} H_1^{\tau_1}\| \|\eta_{k\tau}\| + \|\Psi_{k\tau}\| \\ &\leq \kappa_1^{\tau_1}\|(Q')^{\tau-\tau_1}\| \|\eta_{k\tau}\| + \|\Psi_{k\tau}\| \\ &\leq \kappa_1^{\tau_1}\epsilon\|(Q')^{\tau-\tau_1}\|_1\|\eta_{k\tau}\| + \|\Psi_{k\tau}\| \\ &\leq \kappa_1^{\tau_1}\epsilon\|\eta_{k\tau}\| + \|\Psi_{k\tau}\|. \end{aligned}$$

Since $\kappa_1^{\tau_1} \epsilon < 1$, we know that $\|\eta_{k\tau}\|$ is mean square bounded. Since $\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,k\tau}^2\right\} = \sum_i^l \eta_{i,k\tau}$, we further have that $\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,k\tau}^2\right\}$ is mean square bounded.

Similarly, we can also prove that $\sup_k \mathbb{E} \{e_{i,k\tau}^2\} < \infty$ for all i = 2, ..., n. Therefore, e_t is mean square bounded. In view of Lemma 4.4.1, the closed-loop system is mean square stable. The proof is completed.

Remark 4.4.2. Suppose $q_{ij} = q_j$ for i, j = 1, ..., l, then the Gaussian finite-state Markov channel degenerates to the power constrained fading channel with finite *i.i.d.* channel states. The stabilization condition in Theorem 4.4.1 becomes

$$\prod_{i=1}^d |\lambda_i|^{2\nu_i} (\sum_{i=1}^{\mathfrak{l}} \mathfrak{q}_i \frac{\sigma_\omega^2}{\sigma_\omega^2 + \mathfrak{r}_i^2 \mathcal{P}}) < 1,$$

which coincides with Theorem 3.4.3.

The sufficient condition is also necessary for scalar systems as shown in the following corollary.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Corollary 4.4.1. Suppose $A = \lambda_1$ with $\lambda_1 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $|\lambda_1| \geq 1$. There exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}$, such that the system (4.1) can be mean square stabilized over the Gaussian finite-state Markov channel if and only if

$$\lambda_1^2 < \frac{1}{\rho(H_1)}$$

Generally, there exists a gap between the necessity (4.10) and the sufficiency (4.26) for high dimensional systems. In the next section, we will study power constrained Markov lossy channels and derive improved results.

4.5 Stabilization over Markov Lossy Channels

In this section, by utilizing the properties of the Markov lossy process, we propose communication scheduling algorithms for power constrained Markov lossy channels and show that they can achieve larger stabilizability regions than that with the TDMA scheduler. We first start with two-dimensional systems.

4.5.1 Two-dimensional Systems

The necessary and sufficient condition to ensure the mean square stabilizability for two-dimensional systems controlled over power constrained Markov lossy channels is stated in the following theorem.

Theorem 4.5.1. Suppose n = 2. There exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}$, such that the system (4.1) can be mean square stabilized over the power constrained Markov lossy channel if and only if (4.15) and (4.16) hold.

For the case of two-dimensional systems with eigenvalues of equal magnitude, the communication scheme designed in Section 4.5.2 is shown to be optimal (in the sense that it achieves the largest stabilizability region indicated by the necessary

condition in Theorem 4.3.2); see Corollary 4.5.1. In this subsection, we only provide the optimal communication scheme for two-dimensional systems with eigenvalues having different magnitudes, i.e., $A = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_1 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda_2 \end{bmatrix}$ with $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $|\lambda_1| > |\lambda_2| \ge 1$. In view of Theorem 4.5.1, we only need to prove that the following conditions are sufficient

$$(1 - \mathfrak{q})\lambda_1^2 < 1, \tag{4.32}$$

$$\delta \lambda_1^2 \left[1 + \frac{\mathfrak{p}(\lambda_1^2 - 1)}{1 - (1 - \mathfrak{q})\lambda_1^2} \right] < 1, \tag{4.33}$$

$$\delta^{\frac{1}{2}} |\lambda_1 \lambda_2| \left[1 + \frac{\mathfrak{p}(|\lambda_1 \lambda_2| - 1)}{1 - (1 - \mathfrak{q})|\lambda_1 \lambda_2|} \right] < 1.$$

$$(4.34)$$

Remark 4.5.1. A small δ , a large \mathfrak{q} and a small \mathfrak{p} are always preferred, which correspond to a more reliable channel, and thus can tolerate more unstable systems. This is confirmed from (4.32) (4.33) and (4.34).

4.5.1.1 Optimal Scheduler Design

The communication structure is designed similarly as in Section 4.4 with the same observer/estimator/controller design and the channel encoder/decoder design.

The scheduling Algorithm 4.2 is then proposed, where $\phi = 2 \frac{\ln |\lambda_1| - \ln |\lambda_2|}{\ln \delta}$ and τ_1 is the scheduler parameter to be specified later. Since the switching among transmissions in Algorithm 4.2 relies on the channel state information, which is known to the decoder and the encoder via the channel feedback, we do not need to consider the coordination among encoders and decoders. Algorithm 4.2 is based on the optimal scheduling algorithm for control over power constrained lossy channels in Section 3.4.2, where it is shown that such allocation of channel resources is optimal for the stabilization of two-dimensional systems with i.i.d. channel states. Even though the channel state $\{\gamma_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is correlated over time for the power constrained Markov lossy channel, the sojourn time $\{T_k^*\}_{k>0}$ is i.i.d.. We may study the channel from the perspective of the i.i.d. sojourn time sequence and expect that the Algorithm 4.2 is optimal as well.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Algorithm 4.2: Chasing and Optimal Stopping Scheduler for Power Constrained Markov Lossy Channels

- In the *k*-th round,
 - The first encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel until the transmissions succeed for τ_1 times. Denote the time period to achieve this object as T_k^1 .
 - – If

$$T_k^1 < -\frac{\tau_1}{\phi},\tag{4.35}$$

the second encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel until the transmissions succeed for $\tau_{2,k}$ times with

$$\tau_{2,k} > \tau_1 + (T_k^1 + T_k^2)\phi,$$
(4.36)

where T_k^2 denotes the minimal period of achieving this object.

- Otherwise, set $T_k^2 = 0$ and do not conduct any transmissions.
- Repeat.

The right hand side of (4.36) is the requirement on the minimal successful transmission numbers $\tau_{2,k}$. Even if transmissions fail consecutively, since $\tau_1 + (T_k^1 + t)\phi$ is diminishing with time t, the stopping condition (4.36) would be satisfied eventually, which means T_k^2 is bounded. To make notions clear, we plot the scheduled transmissions and the first round transmission in Figure 4.4 and Figure 4.5, respectively, where the definitions of T_k, T_k^*, T_k^1, T_k^2 and the new symbols \bar{T}_k, \bar{T}_k are summarized in Table 4.1. It is clear from Algorithm 4.2 that \bar{T}_i and \bar{T}_j are i.i.d.; T_i^2 is independent of T_j^2 for any $i \neq j$. Besides, we have $T_1^1 = T_1^* + \ldots + T_{\tau_1}^*, T_1^2 = T_{\tau_1+1}^* + \ldots + T_{\tau_1+\tau_{2,1}}^*$.

$$\check{T}_0 = \underbrace{0 \quad \bar{T}_1 \quad \check{T}_1 \quad \check{T}_{k-1} \quad \bar{T}_k \quad \check{T}_k}_{T_1^1 \quad T_1^2} \cdots \underbrace{\tilde{T}_{k-1} \quad \bar{T}_k \quad \check{T}_k}_{T_k^1 \quad T_k^2} \cdots \underbrace{\tilde{T}_k \quad \check{T}_k}_{T_k^1 \quad T_k^2}$$

Figure 4.4: Scheduled transmissions with Algorithm 4.2

4.0	. STADILIZATION OVER MARINOV LOSSI CHANNEL
$T_k, k \ge 0$	the time when the transmission is successful as defined
	in (4.6)
$T_k^*, k \ge 1$	time duration between two successive successful trans-
	missions as defined in (4.7)
$T_k^1, k \ge 1$	the period to transmit the first encoder/decoder pair in
	the k -th round transmission
$T_k^2, k \ge 1$	the period to transmit the second encoder/decoder pair
	in the k -th round transmission
$\bar{T}_k, k \ge 1$	the total time to complete the k -th round of transmis-
	sions, i.e., $\bar{T}_k = T_k^1 + T_k^2$
$\check{T}_k, k \ge 0$	the time when k rounds of transmissions are completed,
	i.e., $\check{T}_{k} = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \bar{T}_{j}$

Table 4.1: Lists of transmission related definitions

$\check{T}_0 T_1 T_2$	$T_{\tau_1} T_{\tau_1+1} T_{\tau_1+2}$	$T_{\tau_1 + \tau_{2,1}}$
	$\underbrace{\begin{array}{c} 1 \ \tau_1 \\ 1 \ \tau_1 + 1 \end{array}}_{2}$	$-\tau_1 + \tau_{2,1}$
T_{1}^{1}	T_{1}^{2}	

Figure 4.5: The first round transmission with Algorithm 4.2

4.5.1.2 Scheduler Parameter Selection

If (4.32) holds, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_1^{2T_1^*}\right\} = \lambda_1^2 [1 + \frac{\mathfrak{p}(\lambda_1^2 - 1)}{1 - (1 - \mathfrak{q})\lambda_1^2}] > 1.$$

Since $(1 - \mathfrak{q})|\lambda_1\lambda_2| < 1$ from (4.32), if (4.34) holds, we have

$$\delta^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathbb{E}\left\{|\lambda_1\lambda_2|^{T_1^*}\right\} = \delta^{\frac{1}{2}}|\lambda_1\lambda_2|[1 + \frac{\mathfrak{p}(|\lambda_1\lambda_2| - 1)}{1 - (1 - \mathfrak{q})|\lambda_1\lambda_2|}] < 1.$$

Since $\mathbb{E}\{\mathbf{e}^{\theta+bT_1^*}\}$ with $b = 2\ln|\lambda_1| - \phi\theta$ is increasing in θ ; when $\theta = 0$, $\mathbb{E}\{\mathbf{e}^{\theta+bT_1^*}\} = \mathbb{E}\{\lambda_1^{2T_1^*}\} > 1$ and when $\theta = \frac{1}{2}\ln\delta$, $\mathbb{E}\{\mathbf{e}^{\theta+bT_1^*}\} = \delta^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathbb{E}\{|\lambda_1\lambda_2|^{T_1^*}\} < 1$, we know that there exists θ^* with $\frac{1}{2}\ln\delta < \theta^* < 0$, such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathfrak{e}^{\theta^*+bT_1^*}\right\} = 1. \tag{4.37}$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

SINGAPORE

4.5. STABILIZATION OVER MARKOV LOSSY CHANNELS

The scheduler parameter τ_1 is then selected to satisfy

$$\tau_1 > \max\left\{\frac{-2\ln 2 + \theta^*(1-\phi)}{\ln \delta - 2\theta^*}, \frac{-\ln 2}{\ln\left(\delta\lambda_1^2 [1 + \frac{\mathfrak{p}(\lambda_1^2 - 1)}{1 - (1-\mathfrak{q})\lambda_1^2}]\right)}\right\}.$$
(4.38)

4.5.1.3 Sufficiency Proof of Theorem 4.5.1

Denote the event $T_1^1 < -\frac{\tau_1}{\phi}$ as ξ . Let $\mathcal{B}_t = \sum_{i=T_1^1+1}^t \gamma_i$ and $Y_t = \mathfrak{e}^{\theta^* \mathcal{B}_t + bt}$, $t \ge T_1^1 + 1$. For $k > \tau_1$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\left\{Y_{T_{k}}|Y_{T_{k-1}},\ldots,Y_{T_{\tau_{1}}}\right\} = Y_{T_{k-1}}\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\left\{\mathfrak{e}^{\theta^{*}\sum_{t=T_{k-1}+1}^{T_{k}}\gamma_{t}+bT_{k}^{*}}\right\}$$
$$= Y_{T_{k-1}}\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\left\{\mathfrak{e}^{\theta^{*}+bT_{k}^{*}}\right\} \stackrel{(a)}{=} Y_{T_{k-1}},$$

where (a) follows from the fact that $\{T_k^*\}_{k>0}$ are i.i.d. and (4.37). Thus, Y_{T_k} is a martingale in $k > \tau_1$. Then in view of the optional stopping theorem [109], we have $\mathbb{E}\{Y_{T_{\tau_1+\tau_{2,1}}}\} = \mathbb{E}\{Y_{T_{\tau_1+1}}\} = 1$. However, by our stopping condition (4.36), we know that $\mathcal{B}_{T_{\tau_1+\tau_{2,1}}} = \tau_{2,1} = \tau_1 + (T_1^1 + T_1^2)\phi + c$ for some $c \ge 0$. Therefore, $\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\{Y_{T_{\tau_1+\tau_{2,1}}}\} = \mathbb{E}_{\xi}\{\mathbf{e}^{\theta^*\tau_1+\theta^*\phi(T_1^1+T_1^2)+\theta^*c+bT_1^2}\} = 1$, which implies that

$$\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\left\{\mathfrak{e}^{(\theta^*\phi+b)T_1^2}\right\} = \mathbb{E}_{\xi}\left\{\lambda_1^{2T_1^2}\right\} = \mathfrak{e}^{-\theta^*\tau_1 - \theta^*\phi T_1^1 - \theta^*c}.$$
(4.39)

We then show that c is bounded. If at time \check{T}_1 , the transmission is successful, then $\tau_{2,1} - 1 \leq \tau_1 + (\check{T}_1 - 1)\phi$ since the stopping condition (4.36) is not satisfied at time $\check{T}_1 - 1$. In the consideration that $c = \tau_{2,1} - \tau_1 - \check{T}_1\phi$, we have an upper bound for c as $c \leq 1 - \phi$. Similarly, if at time \check{T}_1 , the transmission fails, then $\tau_{2,1} \leq \tau_1 + (\check{T}_1 - 1)\phi$. An upper bound for c is therefore given by $c \leq -\phi$. Thus, in general, an upper bound for c can be given by $c \leq 1 - \phi$.

Since $\theta^* > \frac{1}{2} \ln \delta$, $1 - \frac{\theta^*}{\ln \delta} > 0$, which means $2 \ln |\lambda_1| - 2 \ln |\lambda_2| - \theta^* \phi > 0$. When $T_1^1 \ge -\frac{\tau_1}{\phi}$, we further have $T_1^1(2 \ln |\lambda_1| - 2 \ln |\lambda_2| - \theta^* \phi) > \theta^* \tau_1 - \tau_1 \ln \delta + \theta^* c - \ln 2$. With some manipulations, we can show that when $T_1^1 \ge -\frac{\tau_1}{\phi}$, $\Omega := \lambda_2^{2T_1^1} - 2\lambda_1^{2T_1^1} \mathbf{e}^{-\theta^* \tau_1 - \theta^* \phi T_1^1 - \theta^* c} \delta^{\tau_1} < 0$.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Denote the event that $T_1^1 \ge -\frac{\tau_1}{\phi}$ as ψ . In view of the conditional expectation, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{1}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\delta^{\tau_{1}}+\lambda_{2}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\delta^{\tau_{2,1}}\right\} = \mathbb{E}\left\{\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\left\{\lambda_{1}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\delta^{\tau_{1}}+\lambda_{2}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\delta^{\tau_{2,1}}\right\}\right\} + \mathbb{E}\left\{\mathbb{E}_{\psi}\left\{\lambda_{1}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\delta^{\tau_{1}}+\lambda_{2}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\delta^{\tau_{2,1}}\right\}\right\} \\ \stackrel{(a)}{\leq} \mathbb{E}\left\{\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\left\{2\lambda_{1}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\delta^{\tau_{1}}\right\}\right\} + \mathbb{E}\left\{\mathbb{E}_{\psi}\left\{\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}}\delta^{\tau_{1}}+\lambda_{2}^{2T_{1}^{1}}\right\}\right\} \\ \stackrel{(b)}{\equiv} \mathbb{E}\left\{\mathbb{E}_{\xi}\left\{2\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}}e^{-\theta^{*}\tau_{1}-\theta^{*}\phi T_{1}^{1}-\theta^{*}c}\delta^{\tau_{1}}\right\}\right\} + \mathbb{E}\left\{\mathbb{E}_{\psi}\left\{\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}}\delta^{\tau_{1}}+\lambda_{2}^{2T_{1}^{1}}\right\}\right\} \\ \leq \mathbb{E}\left\{2\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}}e^{-\theta^{*}\tau_{1}-\theta^{*}\phi T_{1}^{1}-\theta^{*}c}\delta^{\tau_{1}}\right\} + \mathbb{E}\left\{\mathbb{E}_{\psi}\left\{\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}}\delta^{\tau_{1}}+\Omega\right\}\right\} \\ \stackrel{(c)}{\leq} \mathbb{E}\left\{2\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}}e^{-\theta^{*}\tau_{1}-\theta^{*}\phi T_{1}^{1}-\theta^{*}c}\delta^{\tau_{1}}\right\} + \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}}\delta^{\tau_{1}}\right\}, \tag{4.40}$$

where (a) follows from (4.35) and (4.36); (b) follows from (4.39) and (c) is due to the fact that when $T_1^1 \ge -\frac{\tau_1}{\phi}$, $\Omega < 0$. Since

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{2\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{1}}\mathbf{\mathfrak{e}}^{-\theta^{*}\tau_{1}-\theta^{*}\phi T_{1}^{1}-\theta^{*}c}\delta^{\tau_{1}}\right\} \stackrel{(a)}{\leq} 2\delta^{\tau_{1}}\mathbf{\mathfrak{e}}^{-\theta^{*}\tau_{1}-\theta^{*}(1-\phi)}\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathbf{\mathfrak{e}}^{bT_{1}^{1}}\right\}$$
$$= 2\delta^{\tau_{1}}\mathbf{\mathfrak{e}}^{-\theta^{*}\tau_{1}-\theta^{*}(1-\phi)}\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathbf{\mathfrak{e}}^{bT_{1}^{*}}\right\}^{\tau_{1}}$$
$$\stackrel{(b)}{=} 2\mathbf{\mathfrak{e}}^{-\theta^{*}(1-\phi)}(\delta\mathbf{\mathfrak{e}}^{-2\theta^{*}})^{\tau_{1}},$$

where (a) follows from the fact that $c \leq 1 - \phi$; (b) follows from (4.37), we have

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{1}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\delta^{\tau_{1}}+\lambda_{2}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\delta^{\tau_{2,1}}\right\}\\ &\leq 2\mathfrak{e}^{-\theta^{*}(1-\phi)}(\delta\mathfrak{e}^{-2\theta^{*}})^{\tau_{1}}+\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{1}^{2T_{1}^{*}}\delta\right\}^{\tau_{1}}\\ &= 2\mathfrak{e}^{-\theta^{*}(1-\phi)}(\delta\mathfrak{e}^{-2\theta^{*}})^{\tau_{1}}+\left(\delta\lambda_{1}^{2}[1+\frac{p(\lambda_{1}^{2}-1)}{1-(1-q)\lambda_{1}^{2}}]\right)^{\tau_{1}}. \end{split}$$

Since $\delta \mathfrak{e}^{-2\theta^*} < 1$, if (4.33) holds and τ_1 is selected to satisfy (4.38), we have $\mathbb{E}\{\lambda_1^{2\bar{T}_1}\delta^{\tau_1} + \lambda_2^{2\bar{T}_1}\delta^{\tau_{2,1}}\} < 1$, which further ensures

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_1^{2\bar{T}_1}\delta^{\tau_1}\right\} < 1, \quad \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_2^{2\bar{T}_1}\delta^{\tau_{2,1}}\right\} < 1.$$
(4.41)

Next, we will show that the randomly sampled sequence $\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,\tilde{T}_{k}}^{2}\right\}, k \geq 0$ is mean square bounded. Conditioned on the sequence $\{\gamma_{\tilde{T}_{k-1}}, \gamma_{\tilde{T}_{k-1}+1}, \ldots, \gamma_{\tilde{T}_{k-1}+\bar{T}_{k}}\}$ and NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY SINGAPORE

from (4.28), we have

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,\tilde{T}_{k}}^{2}\right\} = \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,\tilde{T}_{k-1}+\tilde{T}_{k}}^{2}\right\} \\ &= \prod_{j=0}^{\tilde{T}_{k}-1} \lambda_{1}^{2} \delta^{\gamma_{\tilde{T}_{k-1}+j}} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,\tilde{T}_{k-1}}^{2}\right\} + \sum_{i=0}^{\tilde{T}_{k}-1} \prod_{j=i+1}^{\tilde{T}_{k}-1} \lambda_{1}^{2} \delta^{\gamma_{\tilde{T}_{k-1}+j}} \mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{1,\tilde{T}_{k-1}+i}^{2}\right\} \\ &= \lambda_{1}^{2\tilde{T}_{k}} \delta^{\tau_{1}} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,\tilde{T}_{k-1}}^{2}\right\} + \sum_{i=0}^{\tilde{T}_{k}-1} \prod_{j=i+1}^{\tilde{T}_{k}-1} \lambda_{1}^{2} \delta^{\gamma_{\tilde{T}_{k-1}+j}} \mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{1,\tilde{T}_{k-1}+i}^{2}\right\} \\ &\stackrel{(a)}{\leq} \lambda_{1}^{2\tilde{T}_{k}} \delta^{\tau_{1}} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,\tilde{T}_{k-1}}^{2}\right\} + \sum_{i=0}^{\tilde{T}_{k}-1} \lambda_{1}^{2(\tilde{T}_{k}-i-1)} \mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{1,\tilde{T}_{k-1}+i}^{2}\right\} \\ &\leq \lambda_{1}^{2\tilde{T}_{k}} \delta^{\tau_{1}} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,\tilde{T}_{k-1}}^{2}\right\} + \sup_{t} \mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{1,t}^{2}\right\} \sum_{i=0}^{\tilde{T}_{k}-1} \lambda_{1}^{2(\tilde{T}_{k}-i-1)} \\ &\leq \lambda_{1}^{2\tilde{T}_{k}} \delta^{\tau_{1}} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,\tilde{T}_{k-1}}^{2}\right\} + \sup_{t} \mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{1,t}^{2}\right\} \frac{\lambda_{1}^{2(\tilde{T}_{k}-1)} - \lambda_{1}^{-2}}{1 - \lambda_{1}^{-2}}, \end{split}$$

where (a) follows from the fact that $\delta^{\gamma_k} \leq 1$ for any k. Thus, we have that

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,\tilde{T}_{k}}^{2}\right\} \leq \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{1}^{2\bar{T}_{k}}\delta^{\tau_{1}}\right\} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,\tilde{T}_{k-1}}^{2}\right\} + \sup_{t}\mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{1,t}^{2}\right\} \mathbb{E}\left\{\frac{\lambda_{1}^{2(\bar{T}_{k}-1)} - \lambda_{1}^{-2}}{1 - \lambda_{1}^{-2}}\right\}.$$
 (4.42)

Since $\{\bar{T}_k\}_{k\geq 1}$ are i.i.d., we have $\mathbb{E}\{\lambda_1^{2\bar{T}_k}\delta^{\tau_1}\} < 1$ and $\sup_t \mathbb{E}\{\Phi_{1,t}^2\}\mathbb{E}\{\frac{\lambda_1^{2(\bar{T}_k-1)}-\lambda_1^{-2}}{1-\lambda_1^{-2}}\}$ is bounded from (4.41), then the randomly sampled sequences $\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{1,\bar{T}_k}^2\right\}, k\geq 0$ is bounded from (4.42). Similarly, we can also prove that $\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{2,\bar{T}_k}^2\right\}, k\geq 0$ is bounded. For any t, there must exist k such that $t\in[\bar{T}_k,\bar{T}_{k+1}]$. Thus, conditioned on the lossy process $\{\gamma_t\}_{t\geq 0}$, we obtain that for i=1,2

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,t}^{2}\right\} &= \prod_{j=\check{T}_{k}}^{t-1} \lambda_{i}^{2} \delta^{\gamma_{j}} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,\check{T}_{k}}^{2}\right\} + \sum_{i=0}^{t-\check{T}_{k}-1} \prod_{j=\check{T}_{k}+i+1}^{t-1} \lambda_{i}^{2} \delta^{\gamma_{j}} \mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{i,\check{T}_{k}+i}^{2}\right\} \\ &\leq \lambda^{2(t-\check{T}_{k}-1)} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,\check{T}_{k}}^{2}\right\} + \sup_{t} \mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{i,t}^{2}\right\} \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2(t-\check{T}_{k}-1)} - \lambda_{i}^{-2}}{1-\lambda_{i}^{-2}} \\ &\leq \lambda^{2(\check{T}_{k+1}-\check{T}_{k}-1)} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,\check{T}_{k}}^{2}\right\} + \sup_{t} \mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{i,t}^{2}\right\} \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2(\check{T}_{k}+1-\check{T}_{k}-1)} - \lambda_{i}^{-2}}{1-\lambda_{i}^{-2}} \\ &\leq \lambda^{2(\check{T}_{k}-1)} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,\check{T}_{k}}^{2}\right\} + \sup_{t} \mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{i,t}^{2}\right\} \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2(\check{T}_{k}-1)} - \lambda_{i}^{-2}}{1-\lambda_{i}^{-2}} . \end{split}$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Thus, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,t}^{2}\right\} \leq \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda^{2(\bar{T}_{k}-1)}\right\} \mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,\hat{T}_{k}}^{2}\right\} + \sup_{t} \mathbb{E}\left\{\Phi_{i,t}^{2}\right\} \mathbb{E}\left\{\frac{\lambda_{i}^{2(\bar{T}_{k}-1)} - \lambda_{i}^{-2}}{1 - \lambda_{i}^{-2}}\right\}.$$

Since $\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{i}^{2\bar{T}_{k}}\right\}$ and $\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,\hat{T}_{k}}^{2}\right\}$ are bounded, we know that $\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,t}^{2}\right\}$ is bounded. In view of Lemma 4.4.1, the sufficiency is proved.

4.5.2 High-dimensional Systems

The key difficulty in stabilizing multi-dimensional systems over fading channels is to optimally allocate channel resources among different sub-dynamics. We can show that the desired optimal allocation is determined by the magnitudes of eigenvalues and the realization of the channel fading. To optimally schedule the current transmission, we need to know the future fading realizations as shown in Section 3.4.3, which is not available due to the casualty constraint. For two-dimensional systems, we can adopt Algorithm 4.2 to overcome this problem, which first allocates a constant amount of channel resources to the first sub-dynamics and then optimally stops the transmissions for the second sub-dynamics. But this method is not applicable to three or higher dimensional systems since to optimally stop the transmissions for the second or subsequent sub-dynamics, we need the information of the channel fading realizations from the future transmissions for all the sub-dynamics, which is not possible due to the causal availability of the channel state information. In this subsection, an adaptive TDMA scheduling algorithm is proposed for highdimensional systems, which is adaptive to the lossy process and outperforms the scheduling Algorithm 4.1 as shown later. The adaptive TDMA scheduler is stated in Algorithm 4.3, where τ_1, \ldots, τ_n are scheduler parameters to be specified later.

Let T_k^i denote the period for the *i*-th encoder/decoder pair to achieve τ_i successful transmissions in the *k*-th round and define \overline{T}_k , \check{T}_k analogously as in Section 4.5.1. The scheduled transmissions with Algorithm 4.3 is depicted in Figure 4.6. It is clear

Algorithm 4.3: Adaptive TDMA scheduler for Power Constrained Markov Lossy Channels

- The first encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel, until the transmissions succeed for τ_1 times.
- The second encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel, until the transmissions succeed for τ_2 times.
- . . .
- The *n*-th encoder/decoder pair is scheduled to use the channel, until the transmissions succeed for τ_n times.
- Repeat.



Figure 4.6: Transmissions with the adaptive TDMA scheduler

that T_k^i is independent of T_k^j , and \overline{T}_i and \overline{T}_j are i.i.d. for any $i \neq j$. A sufficient stabilizability result with Algorithm 4.3 is stated in the following theorem.

Theorem 4.5.2. There exist coding and controlling strategies $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0},$ such that the system (4.1) can be mean square stabilized over the power constrained Markov lossy channel, if there exist α_i , $i = 1, \ldots, d$ with $0 < \alpha_i \leq 1$ and $\sum_{i=1}^d \alpha_i = 1$ such that

$$(1-\mathfrak{q})|\lambda_1|^2 < 1,$$
 (4.43)

$$\delta^{\frac{\alpha_i}{\nu_i}} |\lambda_i|^2 \left[1 + \frac{\mathfrak{p}(|\lambda_i|^2 - 1)}{1 - (1 - \mathfrak{q})|\lambda_i|^2}\right] < 1, \tag{4.44}$$

for all i = 1, ..., d.

Proof. Here we only consider the case that $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_d$ are real and $m_i = \nu_1 = 1$. We can easily extend the analysis to other cases by combining the following analysis with similar arguments used in [116]. In view of Lemma 4.3.1, the sufficient condition in

Theorem 4.5.2 is equivalent to the following condition

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_i^{2T_1^*}\right\}\delta^{\alpha_i} < 1, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(4.45)

Let $\iota = \min_i (\log_{\delta} \mathbb{E} \left\{ \lambda_i^{2T_1^*} \right\} + \alpha_i)$. For any α_i , there exists a rational sequence $\{\beta_{i,k}\}_{k\geq 0}$, such that $\lim_{k\to\infty} \beta_{i,k} = \alpha_i$. Then $\lim_{k\to\infty} \frac{\beta_{i,k}}{\sum_j \beta_{j,k}} = \frac{\alpha_i}{\sum_j \alpha_j} = \alpha_i$. Therefore, for the given ι , there exists $M \in \mathbb{N}^+$, such that $\left| \frac{\beta_{i,M}}{\sum_j \beta_{j,M}} - \alpha_i \right| < \iota$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Thus, $\frac{\beta_{i,M}}{\sum_j \beta_{j,M}} > \alpha_i - \iota \ge -\log_{\delta} \mathbb{E} \left\{ \lambda_i^{2T_1^*} \right\}$, which implies

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_i^{2T_1^*}\right\}\delta^{\frac{\beta_{i,M}}{\sum_j\beta_{j,M}}} < 1, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

Since $\beta_{1,M}, \ldots, \beta_{n,M}$ are rational, there exist integers $\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_n, \bar{\tau}$ such that $\beta_{i,M} = \frac{\tau_i}{\bar{\tau}}$ and $\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_i^{2T_1^*}\right\} \delta^{\frac{\tau_i}{\sum_j \tau_j}} < 1$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$, which implies

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{i}^{2\bar{T}_{1}}\delta^{\tau_{i}}\right\} = \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{i}^{2T_{1}^{*}}\right\}^{\tau_{1}+\ldots+\tau_{n}}\delta^{\tau_{i}} < 1.$$

Similar to the proof of Theorem 4.5.1, we can show that the sampled sequence $\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,\tilde{T}_{k}}^{2}\right\}$ is bounded, and further $\mathbb{E}\left\{e_{i,t}^{2}\right\}$ is bounded. In view of Lemma 4.4.1, the sufficiency is proved.

Remark 4.5.2. In view of Lemma 4.3.1, Theorem 4.5.2 can be equivalently stated as: if there exist $\alpha_i s$ with $0 < \alpha_i \leq 1$ and $\sum_{i=1}^d \alpha_i = 1$, such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_i^{2T_1^*}\right\}^{\frac{\nu_i}{\alpha_i}}\delta < 1,\tag{4.46}$$

for i = 1, ..., d, the system is mean square stabilizable. Then the existence of $\alpha_i s$ in Theorem 4.5.2 can be determined as follows. Let $\alpha_i^* = -\nu_i \log_{\delta} \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_i^{2T_1^*}\right\}$, which is the lower bound for any feasible α_i from (4.46). If $\sum_i \alpha_i^* > 1$, there are no feasible $\alpha_i s$. Otherwise, one admissible α_i is given by $\alpha_i = \frac{\alpha_i^*}{\sum_i \alpha_i^*}$.

Remark 4.5.3. Theorem 4.4.1 can be equivalently expressed as: if there exist $\alpha_i s$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

with $0 < \alpha_i \leq 1$ and $\sum_{i=1}^d \alpha_i = 1$, such that

$$\lambda_i^{\frac{2\nu_i}{\alpha_i}}\rho(Q'D_1) < 1, \tag{4.47}$$

for i = 1, ..., d, the system is mean square stabilizable. For power constrained Markov lossy channels, in view of Lemma 4.3.1, (4.47) is equivalent to

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{i}^{\frac{\nu_{i}}{\alpha_{i}}2T_{1}^{*}}\right\}\delta < 1.$$
(4.48)

Since $\mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{i}^{2T_{1}^{*}}\right\}^{\frac{\nu_{i}}{\alpha_{i}}} \leq \mathbb{E}\left\{\lambda_{i}^{\frac{\nu_{i}}{\alpha_{i}}2T_{1}^{*}}\right\}$ from Jensen's inequality, any λ_{i} that satisfies (4.48), must also satisfy (4.46). Thus, the adaptive TDMA scheduler outperforms the TDMA scheduler in the sense that it can tolerate more unstable systems.

When all the strictly unstable eigenvalues have the same magnitude, the sufficient condition in Theorem 4.5.2 coincides with the necessary condition in Theorem 4.3.2, as shown in the following corollary.

Corollary 4.5.1. Suppose $|\lambda_1| = \cdots = |\lambda_{d_u}| = \tilde{\lambda} > 1$ and $|\lambda_{d_u+1}| = \cdots = |\lambda_d| = 1$ with $1 \leq d_u \leq d$. There exists an encoder/decoder pair $\{\mathscr{E}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0}, \{\mathscr{D}_t(\cdot)\}_{t\geq 0},$ such that the system (4.1) can be mean square stabilized over the power constrained Markov lossy channel if and only if

$$\begin{split} (1-\mathfrak{q})\lambda^2 < 1, \\ \delta^{\frac{1}{\nu_1+\ldots+\nu_{d_u}}}\bar{\lambda}^2[1+\frac{\mathfrak{p}(\bar{\lambda}^2-1)}{1-(1-\mathfrak{q})\bar{\lambda}^2}] < 1. \end{split}$$

Remark 4.5.4. As an application of the derived theorems, we have the following extensions.

 When p = 0, q = 1, the power constrained Markov lossy channel degenerates to the AWGN channel, a necessary and sufficient condition to ensure mean square stabilizability from Theorem 4.3.2 and Theorem 4.5.2 is ∑_i ν_i ln |λ_i| < $\frac{1}{2}\ln(1+\frac{\mathcal{P}}{\sigma_{\omega}^2})$, which coincides with the stabilizability condition over AWGN channels in [61, 62].

- If p = 1 − q, we can obtain the stabilizability condition over power constrained lossy channels [110]. We can show that Theorem 4.3.2, Theorem 4.5.1 and Theorem 4.5.2 recover Lemma 1, Theorem 2 and Theorem 1 in [110], respectively.
- For the power constrained Markov lossy channel, taking the limit P → ∞, σ_ω² → 0, we obtain the stabilizability condition for control over Markovian packet loss channel from Theorem 4.3.2 and Theorem 4.5.2 as (1-q)|λ₁|² < 1, which recovers the results in [38,46,117]. Moreover, if p = 1-q, we can further recover the stabilizability condition for control over i.i.d. erasure channels as in [41,48].

4.5.3 Numerical Illustrations

For two-dimensional systems controlled over power constrained Markov lossy channels, suppose P = 3, $\sigma_{\omega}^2 = 1$, the regions for $(\ln |\lambda_1|, \ln |\lambda_2|)$ indicated by the derived necessary conditions and sufficient conditions are plotted in Figure 4.7 under different failure and recovery rates. We plot the necessary stabilizability region and sufficient stabilizability regions achieved with the optimal scheduler, the TDMA scheduler and the adaptive TDMA scheduler for the case $\mathfrak{p} = 0.3$, $\mathfrak{q} = 0.6$. For the cases of $\mathfrak{p} = 0.6$, $\mathfrak{q} = 0.6$ and $\mathfrak{p} = 0.3$, $\mathfrak{q} = 0.9$, only the stabilizability region indicated by the necessity and sufficiency with the optimal scheduler is plotted. The other sufficient stabilizability regions are omitted for clarity but can be plotted in a similarly way as in the case of $\mathfrak{p} = 0.3$, $\mathfrak{q} = 0.6$.

For the given failure and recovery rate, it is clear that the adaptive TDMA scheduler achieves a larger stabilizability region than the TDMA scheduler. When the two eigenvalues are with equal magnitude, the adaptive TDMA scheduler is optimal, which is implied in Corollary 4.5.1. Besides, the optimal scheduling Algorithm 4.2



Figure 4.7: Stabilizability regions for $(\ln |\lambda_1|, \ln |\lambda_2|)$

is tight as proved in Theorem 4.5.1. Moreover, when we increase the failure rate \mathfrak{p} or the recovery rate \mathfrak{q} , the stabilizability region is reduced or enlarged as expected due to the change of the reliability of the communication channel.

4.6 Summary

The chapter studies the mean square stabilization problem of discrete-time LTI systems over Gaussian Markov channels, which suffer from both signal-to-noise ratio constraint and correlated channel fading modeled by a Markov process. The existence of a fundamental limitation for mean square stabilization is firstly established. Sufficient stabilization conditions under a TDMA communication scheme are derived in terms of the stability of a MJLS. Moreover, a necessary and sufficient condition is presented for mean square stabilization of two-dimensional systems controlled over power constrained Markov lossy channels. Furthermore, improved sufficient stabilizability conditions are derived based on an adaptive TDMA communication scheme for general highdimensional systems, which achieves a larger stabilizability region than the TDMA communication scheme.

Part II

Distributed Consensus over Fading Networks

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Chapter 5

Distributed Consensus over Undirected Fading Networks

5.1 Introduction

The previous chapters studied the networked control problem of single-agent systems over fading channels. It is still unknown how the channel fading affects the consensus problem of MASs. Previously, the consensusability problem of MASs has been studied under perfect communication assumptions in [82–85]. However, since fading is unavoidable in wireless networks, which are commonly used by most MASs nowadays, it is necessary to consider its impact on the consensusability of MASs. In this chapter, we consider a distributed consensus problem, in which there are multiple agents that are connected through faded communication channels. Each agent can only receive corrupted information about its neighborhoods' states. The MAS wants to reach an agreement about all the agents' states. We aim to characterize the requirement on fading parameters and the communication topology that can ensure the existence of a linear distributed consensus controller. The derived results would shed light on how the fading communication networks affect distributed control systems.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

The rest of the chapter is organized as follows. Section 5.2 provides background materials and the problem formulation. Section 5.3 deals with the case of identical fading networks, and the mean square consensus problem over non-identical fading networks is discussed in Section 5.4. Section 5.5 provides the numerical simulations and this chapter ends with a summary in Section 5.6.

5.2 Problem Formulation

5.2.1 Communication Graph

In this subsection, we introduce the basis of graph theory used to model multiagent systems. For detailed reference to graph theory, please refer to [118, 119]. A directed graph $\mathcal{G} = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$ is used to characterize the interaction among agents, where $\mathcal{V} = \{1, 2, \dots, N\}$ is the node set representing N agents and $\mathcal{E} \subseteq \mathcal{V} \times \mathcal{V}$ is the edge set with ordered pairs of nodes denoting the information transmission among agents. An edge $(i, j) \in \mathcal{E}$ means that the *i*-th agent can send information to the j-th agent, where node i and node j are called the initial node and terminal node of this edge, respectively. The neighborhood set \mathcal{N}_i of agent *i* is defined as $\mathcal{N}_i = \{j \in \mathcal{V} \mid (j,i) \in \mathcal{E}\}$. A directed path on \mathcal{G} from agent i_1 to agent i_l is a sequence of ordered edges in the form of $(i_k, i_{k+1}) \in \mathcal{E}, k = 1, 2, \dots, l-1$. A directed cycle is a directed path starting and ending at the same node. A graph contains a directed spanning tree if it has at least one node with directed paths to all other nodes. The underlying graph of \mathcal{G} is the graph obtained by treating edges of \mathcal{G} as unordered pairs. The adjacency matrix A_{adj} is defined as $[A_{adj}]_{ii} = 0$, $[A_{adj}]_{ij} = 1$ if $(j, i) \in \mathcal{E}$ and $[A_{adj}]_{ij} = 0$, otherwise. A graph \mathcal{G} is called balanced if and only if $\sum_{j=1}^{N} [A_{adj}]_{ij} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} [A_{adj}]_{ji}$ for all *i*. \mathcal{G} is undirected if $A_{adj} = A'_{adj}$. An undirected graph is connected if there is a path between every pair of distinct nodes. The graph Laplacian matrix \mathcal{L} is defined as $[\mathcal{L}]_{ii} = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{N}_i} [A_{adj}]_{ij}, [\mathcal{L}]_{ij} = -[A_{adj}]_{ij}$ for $i \neq j$. The graph Laplacian \mathcal{L} has the following property.

Lemma 5.2.1 ([80]). All the eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} have non-negative real parts. Zero is a simple eigenvalue of \mathcal{L} with a right eigenvector **1** if and only if \mathcal{G} contains a directed spanning tree.

5.2.2 Consensusability over Fading Networks

The discrete-time dynamics of agent i has the following form

$$x_i(t+1) = Ax_i(t) + Bu_i(t), \quad y_i(t) = Cx_i(t), \tag{5.1}$$

where i = 1, 2, ..., N, and $x_i \in \mathbb{R}^n, y_i \in \mathbb{R}^p, u_i \in \mathbb{R}^m$ represent the agent state, output and control input, respectively. Without loss of generality, we assume *B* has full-column rank and *C* has full-row rank.

The agents communicate information to their neighbors through fading channels. Specifically, in this chapter, we let the *j*-th agent send the information $Cq_j(t) - y_j(t)$ to the *i*-th agent at time *t* with $q_j \in \mathbb{R}^n$ representing the *j*-th agent's controller state as specified later. At the channel output side, the *i*-th agent receives the deteriorated information

$$r_{ij}(t) = \gamma_{ij}(t)(Cq_j(t) - y_j(t)) + \omega_{ij}(t)$$

with γ_{ij} modeling the channel fading and ω_{ij} denoting a zero-mean white communication noise with bounded variance. For simplicity, we assume that all components of $Cq_j(t) - y_j(t)$ are transmitted together over the same fading channel, and do not consider the channel input power constraint in this chapter. Combining all the received information from its neighbors, agent *i* generates the control input by using the following controller

$$q_{i}(t+1) = (A+BK) q_{i}(t) + F \sum_{j \in \mathcal{N}_{i}} \left[\gamma_{ij}(t) \left(Cq_{i}(t) - y_{i}(t) \right) - r_{ij}(t) \right],$$

$$u_{i}(t) = Kq_{i}(t),$$

(5.2)

where i = 1, 2, ..., N, and F and K are controller parameters to be designed.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY


Figure 5.1: Information transmission from agent j to agent i

Remark 5.2.1. The fading factors of MASs appear in the consensus protocol in a similar way as the coupling terms c_{ij} in [120–122], which design adaptive updating laws for c_{ij} to achieve a fully distributed consensus control. However, they are different in the following aspects. Firstly, γ_{ij} in our formulation arises from the channel fading, which is part of the model and is stochastic, while c_{ij} is a design parameter, which is part of the controller in [120–122]. Secondly, we try to determine the relations of the agent dynamics, the network topology and the fading statistics to ensure the existence of a consensus control law, while they aim at designing one admissible consensus protocol to achieve a fully distributed consensus control.

Let $\varepsilon_i = [x_i', q_i']'$, $\varepsilon = [\varepsilon'_1, \varepsilon'_2, \dots, \varepsilon'_N]'$, and define the consensus error as $\delta = \varepsilon - \frac{1}{N}((\mathbf{11'}) \otimes I_{2n})\varepsilon$. The mean square consensus is defined as the mean square boundedness of the consensus error, i.e., $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E}\{\delta(t)\delta(t)'\} \leq M$, where M > 0 is a constant matrix.

We aim to derive conditions on the fading statistics, the agent dynamics and the communication topology under which there exist F and K in the controller (5.2) such that the multi-agent system (5.1) can achieve mean square consensus.

To avoid triviality, we make the following assumption as in Section II.B of [83].

Assumption 5.2.1. All the eigenvalues of A are either on or outside the unit disk.

In this chapter, the mean square consensusability problem is studied under undirected graphs with identical fading networks and non-identical fading networks, respectively. The case with directed graphs is studied in Chapter 6.

5.3 Identical Fading Networks

In this section, we consider the scenario where all the fading channels are identical, which is a reasonable assumption for MASs operating in a small area with similar physical configurations.

Assumption 5.3.1. The channel fading is identical and i.i.d., i.e., $\gamma_{ij}(t) = \gamma(t)$ for all $t \ge 0$, i, j = 1, 2, ..., N, and the sequence $\{\gamma(t)\}_{t\ge 0}$ is i.i.d. with mean μ and variance σ^2 .

Throughout this chapter, if the state of a stochastic dynamical system converges to zero in mean square sense, we say the dynamical system is mean square stable. The error dynamics of δ under Assumption 5.3.1 is $\delta(t+1) = (I \otimes \mathcal{A} + \gamma(t)\mathcal{L} \otimes \mathcal{H})\delta(t) + \mathcal{C}(t)$, with $\mathcal{A} = \begin{bmatrix} A & BK \\ 0 & A+BK \end{bmatrix}$, $\mathcal{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -FC & FC \end{bmatrix}$ and $\mathcal{C}(t) = (I - \frac{1}{N}((\mathbf{11}') \otimes I_{2n}))[\sum_{j=1}^{N}[0', -\omega_{1j}(t)'F'], \dots, \sum_{j=1}^{N}[0', -\omega_{Nj}(t)'F']]'$. Since $\omega_{ij}(t)$ is with bounded variance, so is $\mathcal{C}(t)$. Because the consensusability is defined as the mean square boundedness of δ , if the following dynamics is mean square stable

$$\delta(t+1) = (I_N \otimes \mathcal{A} + \gamma(t)\mathcal{L} \otimes \mathcal{H})\,\delta(t), \tag{5.3}$$

i.e., $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E}\{\delta(t)\delta(t)'\} = 0$, mean square consensus of the MAS can be achieved. Thus we focus on studying the requirement under which system (5.3) is mean square stable. The following lemma, which describes the solvability of a modified Riccati inequality, is critical in networked control over fading channels of a single agent system. The extension of networked control over fading channels from single-agent systems to MASs relies closely on Lemma 5.3.1.

Lemma 5.3.1 ([45]). Under Assumption 5.2.1 and assuming that (C, A) is observable, there exists a solution P > 0 to the following modified Riccati inequality

$$P > APA' - \theta APC'(CPC')^{-1}CPA', \tag{5.4}$$

if and only if θ is greater than a critical value $\theta_c \in [0, 1)$.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Remark 5.3.1. The value θ_c is of great importance for determining the critical erasure probability in Kalman filtering over intermittent channels [41, 45, 123]. It has been shown that the critical value θ_c is only determined by the pair (A, C) [123]. However, an explicit expression of θ_c is only available for some specific situations. For example, it has been shown that when rank(C) = 1, $\theta_c = 1 - \frac{1}{\prod_i |\lambda_i(A)|^2}$ and when C is square and invertible, $\theta_c = 1 - \frac{1}{\max_i |\lambda_i(A)|^2}$. For other cases, the critical value θ_c can be obtained by solving a quasiconvex LMI optimization problem [45].

The basic idea in this subsection is to transform the mean square stabilization problem of (5.3) into an equivalent simultaneous mean square stabilization problem, i.e., to determine whether there exist common control gains F and K that can simultaneously stabilize a series of subdynamics in mean square sense. Let $h = (I_N \otimes \begin{bmatrix} I_n & -I_n \\ 0 & I_n \end{bmatrix})\delta$, then

$$h(t+1) = \left(I_N \otimes \bar{\mathcal{A}} + \gamma(t)\mathcal{L} \otimes \bar{\mathcal{H}}\right)h(t)$$
(5.5)

with $\bar{\mathcal{A}} = \begin{bmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & A+BK \end{bmatrix}$, $\bar{\mathcal{H}} = \begin{bmatrix} FC & 0 \\ -FC & 0 \end{bmatrix}$. The mean square stability of (5.3) is equivalent to that of (5.5). If the undirected graph \mathcal{G} is connected, we can select $\phi_i \in \mathbb{R}^N$ such that $\mathcal{L}\phi_i = \lambda_i\phi_i$ and form the unitary matrix $\Theta = [\mathbf{1}/\sqrt{N}, \phi_2, \phi_3, \dots, \phi_N]$ with diag $(0, \lambda_2, \lambda_3, \dots, \lambda_N) = \Theta'\mathcal{L}\Theta$ and $0 < \lambda_2 \leq \lambda_3 \leq \dots \leq \lambda_N$ [80]. Let $g = [g'_1, g'_2, \dots, g'_N]' = (\Theta' \otimes I_{2n})h$, then $g_1 \equiv 0$ and

$$g_i(t+1) = (\bar{\mathcal{A}} + \lambda_i \gamma(t) \bar{\mathcal{H}}) g_i(t)$$
(5.6)

for i = 2, 3, ..., N. Thus the mean square stability of (5.5) is equivalent to the simultaneous mean square stability of (5.6) with i = 2, 3, ..., N.

In the following, we will show that the mean square stability of (5.6) for any *i* can be obtained from that of a low-dimensional system, which physically implies that dynamic output feedback control has the same effect as state feedback control if the communication topology is undirected and connected.

Lemma 5.3.2. Under Assumptions 5.2.1 & 5.3.1, there exist F and K, such that system (5.6) is mean square stable if and only if (A, B) is controllable and $g_{1i}(t+1) = (A + \lambda_i \gamma(t) FC) g_{1i}(t)$ is mean square stable.

Proof. (Sufficiency) Suppose there exists F, such that $g_{1i}(t+1) = (A+\lambda_i\gamma(t)FC)g_{1i}(t)$ is mean square stable, then there exists $P_{1i} > 0$, such that $P_{1i} > (A+\lambda_i\mu FC)P_{1i}(A+\lambda_i\mu FC)' + \lambda_i^2\sigma^2 FCP_{1i}C'F'$ [49]. Since (A, B) is controllable, there exist $P_{2i} > 0$ and K such that $P_{2i} - (A + BK)P_{2i}(A + BK)' > Q_i$ for any $Q_i > 0$. Let $Q_i = \lambda_i^2(\mu^2 + \sigma^2)FCP_{1i}C'F' + M'_iH_i^{-1}M_i$, $M_i = (A + \lambda_i\mu FC)P_{1i}(\lambda_i\mu FC)' + \lambda_i^2\sigma^2 FCP_{1i}C'F'$, $H_i = P_{1i} - \lambda_i^2\sigma^2 FCP_{1i}C'F' - (A + \lambda_i\mu FC)P_{1i}(A + \lambda_i\mu FC)'$, and $\bar{P}_i = \begin{bmatrix} P_{1i} & 0\\ 0 & P_{2i} \end{bmatrix}$. Based on the Schur complement lemma [124], it is trivial to show that $\bar{P}_i > (\bar{A} + \lambda_i\mu\bar{H})\bar{P}_i(\bar{A} + \lambda_i\mu\bar{H})' + \lambda_i^2\sigma^2\bar{H}\bar{P}_i\bar{H}'$, which implies the mean square stability of (5.6) and thus proves the sufficiency.

(Necessity) Since the system (5.6) is mean square stable, decomposing $g_i = [g'_{1i}, g'_{2i}]'$ as

$$g_{1i}(t+1) = (A + \lambda_i \gamma(t) FC) g_{1i}(t),$$
(5.7)

$$g_{2i}(t+1) = (A+BK) g_{2i}(t) - \lambda_i \gamma(t) F C g_{1i}(t).$$
(5.8)

Then, the subdynamics (5.7) should be mean square stable. Besides, from Lyapunov inequality [125] in probability theory, the mean square stability of (5.6) implies that the first-moment dynamics $\mathbb{E}\{g_i(t+1)\} = \begin{bmatrix} A+\lambda_i\mu FC & 0\\ -\lambda_i\mu FC & A+BK \end{bmatrix} \mathbb{E}\{g_i(t)\}$ is stable, which indicates that A+BK is stable. Thus under Assumption 5.2.1, (A, B) is controllable. This completes the proof of the necessity.

In view of Lemma 5.3.2, we have the following result.

Theorem 5.3.1. Under Assumptions 5.2.1 & 5.3.1, the MAS (5.1) is mean square consensusable by the controller (5.2) under a connected undirected communication topology if (A, B) is controllable, (C, A) is observable, and

$$\theta_1 \triangleq \frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2} \times \left[1 - \left(\frac{\lambda_N - \lambda_2}{\lambda_N + \lambda_2} \right)^2 \right] > \theta_c, \tag{5.9}$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

where θ_c is given in Lemma 5.3.1. Moreover, if (5.9) holds, there exists a solution $P_0 > 0$ to the modified Riccati inequality (5.4) with $\theta = \theta_1$, and a pair of control gains that ensures mean square consensus can be given by

$$F = -\frac{2\mu}{(\lambda_2 + \lambda_N)(\mu^2 + \sigma^2)} AP_0 C' (CP_0 C')^{-1}$$

and any K satisfying that A + BK is stable.

Proof. If (5.9) is satisfied and (C, A) is observable, in view of Lemma 5.3.1, there exists a solution $P_0 > 0$ to the modified Riccati inequality (5.4) with $\theta = \theta_1$. It is trivial to show that $\bar{\theta}_i > \theta_1$ for all i = 2, 3, ..., N with $\bar{\theta}_i = \frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2} \times \frac{4(\lambda_i(\lambda_2 + \lambda_N) - \lambda_i^2)}{(\lambda_N + \lambda_2)^2}$. Thus we have

$$P_0 > AP_0A' - \bar{\theta}_i AP_0C'(CP_0C')^{-1}CP_0A',$$

which can be equivalently formulated as

$$P_0 > AP_0A' + \lambda_i \mu AP_0C'F' + \lambda_i \mu FCP_0A' + \lambda_i^2(\mu^2 + \sigma^2)FCP_0C'F'$$

with $F = -\frac{2\mu}{(\lambda_2 + \lambda_N)(\mu^2 + \sigma^2)} A P_0 C' (CP_0 C')^{-1}$. This implies that

$$g_{1i}(t+1) = (A + \lambda_i \gamma(t) FC) g_{1i}(t)$$

is mean square stable for all i = 2, 3, ..., N. Since (A, B) is controllable, in view of Lemma 5.3.2, we know that (5.6) with i = 2, 3, ..., N are simultaneously mean square stable, which indicates that mean square consensus of MAS (5.1) is achieved and this completes the proof.

In the following, we show that the sufficient condition in Theorem 5.3.1 is also necessary for scalar systems, i.e., n = p = 1. Without loss of generality, let $A = a_0$, $C = 1, F = f_0$. **Theorem 5.3.2.** Under Assumptions 5.2.1 & 5.3.1 and n = p = 1, the MAS (5.1) is mean square consensusable by the controller (5.2) under a connected undirected communication topology if and only if (A, B) is controllable, (C, A) is observable, and (5.9) holds with $\theta_c = 1 - \frac{1}{a_0^2}$.

Proof. Since the sufficiency has been shown in the proof of Theorem 5.3.1, here we only prove the necessity. Since the mean square stability of (5.3) implies the mean square stability of $g_{1i}(t+1) = (a_0 + \lambda_i \gamma(t) f_0) g_{1i}(t)$ for all i = 2, 3, ..., N from the proof of Lemma 5.3.2, we have

$$a_0^2 + 2\lambda_i \mu f_0 a_0 + \lambda_i^2 (\mu^2 + \sigma^2) f_0^2 < 1.$$
(5.10)

By completing the square of (5.10), we have

$$\left(\lambda_i\sqrt{\mu^2+\sigma^2}\frac{f_0}{a_0}+\frac{\mu}{\sqrt{\mu^2+\sigma^2}}\right)^2 < \frac{1}{a_0^2}+\frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2+\sigma^2}-1,$$

which further indicates

$$\underline{\beta}_i < \left| \frac{f_0}{a_0} \right| < \overline{\beta}_i \tag{5.11}$$

with

$$\begin{split} \underline{\beta}_{i} &= \frac{-\sqrt{\frac{1}{a_{0}^{2}} + \frac{\mu^{2}}{\mu^{2} + \sigma^{2}} - 1} + \frac{\mu}{\sqrt{\mu^{2} + \sigma^{2}}}}{\lambda_{i}\sqrt{\mu^{2} + \sigma^{2}}}, \\ \overline{\beta}_{i} &= \frac{\sqrt{\frac{1}{a_{0}^{2}} + \frac{\mu^{2}}{\mu^{2} + \sigma^{2}} - 1} + \frac{\mu}{\sqrt{\mu^{2} + \sigma^{2}}}}{\lambda_{i}\sqrt{\mu^{2} + \sigma^{2}}}. \end{split}$$

Since $g_{1i}(t+1) = (a_0 + \lambda_i \gamma(t) f_0) g_{1i}(t)$ is mean square stable for all $i \in \{2, 3, ..., N\}$, there exists a common $\left|\frac{f_0}{a_0}\right|$, such that (5.11) holds for all i = 2, 3, ..., N. This means $\cap_i(\underline{\beta}_i, \overline{\beta}_i)$ must be non-empty, which implies $\underline{\beta}_2 < \overline{\beta}_N$. Further calculation shows that (5.9) holds with $\theta_c = 1 - \frac{1}{a_0^2}$. The proof is completed. \Box

Remark 5.3.2. If each agent is a single integrator system

$$x_i(t+1) = x_i(t) + u_i(t), i = 1, \dots, N,$$
(5.12)

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

the necessary and sufficient condition in Theorem 5.3.2 becomes

$$\frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2} \left[1 - \left(\frac{\lambda_N - \lambda_2}{\lambda_N + \lambda_2} \right) \right] > 0,$$

which holds naturally. This implies that as long as the undirected graph is connected, the multi-agent system can achieve mean square consensus, irrelevant of the channel fading level. This can be easily verified. If each agent is a single integrator system as in (5.12), the mean square consensus problem is equivalent to the simultaneous mean square stability problem that

$$g_{1i}(t+1) = (1+\lambda_i\gamma(t)f_0)g_{1i}(t), \quad i=2,\ldots,N.$$

To stabilize the above systems, we should find f_0 such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{(1+\lambda_i\gamma(t)f_0)^2\right\} = 1 + 2\lambda_i\mu f_0 + \lambda_i^2(\mu^2 + \sigma^2)f_0^2 < 1,$$
(5.13)

for all i = 2, ..., N. Since $\lambda_i > 0$, the condition (5.13) is equivalent to the requirement that

$$\min_{f_0} \max_{i} 2\mu f_0 + \lambda_i (\mu^2 + \sigma^2) f_0^2 < 0.$$

Since

$$\min_{f_0} \max_{i} 2\mu f_0 + \lambda_i (\mu^2 + \sigma^2) f_0^2 = \min_{f_0} 2\mu f_0 + \lambda_N (\mu^2 + \sigma^2) f_0^2$$
$$= -\frac{\mu^2}{\lambda_N (\mu^2 + \sigma^2)} < 0,$$

for any given $\mu^2, \sigma^2, \lambda_2, \ldots, \lambda_N$, we can always find f_0 such that (5.13) holds simultaneously. Therefore, for single integrator systems, as long as the undirected graph is connected, mean square consensus can be achieved.

Remark 5.3.3. For single-input vector agent dynamics, the sufficient condition might not be necessary. Suppose (5.6) are simultaneously mean square stabilizable,

then in view of Lemma 5.3.2 and Lemma 1 in [49], for each i, $|\det(\Gamma_i)| < 1$ with

$$\Gamma_i = (A' + \lambda_i \mu F'C') \otimes (A' + \lambda_i \mu C'F') + \lambda_i^2 \sigma^2(F'C') \otimes (C'F').$$
(5.14)

Without loss of generality, assuming that the LTI dynamics is already in the canonical observable form with

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 & a_0 \\ 1 & \dots & 0 & a_1 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 1 & a_n \end{bmatrix}, C = \begin{bmatrix} 0; \cdots; 0; 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

and $F = [f_0, f_1, \dots, f_{n-1}]$, in view of Laplace expansion, it is trivial to calculate that

$$\det(\Gamma_i) = (a_0 + \lambda_i \mu f_0)^{2(n-1)} \left(\lambda_i^2 (\mu^2 + \sigma^2) f_0^2 + a_0^2 + 2\lambda_i \mu f_0 a_0\right).$$
(5.15)

Generally, from (5.15), we cannot conclude that (5.10) holds. Thus we cannot show that the sufficient condition is necessary for single-input vector systems as in the proof of Theorem 5.3.2.

Remark 5.3.4. For agent dynamics with rank(C) > 1, the sufficient condition might not be necessary. The following simplified model can be used to demonstrate this point. Consider the systems

$$g_{1i}(t+1) = (A + \lambda_i \gamma(t) FC) g_{1i}(t), \quad i = 2, 3$$

with $\sigma = 0$, $A = \begin{bmatrix} c_1 & 0 \\ 0 & c_2 \end{bmatrix}$, $C = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and $0 < c_1 < c_2$. If the sufficient condition (5.9) is also necessary for mean square stabilization, then the following optimization problem

$$\min_{F}\max_{i}\rho(A+\lambda_{i}\mu FC)$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

returns an optimal value that is less than 1 if and only if

$$c_2 < \frac{\lambda_3 + \lambda_2}{\lambda_3 - \lambda_2}.\tag{5.16}$$

However, numerical evaluation shows that when choosing $c_1 = 2, c_2 = 14, \lambda_1 = 6, \lambda_2 = 7, \mu = 1$, which contradicts the condition (5.16), the optimization problem still returns an optimal value 0.6155, with the argument $F = \begin{bmatrix} -0.3022 & 1.3053 \\ -0.0039 & -2.1593 \end{bmatrix}$. Thus the sufficient condition (5.9) is generally not necessary for the simultaneous mean square stabilization of multiple-input systems.

5.4 Non-identical Fading Networks

In the presence of non-identical fading networks, the consensus error dynamics of δ is $\delta(t+1) = (I_N \otimes \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{L}(t) \otimes \mathcal{H}) \, \delta(t)$ with $[\mathcal{L}(t)]_{ii} = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{N}_i} [\mathcal{L}]_{ij} \gamma_{ij}(t)$, $[\mathcal{L}(t)]_{ij} = [\mathcal{L}]_{ij} \gamma_{ij}(t)$ for $i \neq j$. Since the channel fading γ_{ij} is coupled with elements of the graph Laplacian, the analysis of the mean square consensus is difficult. In the following, we propose to use edge Laplacian instead of graph Laplacian to model the consensus dynamics. This method allows us to separate the fading effect from the network topology by building dynamics on edges rather than on vertexes.

5.4.1 Definition of Edge Laplacian

A virtual orientation of the edge in an undirected graph is an assignment of direction to the edge (i, j) such that one vertex is chosen to be the initial node and the other to be the terminal node. The incidence matrix $E(\mathcal{G})$ for an oriented graph \mathcal{G} is a $\{0, 1, -1\}$ -matrix with rows and columns indexed by vertices and edges of \mathcal{G} , respectively, such that

 $[E(\mathcal{G})]_{ik} = \begin{cases} +1, \text{ if } i \text{ is the initial node of edge } k \\ -1, \text{ if } i \text{ is the terminal node of edge } k \\ 0, \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$

The graph Laplacian \mathcal{L} and edge Laplacian \mathcal{L}_e can be constructed from the incidence matrix respectively as $\mathcal{L} = E(\mathcal{G})E(\mathcal{G})'$, $\mathcal{L}_e = E(\mathcal{G})'E(\mathcal{G})$ [126]. In this section, the consensus problem is studied under an undirected tree topology setting, where the eigenvalues of the edge Laplacian \mathcal{L}_e are the non-zero eigenvalues of the graph Laplacian \mathcal{L} , i.e., $\lambda_2, \lambda_3, \ldots, \lambda_N$ [127]. Note that for the case with general connected undirected graphs, it is sufficient to study the mean square consensus over an arbitrary tree subgraph in the communication topology. We limit our attention to the state feedback case in this section.

Suppose agent k sends the information x_k through the fading channel to agent j, and the j-th agent receives the corrupted information as $r_{jk}(t) = \gamma_{jk}(t)x_k(t) + \omega_{jk}(t)$, where γ_{jk} represents the fading effect and ω_{jk} denotes a zero-mean white communication noise with bounded variance. The controller for agent j is designed as

$$u_{j}(t) = K \sum_{k \in \mathcal{N}_{j}} \left(\gamma_{jk}(t) x_{j}(t) - r_{jk}(t) \right).$$
(5.17)

Define the state on the *i*-th edge as $z_i = x_j - x_k$, with *j*, *k* representing the initial node and the terminal node of the *i*-th edge, respectively. Similarly, when only mean square consensus is considered, ω_{jk} can be neglected without loss of generality. Assume that the fading on the same edge is equal, i.e., $\gamma_{jk} = \gamma_{kj}$, which makes sense in practice [99]. Following the definition of the incidence matrix, the controller (5.17) can be alternatively represented as $u_j(t) = K \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} e_{jk} \zeta_k(t) z_k(t)$, where ζ_k denotes the fading effect on the *k*-th edge and e_{jk} is the *jk*-th element of $E(\mathcal{G})$. If we define $z = [z'_1, z'_2, \ldots, z'_{N-1}]'$, the closed-loop dynamics on edges can be calculated as

$$z(t+1) = (I_{N-1} \otimes A + \mathcal{L}_e \zeta(t) \otimes BK) z(t)$$
(5.18)

with $\zeta = \operatorname{diag}(\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \ldots, \zeta_{N-1}).$

If (5.18) is mean square stable, the mean square consensus of the MAS (5.1) can be achieved, i.e., $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E}\{\|x_i(t) - x_j(t)\|^2\} = 0, \forall i, j \in \mathcal{V}$. Thus in the following, we focus on studying the mean square stability of (5.18), and the following assumption is made. Assumption 5.4.1. The channel fading sequence $\{\zeta_i(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ is i.i.d. with mean μ_i and variance σ_i^2 for all i = 1, 2, ..., N - 1.

5.4.2 Sufficient Consensus Conditions

Under Assumption 5.4.1, we can derive a necessary and sufficient condition to ensure the mean square stability of (5.18).

Lemma 5.4.1. Under Assumption 5.4.1, the system (5.18) is mean square stable if and only if there exist K and P > 0, such that

$$P > (I \otimes A + \mathcal{L}_e \Lambda \otimes BK)' P (I \otimes A + \mathcal{L}_e \Lambda \otimes BK) + (I \otimes K)' G (I \otimes K)$$
(5.19)

with $G = (\Sigma \otimes \mathbf{11'}) \odot ((\mathcal{L}_e \otimes B)' P(\mathcal{L}_e \otimes B)), \ \Sigma = [\sigma_{ij}]_{(N-1)\times(N-1)}, \ \sigma_{ij} = \mathbb{E}\{(\zeta_i - \mu_i)(\zeta_j - \mu_j)\}$ for $i \neq j, \ \sigma_{ii} = \sigma_i^2$ and $\Lambda = \operatorname{diag}(\mu_1, \mu_2, \dots, \mu_{N-1}).$

Proof. This result is immediate from Lemma 1 in [49] by noting that $\mathcal{L}_e\zeta(t)\otimes BK = (\mathcal{L}_e\otimes B)(\zeta(t)\otimes I)(I\otimes K)$ and treating $I_{N-1}\otimes A$, $\mathcal{L}_e\otimes B$, $I\otimes K$ and $\zeta(t)\otimes I$ as the system matrix, input matrix, output matrix and fading effects of the MIMO system studied in [49] respectively.

However, (5.19) cannot provide any physical insights into the mean square consensusability problem. In the following, we try to obtain some analytic conditions to ensure mean square consensus of the MAS (5.1) under controller (5.17). Similar to Lemma 5.3.1, we have the following result.

Lemma 5.4.2. [45] Under Assumption 5.2.1 and assuming that (A, B) is controllable, there exists a solution P > 0 to the following modified Riccati inequality

$$P > A'PA - \tau A'PB(B'PB)^{-1}B'PA \tag{5.20}$$

if and only if τ is greater than a critical value $\tau_c \in [0, 1)$.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

The consensusability result is stated in Theorem 5.4.1.

Theorem 5.4.1. Under Assumptions 5.2.1 & 5.4.1, the multi-agent system (5.1) is mean square consensusable by the controller (5.17) under an undirected tree topology if there exists κ , such that

$$\kappa \left(\mathcal{L}_e \Lambda + \Lambda \mathcal{L}_e \right) + \kappa^2 \left(\Lambda \mathcal{L}_e^2 \Lambda + \Sigma \odot \mathcal{L}_e^2 \right) < -\tau_c I, \qquad (5.21)$$

where τ_c is given in Lemma 5.4.2. Moreover, if such κ exists, there exists a solution $P_0 > 0$ to the modified Riccati inequality (5.20), with τ being the smallest eigenvalue of $-\kappa \left(\mathcal{L}_e \Lambda + \Lambda \mathcal{L}_e\right) - \kappa^2 \left(\Lambda \mathcal{L}_e^2 \Lambda + \Sigma \odot \mathcal{L}_e^2\right)$, and a control gain that ensures the mean square consensus can be given by $K = \kappa (B'P_0B)^{-1}B'P_0A$.

Proof. If (5.21) is satisfied, in view of the solvability of (5.20), one can show that there exists $P_0 > 0$ to the matrix inequality

$$I \otimes P_0 > I \otimes A' P_0 A$$

+ $(\kappa (\mathcal{L}_e \Lambda + \Lambda \mathcal{L}_e) + \kappa^2 (\Lambda \mathcal{L}_e^2 \Lambda + \Sigma \odot \mathcal{L}_e^2)) \otimes A' P_0 B (B' P_0 B)^{-1} B' P_0 A,$

which actually is (5.19) with $K = \kappa (B'P_0B)^{-1}B'P_0A$ and $P = I \otimes P_0 > 0$. In view of Lemma 5.4.1, the proof is completed.

Remark 5.4.1. If all the channel fading is identical, i.e., $\zeta_i(t) = \zeta_0(t)$, $\forall i = 1, 2, ..., N - 1$ and $\mathbb{E}\{\zeta_0(t)\} = \mu, \mathbb{E}\{(\zeta_0(t) - \mu)^2\} = \sigma^2$, (5.21) is equivalent to $\min_{\kappa} \max_i \kappa^2(\mu^2 + \sigma^2)\lambda_i^2 + 2\kappa\mu\lambda_i < -\tau_c$, which further implies $\frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2} \left[1 - \left(\frac{\lambda_N - \lambda_2}{\lambda_N + \lambda_2}\right)^2\right] > \tau_c$. This is consistent with Theorem 5.3.1.

Theorem 5.4.1 implies that mean square consensusability is determined by the edge Laplacian, the fading statistics and the agent dynamics. In the following, we will show that under specific situations, the sufficient condition (5.21) can be further simplified.

A. The case of $\Lambda = \mu I$

With the help of Theorem 5.5.1 in [128], we can obtain a relaxed sufficient consensus condition as: there exists κ , such that $2\kappa\mu\lambda_2 + \kappa^2\lambda_N^2(\mu^2 + \rho(\Sigma)) < -\tau_c$. Since the minimum of the left hand side of the previous inequality is achieved at $\kappa = -\frac{\mu}{\mu^2 + \rho(\Sigma)}\frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_N^2}$ with the minimal value $-\frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \rho(\Sigma)}\frac{\lambda_2^2}{\lambda_N^2}$, we have the following corollary.

Corollary 5.4.1. Under Assumptions 5.2.1 & 5.4.1 and if $\Lambda = \mu I$, the MAS (5.1) is mean square consensusable by the controller (5.17) under an undirected tree topology if

$$\tau_1 \triangleq \frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \rho(\Sigma)} \frac{\lambda_2^2}{\lambda_N^2} > \tau_c, \qquad (5.22)$$

where τ_c is given in Lemma 5.4.2. Moreover, if (5.22) holds, there exists a solution $P_0 > 0$ to the modified Riccati inequality (5.20) with $\tau = \tau_1$, and a control gain that ensures mean square consensus can be given by $K = -\frac{\mu}{\mu^2 + \rho(\Sigma)} \frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_N^2} (B'P_0B)^{-1} B'P_0A$.

Remark 5.4.2. If the channel fading is uncorrelated with each other, the left hand side of (5.22) can be alternatively represented as $\lambda_2^2/(\lambda_N^2 \max_i \left[1 + \frac{\sigma_i^2}{\mu^2}\right])$. Since $\arg \max_i \left[1 + \frac{\sigma_i^2}{\mu^2}\right] = \arg \min_i \left[\frac{1}{2}\ln(1 + \frac{\mu^2}{\sigma_i^2})\right]$, the condition (5.22) implies that the consensusability is constrained by the eigenratio of the graph [83] and the minimal mean square channel capacity [48] among all fading channels.

B. The case of $\Lambda \neq \mu I$

If $\Lambda \neq \mu I$, it is difficult to determine the eigenvalues of $\Lambda \mathcal{L}_e + \mathcal{L}_e \Lambda$. In the following, we will show that if

$$2\max_{i}|\mu_{i} - \frac{1}{2}| < \frac{\lambda_{2}}{\lambda_{N}},\tag{5.23}$$

then $\Lambda \mathcal{L}_e + \mathcal{L}_e \Lambda$ is positive definite, and we can further derive a relaxed sufficient condition to ensure mean square consensus for the scenario of $\Lambda \neq \mu I$.

Corollary 5.4.2. Under Assumptions 5.2.1 & 5.4.1 and if (5.23) holds, the multiagent system (5.1) is mean square consensusable by the controller (5.17) under an undirected tree topology if

$$\tau_2 \triangleq \frac{1}{\max_i[\mu_i^2] + \rho(\Sigma)} \frac{\hat{\lambda}_2^2}{4\lambda_N^2} > \tau_c, \qquad (5.24)$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

where τ_c is given in Lemma 5.4.2, and $\hat{\lambda}_2$ is the smallest positive eigenvalue of $\Lambda \mathcal{L}_e + \mathcal{L}_e \Lambda$. Moreover, if (5.24) holds, there exists a solution $P_0 > 0$ to the modified Riccati inequality (5.20) with $\tau = \tau_2$, and a control gain that ensures mean square consensus can be given by $K = -\frac{1}{\max_i [\mu_i^2] + \rho(\Sigma)} \frac{\hat{\lambda}_2}{2\lambda_N^2} (B'P_0B)^{-1}B'P_0A$.

Proof. Let $\hat{\lambda}_2 \leq \hat{\lambda}_3 \leq \ldots \leq \hat{\lambda}_N$ be the ordered eigenvalues of $\Lambda \mathcal{L}_e + \mathcal{L}_e \Lambda$. Following Exercise 2 after Corollary 6.3.4 in [115], one can conclude that

$$\begin{aligned} |\hat{\lambda}_2 - \lambda_2| &\leq \|(\Lambda - \frac{1}{2}I)\mathcal{L}_e + \mathcal{L}_e(\Lambda - \frac{1}{2}I)\|_2 \\ &\leq 2\|\Lambda - \frac{1}{2}I\|_2\|\mathcal{L}_e\|_2 \\ &\leq 2\max_i |\mu_i - \frac{1}{2}|\lambda_N. \end{aligned}$$

If (5.23) holds, then $|\hat{\lambda}_2 - \lambda_2| < \lambda_2$, which means $0 < \hat{\lambda}_2 < 2\lambda_2$. Since $\hat{\lambda}_2$ is the smallest eigenvalue of $\Lambda \mathcal{L}_e + \mathcal{L}_e \Lambda$, all the eigenvalues of $\Lambda \mathcal{L}_e + \mathcal{L}_e \Lambda$ are positive. Thus $\Lambda \mathcal{L}_e + \mathcal{L}_e \Lambda$ is positive definite. Besides, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^{N-1}$, we have

$$x'\Lambda\mathcal{L}_e^2\Lambda x \le \lambda_N^2(\Lambda x)'(\Lambda x) = \lambda_N^2 x'\Lambda'\Lambda x \le \lambda_N^2 \max_i [\mu_i^2] x'x.$$

Based on the positive definiteness of $\Lambda \mathcal{L}_e + \mathcal{L}_e \Lambda$ and the fact that $\Lambda \mathcal{L}_e^2 \Lambda \leq \lambda_N^2 \max_i [\mu_i^2] I$, we can obtain a sufficient condition for (5.21) as

$$\min_{\kappa} \left[\kappa \hat{\lambda}_2 + \kappa^2 (\max_i \left[\mu_i^2 \right] + \rho(\Sigma)) \lambda_N^2 \right] < -\tau_c.$$
(5.25)

Following a similar line of argument as in the derivation of Corollary 5.4.1, we can obtain (5.24) from (5.25). The proof is completed.

Remark 5.4.3. For general channel fading that does not satisfy (5.23), the consensusability condition would be more complicated. However, if we adopt the controller of the form $u_j(t) = K \sum_{k \in \mathcal{N}_j} \kappa_k (\gamma_{jk}(t)x_j(t) - r_{jk}(t))$ for each agent j, the dynamics for z would be $z(t + 1) = (I_{N-1} \otimes A + \mathcal{L}_e \zeta(t) \mathcal{K} \otimes BK) z(t)$, with $\mathcal{K} =$ diag $(\kappa_1, \kappa_2, \ldots, \kappa_{N-1})$. Then by appropriately selecting the gain matrix \mathcal{K} , one can

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

equalize the first moment of the channel fading statistics, thus we can obtain a sufficient consensus condition as in the scenario of $\Lambda = \mu I$.

Remark 5.4.4. One can easily show the consistency among the derived results. The results derived for non-identical fading networks always recover the results for identical fading networks, i.e., under certain situations, Corollary 5.4.2 implies Corollary 5.4.1, and Corollary 5.4.1 implies Theorem 5.3.1.

5.5 Simulations

In this section, numerical simulations are conducted to verify the derived results. The parameters for the LTI dynamics (5.1) is given by

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 1.1830 - 0.1421 - 0.0399\\ 0.1764 & 0.8641 & -0.0394\\ 0.1419 - 0.1098 & 0.9689 \end{bmatrix}, B = \begin{bmatrix} 0.2, 0.1, -0.5 \end{bmatrix}', C = \begin{bmatrix} 1.3, 1.4, 1.5 \end{bmatrix}$$

with $\lambda(A) = \{1.0086, 1.0068, 1.0006\}$ and $\theta_c = \tau_c = 0.0314$. In the following, simulations are conducted under two cases: identical fading networks with an undirected graph, non-identical fading networks with an undirected tree graph. In simulations, the initial system states are randomly generated from the uniform distribution on the interval (0, 0.5). All the fadings are assumed to satisfy the Rayleigh distribution with probability density function $f(x; \sigma_p) = \frac{x}{\sigma_p^2} e^{-x^2/(2\sigma_p^2)}$, where $x \ge 0$ and σ_p is the parameter for the Rayleigh distribution to be specified later in each simulation. The channel additive noise is drawn from a zero-mean normal distribution with variance one. The simulation results are presented by averaging over 1000 runs.

Consider the consensus problem over identical fading networks with an undirected graph, where the communication topology is given in Figure 5.2, and the identical channel fading is assumed to follow Rayleigh distribution with the parameter $\sigma_p = 5$. In view of Theorem 5.3.1, the MAS is mean square consensusable and one pair of control gains can be selected as F = [-0.0209, 0.0014, -0.0243]',



Figure 5.2: Communication topology for an undirected graph

K = [0.1183, -0.2153, 0.0915]. The mean square consensus error for agent 1 is plotted in Figure 5.3.



Figure 5.3: Mean square consensus error for agent 1 under an undirected communication topology with identical fading networks

For the case of consensus over non-identical fading networks, the communication topology is assumed to be the same as in Figure 5.2, and the Rayleigh fading statistics on the communication links 1 - 2, 1 - 3, 1 - 4 are $\sigma_{p_{12}} = 0.4980$, $\sigma_{p_{13}} = 0.4950$, $\sigma_{p_{14}} = 0.4900$, respectively. We assume that the channel fading is uncorrelated, and the sufficient condition to ensure mean square consensus in Corollary 5.4.2 is satisfied. One controller gain is K = [0.4608, -0.6829, 0.2069]. The mean square consensus error for agent 1 is shown in Figure 5.4.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY



Figure 5.4: Mean square consensus error for agent 1 under an undirected tree topology with non-identical fading networks

Remark 5.5.1. Note that the tolerable Rayleigh fading statistics for the third simulation is smaller than the previous two simulations. This is because the fading parameters should satisfy the prerequisite (5.23), which in Corollary 5.4.2 is sufficient only, and is adopted to deal with the complexity caused by $\Lambda \neq \mu I$. Nevertheless, as noted in Remark 5.4.3, this limitation can be removed by adding more design freedom to the controller.

5.6 Summary

This chapter studies the consensusability problem of discrete-time linear MASs over undirected fading networks. It aims to decide whether there exists a distributed controller such that the underlying MAS can achieve mean square consensus over fading channels. Conditions to ensure mean square consensus are derived for the scenarios of undirected communication topologies with identical fading networks and undirected communications topologies with non-identical fading networks, respectively. For scalar systems, the sufficient condition is shown to be necessary. The

results indicate that the effect of fading networks on consensusability is determined by the statistics of channel fading. Finally, simulations are conducted to validate the theoretical results.

Chapter 6

Distributed Consensus over Directed Fading Networks

6.1 Introduction

In Chapter 5, we consider MASs over fading channels with an undirected graph setting. For consensus over identical fading networks, a decomposition method is used and the mean square consensus problem is transformed to a simultaneous mean square stabilization problem. For consensus over non-identical fading networks, the edge Laplacian defined for undirected graphs by [129] is introduced to model the consensus error dynamics. Then sufficient mean square consensus conditions are developed. However, since the graph Laplacian for directed graphs may contain complex eigenvalues and there are no well-accepted definitions of edge Laplacian for directed graphs, the method in Chapter 5 on undirected graphs for identical and non-identical fading networks cannot be extended directly to directed graph cases. In this chapter, we define the CIIM, CIM and CEL to study the mean square consensus problem over fading networks with directed graphs. Sufficient and necessary conditions for the mean square consensus are derived and the role of network topology on the mean square consensusability is discussed. This chapter is organized as follows. The problem formulation is provided in Section 6.2. The consensus problem over identical fading networks is studied in Section 6.3. The definitions and properties of CIIM, CIM and CEL are discussed in Section 6.4. The consensus problem over non-identical fading networks is further studied in Section 6.5. Simulations are provided in Section 6.6 followed by some concluding remarks in Section 6.7.

6.2 **Problem Formulation**

A directed graph $\mathcal{G} = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$ is used to characterize the interaction among agents as in Section 5.2.1. The discrete-time dynamics of agent *i* is given by

$$x_i(t+1) = Ax_i(t) + Bu_i(t), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, N$$
(6.1)

where $x_i \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $u_i \in \mathbb{R}^m$ represent the agent state and control input, respectively. Agents communicate through fading channels. Specifically, if $(j, i) \in \mathcal{E}$, we let agent j send its state to agent i at every sampling time. The agent i then receives the corrupted information $r_{ij}(t)$ as

$$r_{ij}(t) = \gamma_{ij}(t)x_j(t) + \omega_{ij}(t)$$

with γ_{ij} modeling the channel fading and ω_{ij} representing the zero-mean additive communication noise with bounded variance. Based on the received information and its own state, agent *i* generates the control input with the consensus protocol below

$$u_{i}(t) = K \sum_{j \in \mathcal{N}_{i}} (\gamma_{ij}(t) x_{i}(t) - r_{ij}(t)), \qquad (6.2)$$

where K is the consensus parameter to be designed.

In this chapter, we are interested in the consensusability problem, i.e., we aim to establish conditions on the fading statistics, the agent dynamics and the communication topology under which there exists K in the protocol (6.2) such that the MAS (6.1) can achieve mean square consensus, i.e., $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E}\{\|x_i(t) - x_j(t)\|_2^2\} < c$ for some positive constant c and any i, j in \mathcal{V} . In view of results in [80, 83], the following assumption is made without loss of generality.

- **Assumption 6.2.1.** 1. (A, B) is controllable and all the eigenvalues of A are either on or outside the unit disk.
 - 2. The directed graph \mathcal{G} contains a directed spanning tree.

6.3 Identical Fading Networks

In this section, we consider the scenario where the channel fading on different edges is identical.

Assumption 6.3.1. The channel fading on different edges is identical, i.e., $\gamma_{ij}(t) = \gamma(t)$ for all $t \ge 0$ with $(j,i) \in \mathcal{E}$, and the sequence $\{\gamma(t)\}_{t\ge 0}$ is i.i.d. with mean μ and variance σ^2 .

In view of the analysis in Chapter 5, when only mean square consensus is considered, the additive noise ω_{ij} can be ignored without loss of generality. Throughout this chapter, if the state of a stochastic dynamical system converges to zero in mean square sense, we say that the dynamical system is mean square stable.

6.3.1 Consensus Error Dynamics

Under Assumption 6.3.1 and the consensus protocol (6.2), the agent dynamics is $x_i(t+1) = Ax_i(t) + \gamma(t)BK \sum_{j \in \mathcal{N}_i} (x_i(t) - x_j(t))$, where the additive noise has been ignored. Let $X = [x'_1, x'_2, \ldots, x'_N]'$, then following the definitions of the graph Laplacian, we have $X(t+1) = (I \otimes A + \gamma(t)\mathcal{L} \otimes BK)X(t)$. Let h' be the left eigenvector of \mathcal{L} associated with the zero eigenvalue, satisfying $h'\mathbf{1} = 1$, and define the consensus error as $\delta = X - ((\mathbf{1}h') \otimes I)X$. The consensus error evolves as

$$\delta(t+1) = (I - \mathbf{1}r' \otimes I)(I \otimes A + \gamma(t)\mathcal{L} \otimes BK)X(t)$$

$$= (I \otimes A + \gamma(t)\mathcal{L} \otimes BK)X(t) - \mathbf{1}h' \otimes AX(t)$$
$$= (I \otimes A + \gamma(t)\mathcal{L} \otimes BK)\delta(t).$$
(6.3)

If there exists K, such that (6.3) is mean square stable, i.e., $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E} \{\delta(t)\delta(t)'\} = 0$, mean square consensus of the MAS (6.1) can be achieved. Since \mathcal{G} contains a directed spanning tree, in view of Lemma 5.2.1, the graph Laplacian has the Jordan decomposition $U^{-1}\mathcal{L}U = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \Delta \end{bmatrix}$ with $U^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} h' \\ G \end{bmatrix}$, $U = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{1}, Y \end{bmatrix}$ for some matrices G, Y and all the diagonal elements of Δ are the non-zero eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} . Define the coordinate transformation $g = [g'_1, g'_2, \dots, g'_N]' = (U^{-1} \otimes I)\delta$, then $g_1(t) \equiv 0$ and $[g_2(t+1)', \dots, g_N(t+1)']' = (I_{N-1} \otimes A + \gamma(t)\Delta \otimes BK)[g_2(t)', \dots, g_N(t)']'$.

Let $\lambda_2, \ldots, \lambda_N$ be the non-zero eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} arranged as $|\lambda_2| \leq \ldots \leq |\lambda_N|$. Then we have the following result.

Lemma 6.3.1. If the following dynamics are simultaneously mean square stable,

$$g_i(t+1) = (A + \gamma(t)\lambda_i BK)g_i(t), \quad i = 2, \dots, N,$$
(6.4)

i.e., $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E}\{g_i(t)g_i(t)^*\} = 0$ for all $i = 2, \ldots, N$, then $\lim_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{E}\{\delta(t)\delta(t)'\} = 0$.

Proof. In view of the above analysis, we only need to prove that if (6.4) are simultaneously mean square stable, then $[g_2(t)', \ldots, g_N(t)']'$ is mean square stable. Here we only consider the case that $\Delta = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_2 & 1 \\ 0 & \lambda_3 \end{bmatrix}$. Induction can then be used to prove the result for high dimensional systems. If $g_i(t+1) = (A + \lambda_i \gamma(t)BK)g_i(t), i = 2, 3$, are mean square stable, then in view of Lemma 1 in [49], there exist $P_2 > 0$ and $P_3 > 0$, such that

$$P_2 > (A + \lambda_2 \mu BK)^* P_2 (A + \lambda_2 \mu BK) + \lambda_2^* \lambda_2 \sigma^2 K' B' P_2 BK,$$

$$P_3 > (A + \lambda_3 \mu BK)^* P_3 (A + \lambda_3 \mu BK) + \lambda_3^* \lambda_3 \sigma^2 K' B' P_3 BK.$$

Thus there exists $\beta > 0$ such that

$$P_3 > (A + \lambda_3 \mu BK)^* P_3 (A + \lambda_3 \mu BK) + \lambda_3^* \lambda_3 \sigma^2 K' B' P_3 BK + \beta I.$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Select α to be sufficiently large such that

$$\alpha\beta I > (\mu^2 + \sigma^2)K'B'P_2BK + \mathcal{S}^*(P - \mathcal{M})\mathcal{S},$$

where $S = (A + \lambda_2 \mu BK)^* P_2 \mu BK + \lambda_2 \sigma^2 K' B' P_2 BK$ and $\mathcal{M} = (A + \lambda_2 \mu BK)^* P_2 (A + \lambda_2 \mu BK) + \lambda_2^* \lambda_2 \sigma^2 K' B' P_2 BK$. Let $P = \begin{bmatrix} P_2 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha P_3 \end{bmatrix}$. In view of Schur complement lemma, we can show that

$$P > (I \otimes A + \mu \triangle \otimes BK)^* P(I \otimes A + \mu \triangle \otimes BK) + \sigma^2(\triangle \otimes BK)^* P(\triangle \otimes BK).$$

Therefore, in view of Lemma 1 in [49], $[g_2(t+1)', g_3(t+1)']' = (I \otimes A + \gamma(t) \triangle \otimes BK)[g_2(t)', g_3(t)']'$ is mean square stable. The proof is completed. \Box

Therefore in the sequel, we shall focus on studying the simultaneous mean square stabilizability of (6.4).

6.3.2 Consensusability Results

Theorem 6.3.1. Under Assumptions 6.2.1 and 6.3.1, the MAS (6.1) is mean square consensusable by the protocol (6.2) under a directed communication topology, if the following condition is satisfied

$$\tau_1 := \frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2} \left[1 - \min_{k \in \mathbb{R}} \max_{i \in \{2, \dots, N\}} |k\lambda_i + 1|^2 \right] > \tau_c, \tag{6.5}$$

where τ_c is defined in Lemma 5.4.2. Moreover, if (6.5) holds, there exists a solution $P_0 > 0$ to (5.20) with $\tau = \tau_1$, and a control parameter that ensures the mean square consensus can be given by $K = \frac{\mu k_1}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2} (B'P_0B)^{-1}B'P_0A$ with $k_1 = \arg\min_{k \in \mathbb{R}} \max_i |k\lambda_i + 1|^2$.

Proof. If (6.5) holds, then

$$-\tau_1 = \max_i \frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2} (|\frac{\mu^2 + \sigma^2}{\mu} \eta \lambda_i + 1|^2 - 1)$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

$$= \max_{i} \eta^{2} (\mu^{2} + \sigma^{2}) \lambda_{i}^{*} \lambda_{i} + 2\eta \mu \operatorname{Re}(\lambda_{i}) < -\tau_{c}$$

with $\eta = \frac{\mu k_1}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2}$. In view of Lemma 5.4.2, there exists a $P_0 > 0$ such that

$$P_{0} > A'P_{0}A - \tau_{1}A'P_{0}B(B'P_{0}B)^{-1}B'P_{0}A$$

> $A'P_{0}A + (\eta^{2}(\mu^{2} + \sigma^{2})\lambda_{i}^{*}\lambda_{i} + 2\eta\mu\operatorname{Re}(\lambda_{i}))A'P_{0}B(B'P_{0}B)^{-1}B'P_{0}A$

for all i = 2, ..., N, which also implies the existence of $P_0 > 0$ and $K = \eta (B'P_0B)^{-1}B'P_0A$ such that

$$P_0 > (A + \lambda_i \mu BK)^* P_0 (A + \lambda_i \mu BK) + \lambda_i^* \lambda_i \sigma^2 K' B' P_0 BK$$

for all i = 2, ..., N. Thus from Lemma 1 in [49], we know that (6.4) is mean square stable for all i = 2, ..., N. This further implies that the mean square consensus is achieved. The proof is completed.

Remark 6.3.1. Suppose all the agents are with single input, i.e., m = 1, then from [45], $\tau_c = 1 - \frac{1}{\prod_i |\lambda_i(A)|^2}$ with $\lambda_i(A)$ being the unstable eigenvalue of A. In the following, we will show the consistency between the mean square consensus condition (6.5) and some existing results.

- Networked control over fading channels: For a single agent, the mean square consensus problem simplifies to the mean square stabilization problem and (6.5) implies Π_i |λ_i(A)|² < μ²/σ² + 1, which recovers the necessary and sufficient stabilizability condition for networked control systems over fading channels in [48].
- 2. Consensus with perfect communication channels: If the communication channel is perfect, i.e., $\sigma^2 = 0$, $\mu = 1$, then (6.5) degenerates to $\min_{k \in \mathbb{R}} \max_i |k\lambda_i + 1| < \frac{1}{\prod_i |\lambda_i(A)|}$, which is the necessary and sufficient consensus condition for MASs over directed graphs [83].
- 3. Consensus over identical fading networks with undirected graphs: If the graph is undirected, then $0 < \lambda_2 \leq \ldots \leq \lambda_N$ [80]. Therefore $\min_{k \in \mathbb{R}} \max_i |k\lambda_i| + \lambda_i$

6.3. IDENTICAL FADING NETWORKS

 $1| = \frac{\lambda_N - \lambda_2}{\lambda_N + \lambda_2}$. Thus a sufficient condition to ensure mean square consensus over identical fading networks with undirected graphs from (6.5) is $\frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2} [1 - (\frac{\lambda_N - \lambda_2}{\lambda_N + \lambda_2})^2] < 1 - \frac{1}{\prod_i |\lambda_i(A)|^2}$, which has been proved in Chapter 5 and shown to be necessary when all agents are with scalar dynamics.

In the following, we prove that the sufficient condition in Theorem 6.3.1 is also necessary when all agents are with scalar dynamics and the graph is directed, i.e., n = m = 1. Without loss of generality, let $A = a_0$, B = 1 and $K = k_0$.

Theorem 6.3.2. Under Assumptions 6.2.1 and 6.3.1 and if n = m = 1, the MAS (6.1) is mean square consensusable by the protocol (6.2) under a directed communication topology, if and only if (6.5) is satisfied with $\tau_c = 1 - \frac{1}{a_0^2}$.

Proof. The sufficiency follows from Theorem 6.3.1. Only the necessity is proved here. In view of the previous analysis, for scalar agent dynamics, the MAS (6.1) is mean square consensusable if and only if $g_i(t+1) = (a_0 + \gamma(t)\lambda_i k_0)g_i(t)$ is simultaneously mean square stabilizable for all i = 2, ..., N, which also implies that there exists $k_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, such that

$$\mathbb{E}\{|a_0 + \gamma(t)\lambda_i k_0|^2\} = |\lambda_i|^2(\mu^2 + \sigma^2)k_0^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}(\lambda_i)\mu a_0k_0 + a_0^2 < 1$$

for all $i = 2, \ldots, N$ or equivalently

$$\min_{k_0} \max_{i} |\lambda_i|^2 (\mu^2 + \sigma^2) k_0^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}(\lambda_i) \mu a_0 k_0 + a_0^2 < 1,$$

which actually is (6.5) with $\tau_c = 1 - \frac{1}{a_0^2}$ and $k = \frac{k_0(\mu^2 + \sigma^2)}{\mu a_0}$. The proof is completed. \Box

The sufficient consensus condition (6.5) involves solving a minimax optimization problem, which cannot be explicitly derived for general directed graphs. In the following, we propose to use the Lyapunov method to derive an explicitly sufficient consensus condition for balanced directed graphs, which is directly expressed in terms of the eigenvalues of the Laplacian matrix and avoids to solve an optimization problem.

6.3.3 Balanced Directed Graph Cases

The consensusability result for the MAS (6.1) under a balanced directed graph is stated in Theorem 6.3.3.

Theorem 6.3.3. Under Assumptions 6.2.1 and 6.3.1, the MAS (6.1) is mean square consensusable by the protocol (6.2) under a directed communication topology, if the directed graph is balanced and

$$\tau_2 \triangleq \frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2} \times \frac{\tilde{\lambda}_2^2}{\eta} > \tau_c \tag{6.6}$$

where τ_c is given in Lemma 5.4.2, $\eta = \rho(\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L})$ and $\tilde{\lambda}_2$ denotes the smallest positive eigenvalue of $\mathcal{L}_s = (\mathcal{L} + \mathcal{L}')/2$. Moreover, if (6.6) holds, there exists a solution $P_0 > 0$ to the modified Riccati inequality (5.20) with $\tau = \tau_2$, and a control gain that ensures mean square consensus is given by

$$K = -\frac{\mu}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2} \frac{\tilde{\lambda}_2}{\eta} (B' P_0 B)^{-1} B' P_0 A.$$

Proof. Lyapunov methods will be used to show the mean square stability of (6.3) and thus to prove the sufficiency. Define the Lyapunov function candidate $V(t) = \mathbb{E}\{\delta(t)'(I_N \otimes P)\delta(t)\}$, where P > 0. We can choose K as $K = -\kappa(B'PB)^{-1}B'PA$ with $\kappa > 0$. Then $A'PBK = K'B'PA = -\kappa A'PB(B'PB)^{-1}B'PA$, which implies

$$V(t+1) = \mathbb{E}\{\delta(t+1)'(I_N \otimes P)\delta(t+1)\}$$

$$\leq \mathbb{E}\{\delta(t)'(I_N \otimes A'PA + 2\mu\mathcal{L}_s \otimes K'B'PA + \eta(\mu^2 + \sigma^2)I_N \otimes K'B'PBK)\delta(t)\}.$$
(6.7)

Since the balanced directed graph \mathcal{G} contains a directed spanning tree, \mathcal{L}_s is a valid graph Laplacian matrix for a connected undirected graph [130]. Thus we can select $\tilde{\phi}_i \in \mathbb{R}^N$ such that $\mathcal{L}_s \tilde{\phi}_i = \tilde{\lambda}_i \tilde{\phi}_i$, with $0 = \tilde{\lambda}_1 < \tilde{\lambda}_2 \leq \ldots \leq \tilde{\lambda}_N$ and form the unitary matrix $\tilde{\Theta} = [\mathbf{1}/\sqrt{N}, \tilde{\phi}_2, \tilde{\phi}_3, \ldots, \tilde{\phi}_N]$, with $\operatorname{diag}(\tilde{\lambda}_1, \tilde{\lambda}_2, \ldots, \tilde{\lambda}_N) = \tilde{\Theta}' \mathcal{L}_s \tilde{\Theta}$. Introduce the state transformation $\tilde{f} = (\tilde{\Theta}' \otimes I_N)\delta$ with $\tilde{f} = [\tilde{f}'_1, \tilde{f}'_2, \ldots, \tilde{f}'_N]'$, then $\tilde{f}_1 \equiv 0$,

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

and (6.7) becomes

$$V(t+1) \le \sum_{i=2}^{N} \mathbb{E}\{\tilde{f}_{i}(t)'(A'PA + 2\mu\tilde{\lambda}_{i}K'B'PA + \eta(\mu^{2} + \sigma^{2})K'B'PBK)\tilde{f}_{i}(t)\}.$$
 (6.8)

Let $\alpha_i = 2\mu\tilde{\lambda}_i\kappa - \eta(\mu^2 + \sigma^2)\kappa^2$, then $Q_i = A'PA + 2\mu\tilde{\lambda}_iK'B'PA + \eta(\mu^2 + \sigma^2)K'B'PBK = A'PA - \alpha_iA'PB(B'PB)^{-1}B'PA$. If (6.6) is satisfied, there exists $\kappa = \frac{\mu}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2}\frac{\tilde{\lambda}_2}{\eta}$, such that $\alpha_2 > \tau_c$. Further, since (A, B) is controllable, in view of Lemma 5.4.2, there exist P > 0 and a sufficiently small $\zeta > 0$ such that $(1 - \zeta)P - Q_2 > 0$. Since $\alpha_i \ge \alpha_2, (1 - \zeta)P - Q_i > 0$ for all $i = 2, 3, \ldots, N$.

Thus there exists P > 0, with $(1-\zeta)P > A'PA+2\mu\tilde{\lambda}_i K'B'PA+\eta(\mu^2+\sigma^2)K'B'PBK$ for all i = 2, 3, ..., N. Further from (6.8), one can obtain that $V(t+1) \leq (1-\zeta)\sum_{i=1}^N \mathbb{E}\{\tilde{f}_i(t)'P\tilde{f}_i(t)\} = (1-\zeta)\mathbb{E}\{\delta(t)'(I_N \otimes P)\delta(t)\} = (1-\zeta)V(t)$. Thus V(t)converges to zero exponentially and this completes the proof. \Box

When the fading network is non-identical, if we still use the graph Laplacian to model the consensus error dynamics, the channel fading would be coupled with elements of the graph Laplacian. As a result, it is difficult to analyze the consensusability condition. In the following section, we propose CIIM \bar{E} , CIM E and CEL \mathcal{L}_e , and analyze their properties. Subsequently, it will be shown that with such definitions, we can remodel the consensus error dynamics and linearly separate the channel fading from the network topology.

6.4 Definitions and Properties of CIIM, CIM and CEL

6.4.1 Definitions of CIIM, CIM and CEL

If two agents *i* and *j* can communicate with each other, i.e., $(i, j) \in \mathcal{E}$ and $(j, i) \in \mathcal{E}$, we call the link between them a bidirectional edge. Otherwise, we call the edge between them (if exists) a directed edge. The total number of edges in the graph is represented by \mathcal{F} , where a bidirectional edge is only counted once. Thus $\mathcal{F} \leq |\mathcal{E}|$ and $\mathcal{F} = |\mathcal{E}|$ if and only if there are no bidirectional edges in \mathcal{G} . Firstly, by arbitrarily applying an orientation to every bidirectional edge in \mathcal{G} , the CIIM and CIM are defined as follows.

Definition 6.4.1. The CIIM \overline{E} and CIM E are $N \times \mathcal{F}$ matrices with rows and columns indexed by nodes and edges of \mathcal{G} respectively, such that

- If the edge e_p connecting two nodes i, j is bidirectional and the orientated edge is with initial node j and terminal node i, then
 - (a) $[\bar{E}]_{lp} = 1$ for l = j, $[\bar{E}]_{lp} = -1$ for l = i, and $[\bar{E}]_{lp} = 0$ otherwise.
 - (b) $[E]_{lp} = 1$ for l = j, $[E]_{lp} = -1$ for l = i, and $[E]_{lp} = 0$ otherwise.
- If the edge e_p is a directed edge, and is with initial node j and terminal node i, then

(a)
$$[\bar{E}]_{lp} = -1$$
 for $l = i$ and $[\bar{E}]_{lp} = 0$ otherwise.

(b) $[E]_{lp} = 1$ for l = j, $[E]_{lp} = -1$ for l = i, and $[E]_{lp} = 0$ otherwise.

With the defined CIIM and CIM, CEL is defined as follows.

Definition 6.4.2. The CEL of \mathcal{G} is defined as

$$\mathcal{L}_e = E'\bar{E}.$$

Remark 6.4.1. Different from definitions of in-incidence matrix (IIM), incidence matrix (IM) and directed edge Laplacian (DEL) for directed graphs in [131, 132], the CIIM, CIM and CEL defined in this chapter treat a bidirectional edge only as one virtually oriented edge, rather than two directed edges with opposite directions. With such consideration, the dimension of the CEL is no larger than that of the DEL, which would make the analysis and design of MASs simpler especially when

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

numbers of agents and bidirectional edges are large. Moreover, CEL can degenerate to the edge Laplacian for undirected graphs in [129], which is not possible for the DEL. Thus the consistency of results for undirected graphs derived with CEL and undirected edge Laplacian [129] can be guaranteed.



Figure 6.1: (i) A directed graph with a bidirectional edge; (ii) Treat the bidirectional edges as two edges with opposite directions; (iii) Apply an orientation and treat the bidirectional edge as one virtually oriented edge

Take the directed graph in Figure 6.1(i) as an example. Follow the definitions in [132], the IIM E_{IIM} and IM E_{IM} are 3×3 matrices with rows and columns indexed by the node set $\{1, 2, 3\}$ and the edge set $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$ as illustrated in Figure 6.1(ii) and the DEL is given by $\mathcal{L}_{\text{DEL}} = E'_{\text{IM}}E_{\text{IIM}}$. Nevertheless, the CIIM \overline{E} , CIM E are 3×2 matrices with rows and columns indexed by the node set $\{1, 2, 3\}$ and the edge set $\{e_1, e_2\}$ as illustrated in Figure 6.1(iii), where a dashed line is used to represent a bidirectional edge with an arbitrarily chosen direction. The expressions of these matrices are listed below.

$$E_{\text{IIM}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \bar{E} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \mathcal{L}_{\text{DEL}} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 & 0 \\ -1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$
$$E_{\text{IM}} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, E = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathcal{L}_e = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

It is immediate from the above that the dimension of \mathcal{L}_e is smaller than that of \mathcal{L}_{DEL} . In the following we will analyze the properties of the CIIM, CIM and CEL and show that some desired properties are still preserved.

118

6.4.2

We have the following result about the rank of the CIM. The proof is similar to that of Theorem 8.3.1 in [118] and is omitted here.

Proposition 6.4.1. When the directed graph contains a directed spanning tree, $\operatorname{rank}(E) = N - 1.$

The graph Laplacian \mathcal{L} for \mathcal{G} can be reconstructed from the CIIM and CIM as follows.

Proposition 6.4.2. The graph Laplacian \mathcal{L} has the following expression

$$\mathcal{L}=\bar{E}E'.$$

Proof. Firstly, consider the off-diagonal elements of EE'. Suppose $i \neq j$ and there is a directed edge l connecting the node i and node j, with j being the initial node and i the terminal node of edge l. Then the l-th element of $[\bar{E}]_{rowi}$ is -1. The other elements of $[\bar{E}]_{rowi}$ can either be 1 (*i* as an initial node of an oriented bidirectional edge), -1 (*i* as an terminal node of an edge¹), or 0 (otherwise). Similarly, the *l*th element of $[E]_{rowj}$ is 1. The other elements of $[E]_{rowj}$ can either be 1 (j as an initial node of an edge), -1 (j as an terminal node of an edge), or 0 (otherwise). Since $[\bar{E}E']_{ij} = \sum_{p=1}^{\mathcal{F}} [\bar{E}]_{ip} [E]_{jp}$ and $[\bar{E}]_{il} [E]_{jl} = -1$. In the following we will show that for $p \neq l$, $[\bar{E}]_{ip}[E]_{jp} = 0$. Suppose, for $p \neq l$, $[\bar{E}]_{ip}[E]_{jp} \neq 0$, then the pair $([\bar{E}]_{ip}, [E]_{jp})$ can only be of four possibilities: $[\bar{E}]_{ip} = 1, [E]_{jp} = 1; [\bar{E}]_{ip} = 1,$ $[E]_{jp} = -1; \ [\bar{E}]_{ip} = -1, \ [E]_{jp} = 1 \text{ and } \ [\bar{E}]_{ip} = -1, \ [E]_{jp} = -1.$ The first scenario $[\bar{E}]_{ip} = 1, [E]_{jp} = 1$ and the fourth scenario $[\bar{E}]_{ip} = -1, [E]_{jp} = -1$ are not possible, since any edge p can only have one initial or terminal node. The second scenario $[E]_{ip} = 1, [E]_{jp} = -1$ is also not possible since there is only a directed edge l from node j to node i. There are no other edges connecting the two nodes i and j. The third scenario $[\bar{E}]_{ip} = -1$, $[E]_{jp} = 1$ is possible only for p = l, which violates the

¹Without specifications, an edge means either a directed edge or an oriented bidirectional edge.

assumption that $p \neq l$. Thus when there is a directed edge from node j to node i, $[\bar{E}E]_{ij} = -1.$

Suppose there is a bidirectional edge l connecting node i and node j and a virtual orientation is assigned to this bidirectional edge. Without loss of generality, let j be assigned as the initial node and i as the terminal node. Similar to the analysis for directed edges, we can show that $[\bar{E}E']_{ij} = -1$. Now consider the term $[\bar{E}E']_{ji}$. Since the edge l is bidirectional, the l-th elements of $[\bar{E}]_{\text{row}j}$ and $[E]_{\text{row}i}$ are 1 and -1, respectively. Thus $[\bar{E}]_{jl}[E]_{il} = -1$. Using similar arguments for directed edges, we can prove that for $p \neq l$, $[\bar{E}]_{jp}[E]_{ip} = 0$. Thus $[\bar{E}E']_{ji} = -1$. Therefore if two nodes i and j are connected via a bidirectional edge, $[\bar{E}E']_{ij} = [\bar{E}E']_{ji} = -1$.

Similarly, when there are no edges connecting node i and node j, $[\bar{E}]_{ip}[E]_{jp} = 0$ for any edge p. Thus $[\bar{E}E']_{ij} = 0$. Consequently, from the definition of graph Laplacian, we have $[\mathcal{L}]_{ij} = [\bar{E}E']_{ij}$ for $i \neq j$.

Now consider the diagonal element of $\bar{E}E'$. Since $[\bar{E}E']_{ii} = \sum_{p=1}^{\mathcal{F}} [\bar{E}]_{ip} [E]_{ip}$, and $[\bar{E}]_{ip} [E]_{ip}$ can only be 1 or 0 in view of the definition of CIIM and CIM. There are two situations that may result in $[\bar{E}]_{ip} [E]_{ip} = 1$: $[\bar{E}]_{ip} = 1$, $E_{ip} = 1$ (*i* as the initial node of an oriented bidirectional edge), $[\bar{E}]_{ip} = -1$, $E_{ip} = -1$ (*i* as the terminal node of an edge). Thus the value of $[\bar{E}E']_{ii}$ equals the sum of the number of bidirectional edges that is connected to node *i* and the number of directed edges in which *i* serves as a terminal node. Thus, from the definition of the graph Laplacian, $[\bar{E}E']_{ii} = [\mathcal{L}]_{ii}$. Based on the above analysis, we have $\mathcal{L} = \bar{E}E'$. The proof is completed.

In view of Definition 6.4.2 and Proposition 6.4.2, we further have the following result about the eigenvalue distribution of CEL.

Proposition 6.4.3. The CEL \mathcal{L}_e and the graph Laplacian \mathcal{L} share the same nonzero eigenvalues. If \mathcal{G} contains a directed spanning tree, then \mathcal{L}_e contains exactly N-1 nonzero eigenvalues which are all in the open right-half plane and zero, if exists, is a semi-simple eigenvalue².

²The geometric multiplicity of a semi-simple eigenvalue equals to its algebraic multiplicity.

Proof. Suppose λ is a nonzero eigenvalue of \mathcal{L} with the associated non-zero right eigenvector q. In view of Proposition 6.4.2, we have $\bar{E}E'q = \lambda q$. Since $\lambda q \neq 0$, $\bar{q} = E'q \neq 0$. Left multiply $\bar{E}E'q = \lambda q$ with E', we can obtain that $E'\bar{E}E'q = \lambda E'q$, which implies $\mathcal{L}_e\bar{q} = \lambda\bar{q}$. Thus λ is also a non-zero eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_e . Similarly, we can prove that any non-zero eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_e is also a non-zero eigenvalue of \mathcal{L} . Thus the graph Laplacian \mathcal{L} and the CEL \mathcal{L}_e share the same nonzero eigenvalues.

If the directed graph contains a directed spanning tree, from Lemma 5.2.1, we can further draw the conclusion that the CEL contains exactly N-1 nonzero eigenvalues, which are all in the open right-half plane. Thus $\operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{L}_e) \geq N-1$. Since $\mathcal{L}_e = E'\bar{E}$, we have $\operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{L}_e) \leq \operatorname{rank}(E') = N-1$ from Proposition 6.4.1. Thus $\operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{L}_e) =$ N-1. In view of the rank-nullity theorem, we have that $\operatorname{null}(\mathcal{L}_e) = \mathcal{F} - N + 1$. Thus the geometric multiplicity of the zero eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_e is $\mathcal{F} - N + 1$. Since the algebraic multiplicity of the zero eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_e is $\mathcal{F} - N + 1$, we know that the geometric multiplicity of the zero eigenvalue of \mathcal{L}_e equals to its algebraic multiplicity. The proof is completed.

With appropriate indexing of edges, we can write the CIIM \bar{E} and CIM E respectively as $\bar{E} = [\bar{E}_{\tau}, \bar{E}_c]$ and $E = [E_{\tau}, E_c]$, where edges in \bar{E}_{τ}, E_{τ} are on a directed spanning tree and the remaining edges are in \bar{E}_c, E_c . Analogous to the property of the incidence matrix for undirected graphs in [129], we can reconstruct E_c with E_{τ} from the following proposition.

Proposition 6.4.4. When \mathcal{G} contains a directed spanning tree, there exists a matrix S, such that $E_c = E_{\tau}S$.

Define the matrix R = [I, S], then we can decompose \mathcal{L}_e as in the following proposition.

Proposition 6.4.5. If \mathcal{G} contains a directed spanning tree, then \mathcal{L}_e is similar to the following matrix

$$\begin{bmatrix} MR' & M\theta \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0}_{(\mathcal{F}-N+1)\times(\mathcal{F}-N+1)} \end{bmatrix},$$

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

where $M = E'_{\tau} \bar{E}$ and θ is the orthonormal basis of the null space of E. The nonzero eigenvalues of \mathcal{L}_e are equal to those of MR'.

Proof. Since the directed graph contains a directed spanning tree, $\operatorname{rank}(E) = N - 1$ from Proposition 6.4.1. We thus have $\dim(\theta) = \dim(\operatorname{null}(E)) = \mathcal{F} - N + 1$ and $\theta'\theta = I_{\mathcal{F}-N+1}$. In view of the definition of R, we know that $E\theta = E_{\tau}R\theta = 0$. Since E_{τ} is the CIM of a directed spanning tree, in view of Proposition 6.4.1, we have that $\operatorname{rank}(E_{\tau}) = N - 1$. Thus there exists a transformation matrix O, such that $E_{\tau} = O[\tilde{E}_{\tau(N-1)\times(N-1)}, \mathbf{0}'_{1\times(N-1)}]'$ with $\operatorname{rank}(\tilde{E}_{\tau}) = N - 1$. Then we have that $\tilde{E}_{\tau}R\theta = \mathbf{0}$. Since \tilde{E}_{τ} is invertible, we further have $R\theta = \mathbf{0}$.

Define the matrix $T = [R', \theta]$, $Q = [R'(RR')^{-1}, \theta]'$. Since $R\theta = \mathbf{0}$, every column in R' is orthogonal to the columns of θ . Thus the columns in R' are independent of the columns in θ . Then rank $(T) = \mathcal{F}$ and T is invertible. Since $R\theta = 0$, the direct multiplication shows that QT = I, thus $T^{-1} = Q$.

Applying the similarity transformation to \mathcal{L}_e with Q, T, we obtain that

$$Q\mathcal{L}_e T = \begin{bmatrix} MR' \, M\theta \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Since the dimension of MR' is $(N-1) \times (N-1)$, and when the directed graph contains a directed spanning tree, \mathcal{L}_e has N-1 non-zero eigenvalues, we know that the N-1 nonzero eigenvalues of \mathcal{L}_e equals to those of MR'. The proof is completed.

6.5 Non-identical Fading Networks

With the aid of CIIM, CIM and CEL, we can remodel the consensus error dynamics in terms of edge states and linearly separate the channel fading from the network topology. Since fading is mostly caused by path loss and shadowing from obstacles, for simplicity we can assume that the fadings on the bidirectional edge are equal, i.e., $\gamma_{ij}(t) = \gamma_{ji}(t)$ if j and i are connected via a bidirectional edge, which makes sense in practical applications [99]. For general channel fading models, where $\gamma_{ij} \neq \gamma_{ji}$, the DEL can be used to formulate the consensus dynamics and similar analysis methods proposed in this section can be applicable to the study of the consensusability problem. Therefore we can use a single-letter ζ_p to characterize the fading noise on the p-th edge, i.e., $\zeta_p = \gamma_{ij}$ if the edge p is with initial node j and terminal node i. Firstly, apply an orientation to every bidirectional edge in the graph and define the state on the l-th edge as $z_l = x_j - x_i$, with j and i being the initial and terminal node of the l-th edge, respectively. Then the dynamics of z_l based on (6.1) and (6.2) is

$$z_{l}(t+1) = Az_{l}(t) + B[u_{j}(t) - u_{i}(t)]$$

$$\stackrel{(a)}{=} Az_{l}(t) + BK \sum_{p=1}^{\mathcal{F}} \zeta_{p}(t)([\bar{E}]_{jp} - [\bar{E}]_{ip})z_{p}(t)$$

$$\stackrel{(b)}{=} Az_{l}(t) + BK \sum_{p=1}^{\mathcal{F}} \zeta_{p}(t)[E'\bar{E}]_{lp}z_{p}(t),$$

where the additive noise has been ignored; (a) follows from $\sum_{s\in\mathcal{N}_j}\gamma_{js}(t)(x_j(t) - x_s(t)) = \sum_{p=1}^{\mathcal{F}} \zeta_p(t)[\bar{E}]_{jp} z_p(t)$ and $\sum_{h\in\mathcal{N}_i}\gamma_{ih}(t)(x_i(t) - x_h(t)) = \sum_{p=1}^{\mathcal{F}} \zeta_p(t)[\bar{E}]_{ip} z_p(t)$ and (b) follows from the fact that $[E'\bar{E}]_{lp} = \sum_{s=1}^{N} [E]_{sl}[\bar{E}]_{sp} = [E]_{jl}[\bar{E}]_{jp} + [E]_{il}[\bar{E}]_{ip} = [\bar{E}]_{jp} - [\bar{E}]_{ip}$. Let $z = [z'_1, z'_2, \ldots, z'_{\mathcal{F}}]'$, then we have

$$z(t+1) = (I \otimes A + E'\bar{E}\zeta(t) \otimes BK)z(t)$$
$$= (I \otimes A + \mathcal{L}_e\zeta(t) \otimes BK)z(t), \tag{6.9}$$

where $\zeta(t) = \operatorname{diag}(\zeta_1(t), \ldots, \zeta_{\mathcal{F}}(t)).$

Suppose there is a directed cycle in \mathcal{G} , the sum of edge states on the directed cycle always equals zero, which imposes a constraint on the edge state z. We can further verify that as long as there is a cycle in the underlying graph of \mathcal{G} , such constraints always exist. Thus not all edge states are free variables. This is illustrated in the following proposition.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

Proposition 6.5.1. If \mathcal{G} contains a directed spanning tree, then $z_c = (S' \otimes I)z_{\tau}$, where z_{τ} is the edge state on the directed spanning tree and z_c is the remaining edge state.

Proof. Suppose the edges in \mathcal{G} are indexed such that $E = [E_{\tau}, E_c]$ and $\overline{E} = [\overline{E}_{\tau}, \overline{E}_c]$. The edge states can be partitioned correspondingly as $z = [z'_{\tau}, z'_c]'$. From the definition of the CIM E, we know that the edge states z and the node states x are related by $z = (E' \otimes I)x$. Thus we have $[z'_{\tau}, z'_c]' = ([E_{\tau}, E_c]' \otimes I)x, z_{\tau} = (E'_{\tau} \otimes I)x$ and $z_c = (E'_c \otimes I)x$. In view of Proposition 6.4.4, we have $E_c = E_{\tau}S$. Then $z_c = ((S'E'_{\tau}) \otimes I)x = (S' \otimes I)(E'_{\tau} \otimes I)x = (S' \otimes I)z_{\tau}$. The proof is completed. \Box

For brevity, we call z_c the cycle edge states since the edges associated with z_c necessarily complete cycles in the underlying graph of \mathcal{G} . Proposition 6.5.1 implies that cycle edge states can be reconstructed from the tree edge states. Thus we can make a decomposition and further simplify the edge dynamics (6.9). Since $z = [z'_{\tau}, z'_c]'$, we have from (6.9) that

$$z_{\tau}(t+1) = (I \otimes A)z_{\tau}(t) + (E'_{\tau}\bar{E}_{\tau}\zeta_{\tau}(t) \otimes BK)z_{\tau}(t) + (E'_{\tau}\bar{E}_{c}\zeta_{c}(t) \otimes BK)z_{c}(t)$$

$$\stackrel{(a)}{=} (I \otimes A + (E'_{\tau}\bar{E}_{\tau}\zeta_{\tau}(t) + E'_{\tau}\bar{E}_{c}\zeta_{c}(t)S') \otimes BK)z_{\tau}(t)$$

$$= (I \otimes A + M\zeta(t)R' \otimes BK)z_{\tau}(t), \qquad (6.10)$$

where ζ_{τ}, ζ_{c} represent the fading noise on directed spanning tree edges and cycle edges, respectively and (a) follows from Proposition 6.5.1.

Since the graph contains a directed spanning tree, in view of the definition of the edge state z, if (6.9) is mean square stable, mean square consensus can be achieved. Based on Proposition 6.5.1, the stability property of (6.9) is determined by (6.10). Thus in the following, we shall focus on studying the mean square stability of (6.10). In the subsequent analysis, we make the following assumption about the fading noise ζ_i , $i = 1, \ldots, F$.

Assumption 6.5.1. The channel fading sequence $\{\zeta_i(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ is i.i.d. with mean μ_i and variance σ_i^2 for all $i = 1, 2, ..., \mathcal{F}$.

Analogous to the proof of Lemma 5.4.1 in Chapter 5, we can show that a necessary and sufficient condition to ensure the mean square stabilizability of (6.10) is given as below.

Lemma 6.5.1. Under Assumptions 6.2.1 and 6.5.1, (6.10) is mean square stable if and only if there exist P > 0 and K such that

$$P > (I \otimes A + M\Lambda R' \otimes BK)' P (I \otimes A + M\Lambda R' \otimes BK) + (R' \otimes K)' G (R' \otimes K)$$
(6.11)

with $G = (\Sigma \otimes \mathbf{11}') \odot ((M \otimes B)' P(M \otimes B)), \Sigma = [\sigma_{ij}]_{\mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F}}, \sigma_{ij} = \mathbb{E}\{(\zeta_i - \mu_i)(\zeta_j - \mu_j)\}$ for $i \neq j, \sigma_{ii} = \sigma_i^2$ and $\Lambda = \operatorname{diag}(\mu_1, \mu_2, \dots, \mu_{\mathcal{F}}).$

The condition (6.11) is not easy to verify. In the following, we provide a simplified sufficient condition, which can be solved via a feasibility problem over real numbers.

Theorem 6.5.1. Under Assumptions 6.2.1 and 6.5.1, the MAS (6.1) is mean square consensusable by the protocol (6.2) under a directed communication topology if there exists $k \in \mathbb{R}$, such that

$$k\left(M\Lambda R' + R\Lambda M'\right) + k^2 R(W \odot \Lambda M' M\Lambda) R' < -\tau_c I, \qquad (6.12)$$

where $W = \mathbf{11}' + \Lambda^{-1}\Sigma\Lambda^{-1}$ and τ_c is defined in Lemma 5.4.2. Moreover, if such k exists, there exists a solution $P_0 > 0$ to (5.20), with τ being the smallest eigenvalue of $-k(M\Lambda R' + R\Lambda M') - k^2 R(W \odot \Lambda M' M \Lambda) R'$, and a control gain that ensures the mean square consensus can be given by $K = k(B'P_0B)^{-1}B'P_0A$.

Proof. If there exists $k \in \mathbb{R}$, such that (6.12) holds, in view of the solvability of (5.20), one can show that there exists $P_0 > 0$ to the matrix inequality

$$I \otimes P_0 > I \otimes A' P_0 A + (k (M\Lambda R' + R\Lambda M') + k^2 R(W \odot \Lambda M' M\Lambda) R') \otimes A' P_0 B(B' P_0 B)^{-1} B' P_0 A.$$
(6.13)

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY
Since $W \odot \Lambda M' M \Lambda = \Lambda M' M \Lambda + \Sigma \odot M' M$, we have from (6.13) that

$$I \otimes P_0 > I \otimes A' P_0 A + H \otimes A' P_0 B (B' P_0 B)^{-1} B' P_0 A$$
(6.14)

with $H = k^2 (R\Lambda M' M\Lambda R' + R(\Sigma \odot M' M)R') + k (M\Lambda R' + R\Lambda M')$. The inequality (6.14) is (6.11) with $K = k (B'P_0B)^{-1}B'P_0A$ and $P = I \otimes P_0 > 0$. In view of Lemma 6.5.1, the proof is completed.

Remark 6.5.1. Since $W \ge 0$ and $\Lambda M'M\Lambda \ge 0$, in view of Theorem 5.2.1 in [128], we have $W \odot \Lambda M'M\Lambda \ge 0$, thus $R(W \odot \Lambda M'M\Lambda)R' \ge 0$. Let V be the Cholesky decomposition of $R(W \odot \Lambda M'M\Lambda)R'$, i.e., $R(W \odot \Lambda M'M\Lambda)R' = VV'$, then the sufficient condition in Theorem 6.5.1 can be numerically verified by the following LMI feasibility problem

$$\exists k \quad s.t. \quad \begin{bmatrix} -I & kV' \\ kV k(M\Lambda R' + R\Lambda M') + \tau_c I \end{bmatrix} < 0.$$

Remark 6.5.2. If the fading networks are identical, i.e., $\zeta_i(t) = \zeta_0(t)$, $\forall i = 1, 2, \ldots, \mathcal{F}$, $\mathbb{E}{\zeta_0(t)} = \mu$ and $\mathbb{E}{(\zeta_0(t) - \mu)^2} = \sigma^2$, and \mathcal{G} is an undirected tree, i.e., R = I and $M = M' = \mathcal{L}_e = \mathcal{L}'_e$, then (6.12) is equivalent to $\min_{k} \max_{i \in \{2, \ldots, N\}} k^2(\mu^2 + \sigma^2)\lambda_i^2 + 2k\mu\lambda_i < -\tau_c$ with $\lambda_2, \ldots, \lambda_N$ being the non-zero real eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} arranged in an ascending order, which can result in the sufficient mean square consensus condition given by $\frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \sigma^2} \left[1 - \left(\frac{\lambda_N - \lambda_2}{\lambda_N + \lambda_2} \right)^2 \right] > \tau_c$. This is consistent with Theorem 5.3.1, where it is also shown to be necessary for mean square consensus when the agents are with scalar dynamics.

In the following, we try to derive closed-form consensus conditions for some specific fading networks.

6.5.1 $\Lambda = \mu I$

Since $\tau_c I + k^2 R(W \odot \Lambda M' M \Lambda) R' > 0$, when $\Lambda = \mu I$, a necessary condition to ensure the feasibility of (6.12) is that there exists k, such that k(MR' + RM') < 0. Since

 $\operatorname{tr}(MR' + RM') = 2\operatorname{tr}(MR') = 2\sum_i \lambda_i(MR') \stackrel{(a)}{=} 2\sum_i \lambda_i(\mathcal{L}_e) \stackrel{(b)}{=} 2\sum_i \lambda_i(\mathcal{L}) > 0$, where (a) follows from Proposition 6.4.5 and (b) follows from Proposition 6.4.3, we know that at least one eigenvalue of MR' + RM' should be positive. Thus if k(MR' + RM') is required to be negative definite, k should be selected to be negative and MR' + RM' should be positive definite. Thus we make the assumption that MR' + RM' > 0 during the following analysis, which is an implicitly required graph property for (6.12) to hold.

Corollary 6.5.1. Under Assumptions 6.2.1 and 6.5.1, if $\Lambda = \mu I$ and MR' + RM' > 0, the MAS (6.1) is mean square consensusable by the protocol (6.2) under a directed communication topology, if the following condition is satisfied

$$\tau_3 := \frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \max_i \sigma_i^2} \times \frac{\lambda_{\min}^2(\frac{MR' + RM'}{2})}{\rho(RR')\rho(M'M)} > \tau_c, \tag{6.15}$$

where τ_c is defined in Lemma 5.4.2. Moreover, if (6.15) holds, there exists a solution $P_0 > 0$ to (5.20) with $\tau = \tau_2$, and a control gain that ensures mean square consensus can be given by $K = k_2 (B'P_0B)^{-1} B'P_0A$ with

$$k_2 = -\frac{\mu \lambda_{\min}(\frac{MR' + RM'}{2})}{[\mu^2 + \max_i \sigma_i^2]\rho(RR')\rho(M'M)}.$$

Proof. Since $W \ge 0$, $M'M \ge 0$ and $W \odot M'M \ge 0$, in view of Theorem 5.3.4 in [128], we know that $0 \le \lambda(W \odot M'M) \le \max_i [W]_{ii} \times \rho(M'M) = \max_i (1 + \frac{\sigma_i^2}{\mu^2})\rho(M'M)$ with $\lambda(W \odot M'M)$ being any eigenvalue of $W \odot M'M$. Thus we have that $R(W \odot M'M)R' \le \rho(W \odot M'M)RR' \le \max_i (1 + \frac{\sigma_i^2}{\mu^2})\rho(M'M)RR'$. Further from Weyl's inequality [124], we have that $\rho(R(W \odot M'M)R') \le \max_i (1 + \frac{\sigma_i^2}{\mu^2})\rho(M'M)\rho(RR')$. Since RR' = I + SS' > 0, we have $\rho(RR') > 0$. Besides, when \mathcal{G} contains a directed spanning tree, in view of Lemma 5.2.1 and Proposition 6.4.2, $E_{\tau}E'_{\tau} = \mathcal{L}_{\tau} > 0$ with \mathcal{L}_{τ} being the graph Laplacian for the underlying graph of a directed spanning tree in \mathcal{G} . Since $M'M = \bar{E}'E_{\tau}E'_{\tau}\bar{E}$, we know that M'M > 0 and thus $\rho(M'M) > 0$.

NANYANG TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

SINGAPORE

Since MR' + RM' > 0, if there exists k such that

$$k^{2}[\mu^{2} + \max_{i} \sigma_{i}^{2}]\rho(RR')\rho(M'M) + 2k\mu\lambda_{\min}(\frac{MR' + RM'}{2}) < -\tau_{c}, \qquad (6.16)$$

the sufficient condition (6.12) can be satisfied. Since the minimum of the left hand side of (6.16) is achieved at $k = k_2$, with the minimal value $-\tau_3$, we can then obtain the sufficient consensus condition (6.15). The proof is completed.

The sufficient condition (6.15) implies that the mean square consensusability is determined by the channel fading, the network topology and the agent dynamics. Besides, the mean square consensusability is affected by the channel with the largest fading variance. Moreover, the effect of the network topology on the mean square consensusability is reflected on the term α with

$$\alpha := \frac{\lambda_{\min}^2(\frac{MR' + RM'}{2})}{\rho(RR')\rho(M'M)}$$

In view of (6.15), a large α is always preferred to compensate the fading variance and tolerate unstable agent dynamics. In the following, we will use α as a measure to study how certain network topology affects the mean square consensusability. First of all, we have the following proposition about the range of α .

Proposition 6.5.2. If \mathcal{G} contains a directed spanning tree and MR' + RM' > 0, then $0 < \alpha \leq 1$.

Proof. It is trivial to have $\alpha > 0$. In the sequel, we will show that $\lambda_{\min}^2(\frac{MR'+RM'}{2}) \leq \rho(RR')\rho(M'M)$. Since when MR'+RM' > 0, we have $\lambda_{\min}^2(\frac{MR'+RM'}{2}) \leq \operatorname{Re}^2(\lambda(MR'))$ with $\lambda(MR')$ being any eigenvalue of MR' from Bendixson's theorem [124]. In view of the Browne's theorem [124], we have that $|\lambda(MR')|^2 \leq \rho(RM'MR')$, thus $\lambda_{\min}^2(\frac{MR'+RM'}{2}) \leq \rho(RM'MR') \leq \rho(RR')\rho(M'M)$. The proof is completed. \Box

We give some examples of different communication graphs as follows.



Figure 6.2: (i) A star graph (ii) A directed graph with a cycle in its underlying graph (iii) A directed path graph

6.5.1.1 Star Graphs

If the graph is a star as shown in Figure 6.2(i), we have that R = I and $M = \mathcal{L}_e = I_{N-1}$. Evidently, $\frac{MR'+RM'}{2} = I > 0$ and $\lambda_{\min}^2(\frac{MR'+RM'}{2}) = \rho(M'M) = \rho(RR') = 1$. Thus $\alpha = 1$, which means that scaling on the number of agents in the MAS does not affect the mean square consensus for star graphs. Moreover, from Proposition 6.5.2, if we use α as an indicator to select the network topology, star graph is the most favorable in the sense that it has the largest possible value of α .

By adding an edge to the star graph, we obtain the graph in Figure 6.2(ii), which contains a cycle in its underlying graph. Then we have $M = [I_{(N-1)\times(N-1)}, Q]$, $R = [I_{(N-1)\times(N-1)}, S]$ with Q = [0, 1, 0, ..., 0]' and S = [-1, 1, 0, ..., 0]'. We can show that MR' + RM' > 0, $\lambda_{\min}(MR' + RM') = 3 - \sqrt{2}$, $\rho(M'M) = 2$ and $\rho(RR') = 3$. Thus $\alpha = \frac{(3-\sqrt{2})^2}{24}$. Since $\frac{(3-\sqrt{2})^2}{24} < 1$, more edges are not always beneficial to the mean square consensus. This can be interpreted from (6.10). Even though mean square consensus is determined by edge states on a directed spanning tree, the fading noise on cycle edges still affects mean square consensus as seen from (6.10). Thus the insertion of an edge also introduces the associated fading noise into the tree edge state dynamics, which may pose negative effects on the mean square consensus.

6.5.1.2 Directed Path Graphs

If the directed graph is a path as denoted in Figure 6.2(iii), then R = I and

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -1 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Since MR' + RM' is a tri-diagonal matrix, in view of [133], we know that the eigenvalues of MR' + RM' are $2 - 2\cos\frac{l\pi}{N}$, l = 1, 2, ..., N - 1. Thus MR' + RM' > 0 and $\lambda_{\min}(MR' + RM') = 2 - 2\cos\frac{\pi}{N}$. Since RM'MR' = MR' + RM' + D with

$$D = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 \dots & -1 \end{bmatrix},$$

the eigenvalue perturbation theorem [115] implies that $\lambda_1(D) \leq \rho(RM'MR') - \rho(MR'+RM') \leq \lambda_{N-1}(D)$ with $\lambda_i(D)$ being the *i*-th smallest eigenvalues of *D*. Since $\lambda_1(D) = -1$ and $\lambda_2(D) = \ldots = \lambda_{N-1}(D) = 0$, and $\rho(MR'+RM') = 2-2\cos\frac{(N-1)\pi}{N}$, we have that $1-2\cos\frac{(N-1)\pi}{N} \leq \rho(RM'MR') = \rho(RR')\rho(M'M) \leq 2-2\cos\frac{(N-1)\pi}{N}$. When *N* is sufficiently large, the ratio α is lower and upper bounded respectively by

$$\frac{(1 - \cos\frac{\pi}{N})^2}{2 - 2\cos\frac{(N-1)\pi}{N}} \le \alpha \le \frac{(1 - \cos\frac{\pi}{N})^2}{1 - 2\cos\frac{(N-1)\pi}{N}}.$$

With the increasing number of agents, α will eventually converge to zero. Thus consensus is hard to achieve. This is consistent with our intuition: for consensus over a path graph, more agents means that the consensus is harder to achieve. This is different from the star graph, where scaling does not affect the consensus condition.

6.5.2 $\Lambda \neq \mu I$

When $\Lambda \neq \mu I$, we have the following sufficient consensus condition. The proof is similar to that of Corollary 6.5.1 and is omitted here.

Corollary 6.5.2. Under Assumptions 6.2.1 and 6.5.1, if $M\Lambda R' + R\Lambda M' > 0$, the MAS (6.1) is mean square consensusable by the protocol (6.2) under a directed communication topology, if the following condition is satisfied

$$\tau_4 := \frac{\lambda_{\min}^2(\frac{M\Lambda R' + R\Lambda M'}{2})}{\max_i (1 + \frac{\sigma_i^2}{\mu_i^2})\rho(RR')\rho(\Lambda M' M\Lambda)} > \tau_c, \tag{6.17}$$

where τ_c is defined in Lemma 5.4.2. Moreover, if (6.17) holds, there exists a solution $P_0 > 0$ to (5.20) with $\tau = \tau_4$, and a control gain that ensures mean square consensus can be given by

$$K = -\frac{\lambda_{\min}(\frac{M\Lambda R' + R\Lambda M'}{2})}{\max_i(1 + \frac{\sigma_i^2}{\mu_i^2})\rho(RR')\rho(\Lambda M'M\Lambda)} (B'P_0B)^{-1}B'P_0A.$$

Remark 6.5.3. When $\Lambda = \mu I$, (6.17) recovers (6.15). Next, consider the case that $\Lambda = \mu I$ and the graph is an undirected tree, then R = I and $M = M' = \mathcal{L}_e = \mathcal{L}'_e$. Thus, we have $\lambda_{\min}(\frac{MR'+RM'}{2}) = \lambda_2$ and $\rho(RR')\rho(M'M) = \lambda_N^2$, with λ_2 and λ_N being the smallest and the largest non-zero eigenvalues of the graph Laplacian for the undirected graph. Then a sufficient condition to ensure mean square consensus for non-identical fading networks with undirected tree graph from (6.15) is $\frac{\mu^2}{\mu^2 + \max_i \sigma_i^2} \frac{\lambda_2^2}{\lambda_N^2} > \tau_c$. Since $\max_i \sigma_i^2 = \max_i \sigma_{ii} \leq \rho(\Sigma)$, Corollary 6.5.1 recovers Corollary 5.4.1. Similarly, we can also show that Corollary 6.5.2 recovers Corollary 5.4.2 for the case of $\Lambda \neq \mu I$.

6.6 Simulations

In this section, simulations are conducted to validate the derived results. We consider two different scenarios, i.e., identical fading networks and non-identical fading



Figure 6.3: Communication graphs used in simulations: (i) a directed graph (ii) applying an orientation to the bidirectional edge in (i)

networks with non-equal fading means. In simulations, the agents are assumed to have the system parameters as in Chapter 5. The initial state of each agent is uniformly and randomly generated from the interval (0, 0.5). We assume that there are four agents and the directed communication topology among agents is given in Figure 6.3(i). The channel fadings are assumed to follow Rayleigh distribution with probability density function $f(x; \sigma_p) = \frac{x}{\sigma_p^2} e^{-x^2/(2\sigma_p^2)}, x \ge 0$. The additive noises are set to have standard normal distributions. The simulation results are presented by averaging over 1000 runs.

Firstly, suppose that all the channel fadings are identical and follow Rayleigh distributions with $\sigma_p = 5$. Then the sufficient consensus condition in Theorem 6.3.1 is satisfied and one admissible control gain is K = [6.7757, -8.1021, 1.2307]. Mean square consensus errors for agent 1 are plotted in Figure 6.4. It is clear that mean square consensus of the MAS is achieved. Now suppose the fading parameters for the four edges in Figure 6.3(i) are $\sigma_{p12} = 5$, $\sigma_{p13} = 4.9$, $\sigma_{p14} = 4.8$, $\sigma_{p23} = 4.7$. Then the fading on different edges have different mean value. With such fading parameters, the sufficient condition in Corollary 6.5.2 is satisfied and an admissible control gain is given by K = [0.3750, -0.4686, 0.0868]. Mean square consensus errors for agent 1 are plotted in Figure 6.5, which also shows that the mean square consensus is achieved. Since the consensus parameter K is designed for mean square stabilization and not for performance, there are overshots in both simulations.



Figure 6.4: Mean square consensus error for agent 1 under a directed topology with identical fading networks



Figure 6.5: Mean square consensus error for agent 1 under a directed topology with non-identical fading networks and non-equal mean value

SINGAPORE

6.7 Summary

This chapter studies the mean square consensus problem of discrete-time linear MASs over analog fading networks with directed graphs. Sufficient conditions are firstly provided for mean square consensus over identical fading networks with directed graphs. It is shown that the sufficient condition is necessary when agents are with scalar dynamics. For consensus over non-identical fading networks with directed graphs, CIIM, CIM and CEL are proposed to facilitate the modeling and consensus analysis. It is shown that the mean square consensusability is solely determined by the edge state dynamics on a directed spanning tree. As a result, sufficient conditions are provided for mean square consensus over non-identical fading networks with directed graphs in terms of fading parameters, the network topology and the agent dynamics. Moreover, the role of network topology on the mean square consensusability is discussed. In the end, simulations are conducted to verify the derived results.

Chapter 7

Conclusions and Future Work

7.1 Conclusions

Due to the flexible architecture and ease of installation and maintenance, wireless communication networks are widely used in control systems. This thesis is specifically interested in the fading phenomenon in wireless communications. We aim to study how the channel fading affects the stability of networked control systems. There already exist some results about this issue. However, the answers are far from complete. The present work is concerned with the problem of stabilizability over fading channels and also with the problem of consensusability of multi-agent systems over fading networks. The following conclusions can be made.

- First of all, there exist fundamental limitations on the mean square stabilizability of linear systems over power constrained fading channels and Gaussian finite-state Markov channels.
- Secondly, the stabilizability condition for control over power constrained fading channels is determined by the fading statistics and the SNR ratio of the communication channel. For control over Gaussian finite-state Markov channels, the stabilizability is determined by the Markov transition probability and the finite-level channel fading.

- The revised Schalkwijk coding scheme is optimal for control over fading channels when the system is with scalar dynamics. For two-dimensional systems, the chasing and optimal stopping algorithm is optimal for the channel resource allocation. The TDMA and adaptive TDMA schemes are only sufficient but not optimal for channel resource allocations of high-dimensional systems controlled over time-varying channels.
- For distributed consensus over fading networks problems, the consensusability is closely related to the statistics of the fading network, the eigenratio of the graph, and the instability degree of the dynamical system.
- The mean square consensusability is determined by edge state dynamics on a directed spanning tree and the minimal mean square channel capacity among all fading channels.

7.2 Future Work

There are many issues that deserve future research including

• In Chapter 3 and Chapter 4, the capacity was derived under the assumption that there exists a perfect feedback link from the channel output to the channel input. What would the capacity be when there is no such feedback link or there is only a noisy feedback link? Besides, we assume the knowledge of perfect channel state information at the receiver side in the problem formulation. What are the stabilizability conditions if the channel fading cannot be estimated accurately? Moreover, for vector systems, there is a gap between the sufficient condition and the necessary condition. Since we have only provided sufficient conditions with coding strategies adopting the idea of TDMA, can we achieve better results by other strategies, such as frequency division multiple access (FDMA) or code division multiple access (CDMA)?

7.2. FUTURE WORK

- In Chapter 5 and Chapter 6, most of the derived results are only sufficient conditions. What are the necessary conditions for distributed consensus over fading networks? Besides, in modeling the fading channel, we did not consider the channel input power constraint. What are the consensus conditions when the channel has input power constraint? These questions need to be answered for better understanding the interaction of control and communication.
- Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 present the results for point-to-point communication channels. Chapter 5 and Chapter 6 provide the results for distributed consensus over fading networks. While for networked control over other communication models, such as MAC and BC, there exist very few results. The networked control over MAC and BC is also one of the future research directions.
- In this thesis, we are mainly concerned with the stability problem of networked control over fading channels. In practice, the wireless communication channel may also suffer from transmission delay. Since control systems are sensitive to time-delay, how the channel fading, SNR constraint and time-delay jointly affect the stability of networked control systems also deserves more work.
- So far, we have only studied the stability issue of networked control systems. The problem about how the performance of a networked control system is affected by communication channels is worthy of study. This problem is closely related to the sequential rate-distortion problem in [134]. However, the work [134] models the effect of the communication channel by a directed information constraint. It is still unknown how specific communication channels affect the sequential rate-distortion problem.

Author's Publications

Journal papers:

- L. Xu, L. Xie, and N. Xiao, "Mean Square Stabilization over Gaussian Finite-State Markov Channels," Accepted by IEEE Transactions on Control of Network Systems, 2017.
- L. Xu, J. Zheng, N. Xiao, and L. Xie, "Mean Square Consensus of Multi-Agent Systems over Fading Networks with Directed Graphs," Provisionally accepted by Automatica, 2017.
- 3. L. Xu, Y. Mo, L. Xie, and N. Xiao, "Mean Square Stabilization of Linear Discrete-time Systems over Power Constrained Fading Channels," Accepted by IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, 2017.
- L. Xu, N. Xiao, and L. Xie, "Consensusability of Discrete-time Linear Multiagent Systems over Analog Fading Networks," Automatica, vol. 71, pp. 292-299, 2016.

Conference papers:

 L. Xu, Y. Mo, and L. Xie, "Mean Square Stabilization of Vector LTI Systems over Power Constrained Lossy Channels," in Proceedings of the 2016 American Control Conference (ACC), Boston, MA, USA, 2016, pp. 7129-7134.

- L. Xu, L. Xie, and N. Xiao, "Mean Square Capacity of Power Constrained Fading Channels with Causal Encoders and Decoders," in Proceedings of the 54th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, Osaka, Japan, 2015, pp. 2465-2470.
- L. Xu, N. Xiao, and L. Xie, "Consensusability of Linear Multi-agent Systems over Analog Fading Networks via Dynamic Output Feedback," in Proceedings of the 33rd Chinese Control Conference, Nanjing, China, 2014, pp. 1650 -1655.

Bibliography

- P. Arcara and C. Melchiorri, "Control schemes for teleoperation with time delay: A comparative study," *Robotics and Autonomous Systems*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 49–64, 2002.
- [2] S. Wang, X. Meng, and T. Chen, "Wide-area control of power systems through delayed network communication," *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 495–503, 2012.
- [3] P. Seiler and R. Sengupta, "An H-∞ approach to networked control," IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 356–364, 2005.
- [4] T. M. Cover and J. A. Thomas, *Elements of information theory*. Hoboken, N.J.: Wiley-Interscience, 2006.
- [5] A. El Gamal and Y.-H. Kim, Network Information Theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2011.
- [6] Y.-C. Ho, M. P. Kastner, and E. Wong, "Teams, signaling, and information theory," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 305–312, 1978.
- [7] A. Sahai and S. Mitter, "The necessity and sufficiency of anytime capacity for stabilization of a linear system over a noisy communication link - part i: Scalar systems," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 52, no. 8, pp. 3369–3395, 2006.

- [8] N. Elia, "When Bode meets Shannon: Control-oriented feedback communication schemes," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 1477–1488, 2004.
- [9] N. C. Martins and T. Weissman, "Coding for additive white noise channels with feedback corrupted by quantization or bounded noise," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 54, no. 9, pp. 4274–4282, 2008.
- [10] E. Ardestanizadeh, P. Minero, and M. Franceschetti, "LQG control approach to Gaussian broadcast channels with feedback," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 58, no. 8, pp. 5267–5278, 2012.
- [11] A. J. Goldsmith and P. P. Varaiya, "Capacity of fading channels with channel side information," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 1986–1992, 1997.
- [12] D. Tse and P. Viswanath, Fundamentals of wireless communication. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [13] A. Goldsmith, Wireless communications. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [14] A. S. Matveev and A. V. Savkin, Estimation and control over communication networks. Boston: Birkhäuser, 2009.
- [15] G. Como, B. Bernhardsson, and A. Rantzer, Information and control in networks. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2014.
- [16] K. You, N. Xiao, and L. Xie, Analysis and Design of Networked Control Systems. London: Springer London, 2015.
- [17] C. E. Shannon, "A mathematical theory of communication," ACM SIGMO-BILE Mobile Computing and Communications Review, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 3–55, 2001.

- [18] E. Biglieri, J. Proakis, and S. Shamai, "Fading channels: information-theoretic and communications aspects," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 2619–2692, 1998.
- [19] P. Sadeghi, R. A. Kennedy, P. B. Rapajic, and R. Shams, "Finite-state Markov modeling of fading channels - a survey of principles and applications," *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 57–80, 2008.
- [20] I. C. Abou-Faycal, M. D. Trott, and S. Shamai, "The capacity of discretetime memoryless Rayleigh-fading channels," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 1290–1301, 2001.
- [21] G. Caire, G. Taricco, and E. Biglieri, "Optimum power control over fading channels," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 1468– 1489, 1999.
- [22] G. N. Nair and R. J.Evans, "Stabilizability of stochastic linear systems with finite feedback data rates," *SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 413–436, 2004.
- [23] G. N. Nair, R. J. Evans, I. M. Y. Mareels, and W. Moran, "Topological feedback entropy and nonlinear stabilization," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 1585–1597, 2004.
- [24] N. C. Martins, M. A. Dahleh, and J. C. Doyle, "Fundamental limitations of disturbance attenuation in the presence of side information," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 56–66, 2007.
- [25] N. C. Martins and M. A. Dahleh, "Feedback control in the presence of noisy channels: Bode-like fundamental limitations of performance," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 53, no. 7, pp. 1604–1615, 2008.
- [26] G. N. Nair, "A nonstochastic information theory for communication and state estimation," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 58, no. 6, pp. 1497–1510, 2013.

- [27] G. Ranade and A. Sahai, "Implicit communication in multiple-access settings," in *Proceedings of the 2011 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory*, St. Petersburg, Russia, 2011, Conference Proceedings, pp. 998–1002.
- [28] —, "Non-coherence in estimation and control," in Proceedings of the 51st Annual Allerton Conference on Communication, Control, and Computing, Monticello, IL, USA, 2013, Conference Proceedings, pp. 189–196.
- [29] —, "Control capacity," in Proceedings of the 2015 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory, Hong Kong, China, 2015, Conference Proceedings, pp. 2221–2225.
- [30] G. Ranade, "Active systems with uncertain parameters: an informationtheoretic perspective," Thesis, EECS Department, University of California, Berkeley, 2015.
- [31] G. Ramnarayan, G. Ranade, and A. Sahai, "Side-information in control and estimation," in *Proceedings of the 2014 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory*, Honolulu, HI, USA, 2014, Conference Proceedings, pp. 171–175.
- [32] H. Touchette and S. Lloyd, "Information-theoretic limits of control," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 84, no. 6, pp. 1156–1159, 2000.
- [33] G. Zang and P. A. Iglesias, "Nonlinear extension of Bode's integral based on an information-theoretic interpretation," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 11–19, 2003.
- [34] A. Silva, "Invariance entropy for random control systems," Mathematics of Control, Signals, and Systems, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 491–516, 2013.
- [35] P. Minero, M. Franceschetti, S. Dey, and G. N. Nair, "Data rate theorem for stabilization over time-varying feedback channels," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 243–255, 2009.

- [36] K. You and L. Xie, "Minimum data rate for mean square stabilization of discrete LTI systems over lossy channels," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 55, no. 10, pp. 2373–2378, 2010.
- [37] —, "Minimum data rate for mean square stabilizability of linear systems with Markovian packet losses," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 56, no. 4, pp. 772–85, 2011.
- [38] L. Xie and L. Xie, "Stability analysis of networked sampled-data linear systems with Markovian packet losses," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 1375–1381, 2009.
- [39] K. Okano and H. Ishii, "Stabilization of uncertain systems with finite data rates and Markovian packet losses," *IEEE Transactions on Control of Network Systems*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 298–307, 2014.
- [40] P. Minero, L. Coviello, and M. Franceschetti, "Stabilization over Markov feedback channels: The general case," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 349–362, 2013.
- [41] B. Sinopoli, L. Schenato, M. Franceschetti, K. Poolla, M. I. Jordan, and S. S. Sastry, "Kalman filtering with intermittent observations," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 1453–1464, 2004.
- [42] L. Shi, M. Epstein, and R. M. Murray, "Kalman filtering over a packetdropping network: A probabilistic perspective," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 594–604, 2010.
- [43] S. Kar, B. Sinopoli, and J. M. F. Moura, "Kalman filtering with intermittent observations: Weak convergence to a stationary distribution," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 405–420, 2012.
- [44] Y. Mo and B. Sinopoli, "Kalman filtering with intermittent observations: Tail distribution and critical value," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 677–689, 2012.

- [45] L. Schenato, B. Sinopoli, M. Franceschetti, K. Poolla, and S. S. Sastry, "Foundations of control and estimation over lossy networks," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 163–187, 2007.
- [46] V. Gupta, B. Hassibi, and R. M. Murray, "Optimal LQG control across packetdropping links," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 439–446, 2007.
- [47] V. Gupta, N. C. Martins, and J. S. Baras, "Optimal output feedback control using two remote sensors over erasure channels," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 54, no. 7, pp. 1463–1476, 2009.
- [48] N. Elia, "Remote stabilization over fading channels," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 54, no. 3, pp. 237–249, 2005.
- [49] N. Xiao, L. Xie, and L. Qiu, "Feedback stabilization of discrete-time networked systems over fading channels," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 57, no. 9, pp. 2176–2189, 2012.
- [50] L. Qiu, G. Gu, and W. Chen, "Stabilization of networked multi-input systems with channel resource allocation," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 554–568, 2013.
- [51] W. Chen, S. Wang, and L. Qiu, "When MIMO control meets MIMO communication: A majorization condition for networked stabilizability," ArXiv e-prints, vol. 1408, p. 3500, 2014.
- [52] G. Gu, S. Wan, and L. Qiu, "Networked stabilization for multi-input systems over quantized fading channels," *Automatica*, vol. 61, pp. 1–8, 2015.
- [53] T. Qi, J. Chen, W. Su, and M. Fu, "Control under stochastic multiplicative uncertainties: Part i, fundamental conditions of stabilizability," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 1269–1284, 2017.
- [54] W. Su, J. Chen, M. Fu, and T. Qi, "Control under stochastic multiplicative uncertainties: Part ii, optimal design for performance," *IEEE Transactions* on Automatic Control, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 1285–1300, 2017.

- [55] C. Tan, L. Li, and H. Zhang, "Stabilization of networked control systems with both network-induced delay and packet dropout," *Automatica*, vol. 59, no. 0, pp. 194–199, 2015.
- [56] A. Chiuso, N. Laurenti, L. Schenato, and A. Zanella, "LQG-like control of scalar systems over communication channels: The role of data losses, delays and SNR limitations," *Automatica*, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 3155–3163, 2014.
- [57] W. Chen, J. Zheng, and L. Qiu, "LQG control of LTI systems with random input and output gains," in *Proceedings of the 51st IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, Maui, Hawaii, USA, 2012, Conference Proceedings, pp. 3298–3304.
- [58] J. Zheng, W. Chen, L. Shi, and L. Qiu, "Linear quadratic optimal control for discrete-time LTI systems with random input gains," in *Proceedings of the* 31st Chinese Control Conference, Hefei, China, 2012, Conference Proceedings, pp. 5803–5808.
- [59] H. Zhang, L. Li, and J. Xu, "Stochastic control for discrete-time systems with input delay," in *Proceedings of the 2014 American Control Conference*, Portland, Oregon, USA, 2014, Conference Proceedings, pp. 5540–5545.
- [60] S. Dey, A. Chiuso, and L. Schenato, "Feedback control over lossy SNR-limited channels: Linear encoder-decoder-controller design," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 62, no. 6, pp. 3054–3061, 2017.
- [61] J. H. Braslavsky, R. H. Middleton, and J. S. Freudenberg, "Feedback stabilization over signal-to-noise ratio constrained channels," *IEEE Transactions* on Automatic Control, vol. 52, no. 8, pp. 1391–1403, 2007.
- [62] J. S. Freudenberg, R. H. Middleton, and V. Solo, "Stabilization and disturbance attenuation over a Gaussian communication channel," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 795–799, 2010.

- [63] N. Xiao and L. Xie, "Analysis and design of discrete-time networked systems over fading channels," in *Proceedings of the 30th Chinese Control Conference*, Yantai, China, 2011, Conference Proceedings, pp. 6562 – 6567.
- [64] A. A. Zaidi, T. J. Oechtering, S. Yuksel, and M. Skoglund, "Stabilization of linear systems over Gaussian networks," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 59, no. 9, pp. 2369–2384, 2014.
- [65] J. Schalkwijk and T. Kailath, "A coding scheme for additive noise channels with feedback-i: No bandwidth constraint," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 172–182, 1966.
- [66] H. S. Witsenhausen, "A counterexample in stochastic optimum control," SIAM Journal on Control, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 131–147, 1968.
- [67] S. Tatikonda, A. Sahai, and S. Mitter, "Stochastic linear control over a communication channel," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 1549–1561, 2004.
- [68] S. Y. Park, "Information flow in linear systems," Thesis, University of California, Berkeley, 2013.
- [69] G. Dueck, "Partial feedback for two-way and broadcast channels," Information and Control, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 1–15, 1980.
- [70] L. H. Ozarow, "The capacity of the white Gaussian multiple access channel with feedback," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 623–629, 1984.
- [71] L. H. Ozarow and S. Leung-Yan-Cheong, "An achievable region and outer bound for the Gaussian broadcast channel with feedback," *IEEE Transactions* on Information Theory, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 667–671, 1984.
- [72] G. Kramer, "Feedback strategies for white Gaussian interference networks," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 1423–1438, 2002.

- [73] A. A. Zaidi, T. J. Oechtering, and M. Skoglund, "Sufficient conditions for closed-loop control over multiple-access and broadcast channels," in *Proceedings of the 49th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, Atlanta, GA, USA, 2010, Conference Proceedings, pp. 4771–4776.
- [74] J. Liu and V. Gupta, "On stabilizability of LTI systems across a Gaussian MAC channel," in *Proceedings of the 2013 American Control Conference*, Washington, DC, USA, 2013, Conference Proceedings, pp. 1556–1561.
- [75] S. Tatikonda, "Some scaling properties of large distributed control systems," in *Proceedings of the 42nd IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, Maui, Hawaii USA, 2003, Conference Proceedings, pp. 3142–3147.
- [76] G. N. Nair, R. J. Evans, and P. E. Caines, "Stabilising decentralised linear systems under data rate constraints," in *Proceedings of the 43rd IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, Atlantis, Paradise Island, Bahamas, 2004, Conference Proceedings, pp. 3992–3997.
- [77] S. Yuksel and T. Basar, "On the absence of rate loss in decentralized sensor and controller structure for asymptotic stability," in *Proceedings of the 2006 American Control Conference*, Minneapolis, MN, USA, 2006, Conference Proceedings, pp. 5562–5567.
- [78] —, "Optimal signaling policies for decentralized multicontroller stabilizability over communication channels," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 52, no. 10, pp. 1969–1974, 2007.
- [79] R. Olfati-Saber, J. A. Fax, and R. M. Murray, "Consensus and cooperation in networked multi-agent systems," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 215–233, 2007.
- [80] W. Ren and R. W. Beard, Distributed Consensus in Multi-vehicle Cooperative Control: Theory and Applications. London: Springer-Verlag London Limited, 2008.

- [81] Y. Cao, W. Yu, W. Ren, and G. Chen, "An overview of recent progress in the study of distributed multi-agent coordination," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 427–438, 2013.
- [82] C. Ma and J. Zhang, "Necessary and sufficient conditions for consensusability of linear multi-agent systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 1263–1268, 2010.
- [83] K. You and L. Xie, "Network topology and communication data rate for consensusability of discrete-time multi-agent systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 56, no. 10, pp. 2262–75, 2011.
- [84] Z. Li, Z. Duan, G. Chen, and L. Huang, "Consensus of multiagent systems and synchronization of complex networks: A unified viewpoint," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I-Regular Papers*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 213–224, 2010.
- [85] H. L. Trentelman, K. Takaba, and N. Monshizadeh, "Robust synchronization of uncertain linear multi-agent systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 58, no. 6, pp. 1511–1523, 2013.
- [86] G. Gu, L. Marinovici, and F. L. Lewis, "Consensusability of discrete-time dynamic multiagent systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 57, no. 8, pp. 2085–2089, 2012.
- [87] T. Li, M. Fu, L. Xie, and J. Zhang, "Distributed consensus with limited communication data rate," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 56, no. 2, pp. 279–92, 2011.
- [88] S. Liu, T. Li, and L. Xie, "Distributed consensus for multiagent systems with communication delays and limited data rate," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 2239–2262, 2011.

- [89] T. Li and L. Xie, "Distributed consensus over digital networks with limited bandwidth and time-varying topologies," *Automatica*, vol. 47, no. 9, pp. 2006– 15, 2011.
- [90] —, "Distributed coordination of multi-agent systems with quantizedobserver based encoding-decoding," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 3023–3037, 2012.
- [91] Z. Qiu, L. Xie, and Y. Hong, "Quantized leaderless and leader-following consensus of high-order multi-agent systems with limited data rate," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 61, no. 9, pp. 2432–2447, 2016.
- [92] —, "Data rate for distributed consensus of multi-agent systems with highorder oscillator dynamics," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. PP, no. 99, pp. 1–1, 2017.
- [93] T. Qi, L. Qiu, and J. Chen, "Multi-agent consensus under delayed feedback: Fundamental constraint on graph and fundamental bound on delay," in *Proceedings of the 2013 American Control Conference*, Washington, DC, USA, 2013, Conference Proceedings, pp. 952–957.
- [94] —, "MAS consensus and delay limits under delayed output feedback," IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. PP, no. 99, pp. 1–1, 2016.
- [95] —, "Topological constraints on consensus via delayed output feedback over directed graph," in *Proceedings of the 33rd Chinese Control Conference*, Nanjing, China, 2014, Conference Proceedings, pp. 1360–1365.
- [96] Z. Li and J. Chen, "Robust consensus of linear feedback protocols over uncertain network graphs," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 62, no. 8, pp. 4251–4258, 2017.
- [97] N. Xiao, L. Xie, Y. Niu, and Y. Hong, "Distributed estimation over analog fading channels using constant-gain estimators," in *Proceedings of the 19th IFAC*

World Congress, Cape Town, South Africa, 2014, Conference Proceedings, pp. 2872–2877.

- [98] X. Zong, T. Li, G. Yin, L. Wang, and J. Zhang, "Stochastic consentability of linear systems with time delays and multiplicative noises," *IEEE Transactions* on Automatic Control, vol. PP, no. 99, pp. 1–1, 2017.
- [99] S. Dey, A. S. Leong, and J. S. Evans, "Kalman filtering with faded measurements," *Automatica*, vol. 45, no. 10, pp. 2223–2233, 2009.
- [100] E. I. Silva, G. C. Goodwin, and D. E. Quevedo, "Control system design subject to SNR constraints," *Automatica*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 428–436, 2010.
- [101] W. Su, T. Qi, J. Chen, and M. Fu, "Optimal tracking design of an MIMO linear system with quantization effects," in *Proceedings of the 18th IFAC World Congres*, vol. 18, 2011, Conference Proceedings, pp. 3268–3273.
- [102] S. Tatikonda and S. Mitter, "Control over noisy channels," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 49, no. 7, pp. 1196–1201, 2004.
- [103] C. D. Charalambous and A. Farhadi, "LQG optimality and separation principle for general discrete time partially observed stochastic systems over finite capacity communication channels," *Automatica*, vol. 44, no. 12, pp. 3181–3188, 2008.
- [104] E. I. Silva and S. A. Pulgar, "Performance limitations for single-input LTI plants controlled over SNR constrained channels with feedback," *Automatica*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 540–547, 2013.
- [105] U. Kumar, J. Liu, V. Gupta, and J. N. Laneman, "Stabilizability across a Gaussian product channel: Necessary and sufficient conditions," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 59, no. 9, pp. 2530–2535, 2014.
- [106] A. A. Zaidi, S. Yüksel, T. J. Oechtering, and M. Skoglund, "On the tightness of linear policies for stabilization of linear systems over Gaussian networks," *Systems & Control Letters*, vol. 88, pp. 32–38, 2016.

152

- [107] S. Lupashin, M. Hehn, M. W. Mueller, A. P. Schoellig, M. Sherback, and R. DAndrea, "A platform for aerial robotics research and demonstration: The flying machine arena," *Mechatronics*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 41–54, 2014.
- [108] S. Yuksel and T. Basar, Stochastic networked control systems: stabilization and optimization under information constraints. New York, NY : Springer New York : Imprint: Birkhauser, 2013., 2013.
- [109] R. B. Ash and C. A. Doléans-Dade, Probability and measure theory. San Diego: Harcourt/Academic Press, 2000.
- [110] L. Xu, Y. Mo, and L. Xie, "Mean square stabilization of vector LTI systems over power constrained lossy channels," in *Proceedings of the 2016 American Control Conference*, Boston, MA, USA, 2016, Conference Proceedings, pp. 7129–7134.
- [111] A. J. Goldsmith and P. P. Varaiya, "Capacity, mutual information, and coding for finite-state Markov channels," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 868–886, 1996.
- [112] H. Viswanathan, "Capacity of Markov channels with receiver CSI and delayed feedback," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 761– 771, 1999.
- [113] J. Liu, N. Elia, and S. Tatikonda, "Capacity-achieving feedback schemes for Gaussian finite-state Markov channels with channel state information," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 61, no. 7, pp. 3632–3650, 2015.
- [114] L. Coviello, P. Minero, and M. Franceschetti, "Stabilization over Markov feedback channels," in *Proceedings of the 50th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, Orlando, FL, USA, 2011, Conference Proceedings, pp. 3776–3782.
- [115] R. A. Horn and C. R. Johnson, *Matrix analysis*. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1985.

- [116] A. A. Zaidi, T. J. Oechtering, S. Yüksel, and M. Skoglund, "Stabilization and control over Gaussian networks," in *Information and Control in Networks*. Springer, 2014, pp. 39–85.
- [117] M. Huang and S. Dey, "Stability of Kalman filtering with Markovian packet losses," *Automatica*, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 598–607, 2007.
- [118] C. Godsil and G. Royle, Algebraic graph theory. New York: Springer, 2001.
- [119] M. Mesbahi and M. Egerstedt, Graph theoretic methods in multiagent networks. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2010.
- [120] Z. Li, X. Liu, W. Ren, and L. Xie, "Distributed tracking control for linear multiagent systems with a leader of bounded unknown input," *IEEE Transactions* on Automatic Control, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 518–523, 2013.
- [121] Z. Li, W. Ren, X. Liu, and M. Fu, "Consensus of multi-agent systems with general linear and lipschitz nonlinear dynamics using distributed adaptive protocols," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 58, no. 7, pp. 1786–1791, 2013.
- [122] Z. Li, W. Ren, X. Liu, and L. Xie, "Distributed consensus of linear multiagent systems with adaptive dynamic protocols," *Automatica*, vol. 49, no. 7, pp. 1986–1995, 2013.
- [123] Y. Mo and B. Sinopoli, "A characterization of the critical value for Kalman filtering with intermittent observations," in *Proceedings of the 47th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, Cancun, Mexico, 2008, Conference Proceedings, pp. 2692–2697.
- [124] D. S. Bernstein, Matrix mathematics: theory, facts, and formulas. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press, 2009.
- [125] A. Papoulis and S. U. Pillai, Probability, random variables, and stochastic processes. Boston: McGraw-Hill, 2002.

- [126] D. Zelazo, A. Rahmani, and M. Mesbahi, "Agreement via the edge Laplacian," in *Proceedings of the 46th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, New Orleans, Louisiana USA, 2007, Conference Proceedings, pp. 2309–2314.
- [127] D. V. Dimarogonas and K. H. Johansson, "Stability analysis for multi-agent systems using the incidence matrix: Quantized communication and formation control," *Automatica*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 695–700, 2010.
- [128] R. A. Horn and C. R. Johnson, *Topics in matrix analysis*. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1991.
- [129] D. Zelazo and M. Mesbahi, "Edge agreement: Graph-theoretic performance bounds and passivity analysis," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 544–555, 2011.
- [130] K. You, Z. Li, and L. Xie, "Consensus condition for linear multi-agent systems over randomly switching topologies," *Automatica*, vol. 49, no. 10, pp. 3125– 3132, 2013.
- [131] Z. Zeng, X. Wang, and Z. Zheng, "Convergence analysis using the edge Laplacian: Robust consensus of nonlinear multi-agent systems via ISS method," *International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 1051–1072, 2016.
- [132] —, "Edge agreement of multi-agent system with quantised measurements via the directed edge Laplacian," *IET Control Theory & Applications*, vol. 10, no. 13, pp. 1583–1589, 2016.
- [133] D. Kulkarni, D. Schmidt, and S.-K. Tsui, "Eigenvalues of tridiagonal pseudo-Toeplitz matrices," *Linear Algebra and its Applications*, vol. 297, no. 1, pp. 63–80, 1999.
- [134] T. Tanaka, K. K. K. Kim, P. A. Parrilo, and S. K. Mitter, "Semidefinite programming approach to Gaussian sequential rate-distortion trade-offs," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 1896–1910, 2017.